UCSF UC San Francisco Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title The lineage and diversity of postnatal neural stem cells

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/6wn7m7wn

Author Merkle, Florian

Publication Date 2007-09-07

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

The Lineage and Diversity of Postnatal Neural Stem Cells

by

Florian T. Merkle

DISSERTATION

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Program Name

in the

GRADUATE DIVISION

of the

Copyright 2007 By Florian T. Merkle

For my parents,

Hellmut and Hildegard Merkle.

Acknowledgements

I am grateful that many exceptional people have illuminated the branching path that has led to the writing of this work. First and foremost, are my parents Hellmut and Hildegard. Without your love and support this could never have been written. Thank you for nurturing my curiosity, sense of wonder, and appreciation of beauty in its many forms. These gifts define who I am and who I will be. I also am proud to have an older sister, Carolin, who has always inspired me.

I also am very grateful to Gwendolyn Casazza for her unwavering love and support through the ups and downs of my life as a graduate student. I thank her for her understanding of the many long hours I spent in lab and for bringing joy and balance to my life when I wasn't at the bench. She inspires me to be a better person and to share the fruits of my good fortune in life. I'm thrilled to be starting a new phase in our lives together in Boston.

My career in science began as a high school student when my father arranged for me to do a summer rotation with Dr. Walt Low at the University of Minnesota. Though I though I was going to a neurosurgery lab to see procedures, I found myself working at the bench, which I enjoyed so much that I came returned for two more summers. By taking a chance and bringing a 16 year old into a lab, Dr. Low showed me that my love was science, not medicine.

I was fortunate enough to get accepted at Caltech, where I learned humility, work hard and critical thinking. As an undergraduate, I met several of my closest friends, Cesar Gonzales and Tiago Wright, and Prof. Marianne Bronner-Fraser, who

iv

has been invaluable advisor to this day. Thanks to her sound advice, I chose to do my doctoral work at UCSF.

Life at UCSF was enjoyable thanks to my friends and classmates, particularly Hillel Adesnik, Mel Wohlgemuth, Mattias Karlsson, Peter Li, and Amy Deipolyi. The collaborate environment at UCSF made interactions with our neighboring labs invaluable. I am particularly grateful to Kevin Corbit, Steve Noctor, Veronica Martinez-Cerdeño, David Castañeda, Marica Grskovic, Emmanuelle Huillard, and Profs. Arnold Kriegstein, David Rowitch, Jeremy Reiter, Miguel Ramalho-Santos, Robert Blelloch, and Eric Rulifson. John Rubenstein and his postdocs Jason Long and Steve Potter were also excellent friends and mentors over at the Mission Bay campus.

I also thank my thesis committee - Arnold Kriegstein, Sam Pleasure and John Rubenstein - for keeping my ideas grounded, focused, and pointed in the right direction. Their interest in my work gave me confidence in my experiments, and their probing questions led me to new insights.

The members of the Alvarez-Buylla lab, past and present, have shaped me as a scientist. Their ideas and personalities provided the environment that encouraged many late nights and weekends gladly spent at the bench. In particular, Tony Tramontin was a friend and mentor who developed the powerful technique to label radial glial cells, without which this work would not have been possible. Zaman Mirzadeh has been an enthusiastic and creative collaborator and friend for over four years. He also provided the Ad:GFAP-Cre virus that allowed specific targeting of adult stem cells. Minoree Kohwi's work pioneered the molecular diversity of neural

v

stem cells and strongly influenced my own studies. Cynthia Yaschine kept the lab running smoothly and greatly helped my culture experiments. Ricardo Romero's help with histology was crucial. Erica Jackson, Rebecca Ihrie, Young-Goo Han, Nader Sanai, Steve Noctor, Cynthia Yaschine and Matthew G. H. Chun gave helpful comments that have improved this work and other publications.

Finally, I am deeply indebted to my advisor, critic and firm supporter: Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. If I am successful as a scientist, he should be held responsible. I joined his lab not only because I was interested in the work being done in his lab, but because of his intensity and enthusiasm for science. I was not disappointed. He is, and always will be, my role model for a successful scientist. I hope to always live up to his standards.

This work was supported by fellowships from the National Institutes of Health and NIH and from the National Science Foundation. Some of the text and adapted figures of this work appear in:

- Merkle FT, Tramontin AD, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Alvarez-Buylla A. Radial glia give rise to adult neural stem cells in the subventricular zone. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2004 Dec 14;101(50):17528-32.
- Spassky N, Merkle FT, Flames N, Tramontin AD, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Alvarez-Buylla A. Adult ependymal cells are postmitotic and are derived from radial glial cells during embryogenesis. *J Neurosci.* 2005 Jan 5;25(1):10-8.
- Merkle FT and Alvarez-Buylla A. Neural stem cells in mammalian

development. Current Opinion in Cell Biology. 2006 Dec; 18(6):704-9.

 Merkle FT and Alvarez-Buylla A. Mosaic organization of neural stem cells in the adult brain. Science. 2007 Jul 20;317(5836):381-4.

Abstract

The lineage and diversity of postnatal neural stem cells

by

Florian T. Merkle

Neural stem cells (NSCs) generate the diverse types cell types that make up adult brain. NSCs persist in the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the adult rodent brain, where they generate astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and multiple types of olfactory bulb (OB) neurons. They have astrocyte-like characteristics and act as stem cells in culture, but little is known about their origin or potential in vivo. In this work, I describe a technique to specifically and permanently label radial glial cells in the neonatal mouse brain and demonstrate that as a population, these cells act as multipotent NSCs. Labeled radial glia generate adult NSCs that are neurogenic in vivo and that individual radial glia and their adult SVZ progeny act as multipotent stem cells in vitro. Therefore, throughout development, neural stem cells have glial characteristics. Second, I show that the adult NSCs is a unique cell type that shares features of radial glia and differentiated astrocytes. Third, I show that NSCs persist in the dorsal wall of the lateral ventricle (LV), the anterior medial wall of LV, and in the rostral migratory stream (RMS). Thus, adult neurogenesis occurs in a significantly larger region than has been appreciated. Fourth, I show that NSCs labeled in different neurogenic subregions produce different types of olfactory bulb neurons. Thus, adult NSCs consist of different populations of restricted progenitors segregated into different domains. Finally, I show that the neurogenic potential of these progenitors is maintained during postnatal development and after being

viii

cultured or heterotopically grafted, suggesting that adult NSC potential is established during embryonic development and maintained by a cell-autonomous mechanism. Together, these findings suggest that embryonic NSCs transform into adult NSCs that maintain embryonic characteristics and regional identity, but are restricted in their neurogenic potential.

Table of Contents

Title	i	
Copyright	ii	
Dedication	iii	
Acknowledgements	iv	
Abstract	viii	
Table of Contents	х	
List of Tables	xiii	
List of Figures and Illustrations	xiv	
List of Symbols. Abbreviations and Nomenclature	xvi	
Chapter 1. Introduction	1	
Section 1. Embryonic brain development		
Neural specification and brain patterning	3	
Primary progenitors in embryonic development	4	
Tangential migration and the generation of OB interneurons	6	
Intermediate progenitors	8	
Temporal regulation of NSC potential	9	
Summarv	12	
Section 2. Adult neural stem cells		
A historical perspective on adult neurogenesis	13	
The SVZ neural stem cell	14	
Intermediate progenitors oligodendrocytes and brain tumor	18	
stem cells	10	
Plasticity vs. commitment	19	
Molecular regulation of neurogenesis	21	
Summary	21	
Section 3 Destratally born olfactory bulb neurons	22	
Olfaction and OB organization	24	
Diversity among OB neurons	24	
Melocular energification of OD interneurone	20	
The functional role of neetrotal neurogeneoic	20	
I ne functional role of postnatal neurogenesis		
Summary	30	
Section 4. Objectives and approach	31	
Chapter 2 Materials and Methods	46	
Section 1 Equipment and tools	10	
Production of customized head molds	47	
Production of pulled glass microninettes for viral injection and	47	
cell grafting into the peopatal and adult mouse brain	77	
Section 2 Animals and genetyping		
	40	
Overview Constraing by bota gal histochamistry	49	
Denid DCD genetyping	50	
Rapiu PCR genolyphig Standard DCD gapaturing	50	
Standard PCK genotyping	51	

Section 3. Cloning	
Generation of Ad:GFAP-Cre virus	53
Section 4. Histology and Immunohistochemistry	
Immunohistochemistry	54
DAB staining of cultures or Vibratome sections	61
Hematoxylin staining	62
Beta-gal staining	62
Alkaline phosphatase staining	63
Chromalum slides	64
Silanated slides	65
Antigen recovery and processing for BrdU staining	65
Immunostaining of whole mount preparations of the lateral wall	66
of the lateral ventricle	
Tissue preparation for electron microscopy	67
Section 5. Tissue dissection and culture	
Dissection of SVZ and other brain regions from neonatal and	69
adult mice	
Cell dissociation	70
Cortical or SVZ monolayer cultures, grown on glass coverslips	71
Freezing and thawing cells	72
Neurosphere cultures	73
Clonal generation of neurospheres	75
Neural stem cell monolayer cultures	76
Neural stem cell cultures for in vitro potential determination	77
Neural stem cells cultured for heterotopic grafting	78
Section 6. Surgical and animal procedures	
BrdU administration	79
Stereotaxic injection of neonatal pups	79
Grafting of labeled cells to determine stem cell identity	81
Heterotopic grafting of radial glia	81
Heterotopic grafting of cultured neural stem cells	82
Stereotaxic injection of adult mice	83
Section 7. Terminal procedures	
Transcardial perfusion for immunohistochemistry	84
Perfusion for standard and beta-gal electron microscopy	85
Dissection of fresh or fixed brains	86
Section 8. Data analysis	
Quantification and image processing	87
Chapter 3. The neural stem cell lineage	88
Introduction	89
Kesuits	~
Instruction of the SVZ	91
Radial gilal targeting and linage tracing	91
Radial glia produce all four major classes of brain cells	93

Radial glia, not striatal cells, act as progenitors Radial glia produce adult neural stem cells Discussion The origin of adult hippocampal stem cells The identity of the spinal cord progenitor Heterogeneity vs. temporal shift in potential The embryonic character of adult NSCs	94 95 98 99 100 100 101
Chapter 4. The extent of the SVZ and the diversity of adult	118
Introduction Results	119
Regional targeting of neonatal radial glia Production of OB interneurons from labeled radial glia	121 122
Discussion Spatial extent of adult neurogenesis Diversity of neural progenitors and the control of adult neurogenesis	124 126
The function of adult SVZ neurogenesis The adult NSC: a restricted progenitor?	127 128
Chapter 5. The potential and plasticity of adult neural stem cells Introduction	143 145
Maintenance of stem cell potential over postnatal	146
Postnatal NSC potential is determined by a cell-intrinsic mechanism	147
Discussion	151
Chapter 6. Concluding remarks and future directions Overview A technique to specifically label embryonic NSCs The developmental origin of the adult neurogenic zone The heterogeneity of NSC lineages NSC potential and plasticity The <i>in vivo</i> potential of an individual NSC A model of postnatal NSC potential Conclusion	172 173 175 176 178 180 181 183
Chapter 7. References	187
UCSF library release	218

List of Tables

Table 1. Mouse strains used and their relevant information	49
Table 2. Primary antibodies	56
Table 3. Secondary antibodies	58
Table 4. Genes that may direct OB interneuron production by SVZ	156
stem cells.	

List of Figures and Illustrations

Chapter 1	
Fig. 1: Formation of the CNS in early development	33
Fig. 2: Gradients of signaling molecules pattern the brain	34
Fig. 3: The region-specific expression of transcription factors	35
defines domains of the developing mouse brain	
Fig. 4: Radial glial cells are NSCs that guide the radial	36
migration of neuroblasts	~ -
Fig. 5: Intermediate progenitors divide symmetrically in the	37
Fig. 6: Temporal regulation of NSC neurogenic potential	38
Fig. 7: Neurogenic zones in the adult mouse brain	39
Fig. 8: Proliferation in the subcallosal zone	40
Fig. 9: Cell types and organization of the SV7	41
Fig. 10: Model of the NSC lineage in development	42
Fig. 11: The olfactory system	43
Fig. 12: Organization and some cell types of the olfactory bulb	44
Chapter 2	
Fig. 1: Radial dia are specifically labeled in the peopatal mouse	104
brain	104
Fig. 2: Adenovirus does not diffuse outside of the injection site	106
and infects cells within 8 hours	407
Fig. 3: Radial glia produce all classes of brain cells	107
Fig. 4: Radial glia-derived adult stem cells remain actively	109
Fig. 5: Development of the SV/7 and morphology of NSCs and	111
their progeny	
Fig. 6: Neural stem cells and their progeny in the developing	113
forebrain	
Fig. 7: Ependymal cells are postmitotic in the adult and are	115
derived from radial glia	
Fig. 8: Neurogenic, ventricle-contacting astrocytes with radial	116
morphology persist in the adult mouse brain	
Chapter 4	
Fig. 1: Specific regional targeting of neural stem cells	129
Fig. 2. Region-specific labeling of radial glia derived cells	131
Fig. 3: Production of olfactory bulb neurons from different	133
neurogenic subregions	
Fig. 4: Regional production of postnatally born cell types	135
Fig. 5: Confocal identification of NSC-derived OB interneuron	137
subtypes	
Fig. 6: Schematic fate map of different OB interneuron subtypes	139
Fig. 7: Known and proposed extent of the forebrain neurogenic	141

niche

Chapter 5

Fig. 1: Specific regional targeting of neural stem cells	158
Fig. 2: Ad:GFAP-Cre specifically induces recombination in GFAP-expressing cells in adult mice	159
Fig. 3: As in the neonatal brain, different subregions of the adult generate different types of OB interneurons	161
Fig. 4: Neural stem cells maintain their potential when heterotopically grafted	163
Fig. 5: Neural progenitors maintain their potential in culture	164
Fig. 6: Neural stem cells maintain their region-specific potential in culture	165
Fig. 7: Neural stem cells are resistant to respecification after culture and heterotopic transplantation	167
Fig. 8: Cultured neural stem cells remain neurogenic and maintain region-specific potential after heterotopic grafting	168
Fig. 9: Grafted cells remain actively neurogenic	169
Fig 10: Neural stem cell potential is cell-intrinsic	170
Chapter 6	
Fig. 1: Schematic cell lineage of cortical and adult neurogenic cortical progenitors	184
Fig. 2: Models of NSC potential in vivo	185
Fig. 3: Models of NSC potential to produce OB interneurons	186

List of Symbols, Abbreviations and Nomenclature

Symbol	Definition
AChE Ad:Cre Ad:GFAP-Cre AEP AP APP AraC	Acetylcholinesterase Adenovirus expressing Cre Adenovirus expressing Cre under the murine GFAP promoter Anterior Entopeduncular area Anterior-Posterior Alkaline Phosphatase Amyloid Precursor Protein Cytosine Arabinoside
BABB	Benzyl Alcohol Benzyl Benzoate clearing solution
BCIP	5-Bromo-4-Chloro-3-Indolyl-Phosphatate
bFGF/FGF ₂	basic Fibroblast Growth Factor
BMP	Bone Morphogenetic Protein
BPE	Bovine Pituitary Extract
C	Cortical
Cas	Castor transcription factor
CalB	Calbindin calcium binding protein
CalR	Calretinin calcium binding protein
CaMKIV	Calcium/calmodulin dependent Kinase IV
CB	Cerebellum
CC	Corpus Callosum
CH	Cortical Hem
ChAT	Choline Acetyltranferase
CldU	5-Chloro-2'-deoxyuridine
CNS	Central Nervous System
CNTF	Ciliary Neurotrophic Factor
CP	Cortical Plate
Cre	Cre recombinase protein from bacteriophage P1
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid
Ctx	Cortex
D	Dorsal
DAB	Diaminobenzidine
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
Dcx	Doublecortin
Dil	1,1'-Dioctodecyl-3,3,3',3'-tetramethylindocarbocyanine
DG	Dentate Gyrus
DIV	Days In Vitro
dLGE	dorsal Lateral Ganglionic Eminance
DIx1/2/5/6	Distalless-related transcription factor 1/2/5/6
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DMEM/F12	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium/Ham's F12 50:50 mix

DMSO	Dimethyl Sulfoxide
DP	Dorsal Pallium
E	Embryonic day
EDTA	Ethylenediamine Tetraacetic Acid
EGF	Epidermal Growth Factor
eGFP	enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
EM	Electron Microscopy
Emx1/2	Empty spiracles homolog transcription factor 1/2
EPL	External Plexiform Layer
Er81	Ets variant gene 1 transcription factor
FACS	Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FCS	Fetal Calf Serum
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor
Foxg1	Forkhead box G1 transcription factor
GABA GC GFAP GFP GL Gli1/2/3 GRL Gsh1/2	Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid Granule Cell Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein Green Fluorescent Protein Glomerular Layer Glioma-associated oncogene homolog 1/2/3 zinc finger transcription factors Granule Cell Layer GS homeobox transcription factor 1/2
Hb	Hunchback transcription factor
HRP	Horseradish Peroxidase
HSV-TK	Herpes Simplex Virus Thymidine Kinase
ICC	Immunocytochemistry
IdU	5-Iodo-2'-deoxyuridine
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IP	Intraperitoneal
IPC	Intermediate Progenitor Cell
Kr	Krüppel transcription factor
L15	Leibovitz's L-15 Medium
LoxP	Locus of crossing over in phage P1
LacZ	Beta-galactosidase encoding gene from <i>Escherichia coli</i>
LGE	Lateral Ganglionic Eminance
Lhx6/7	LIM homeobox protein 6/7

LP	Lateral Pallium
LV	Lateral Ventricle
M	Medial
Mash1	Murine achaete-scute complex homolog-like 1
MBP	Myelin Basic Protein
MC	Mitral Cell
MCL	Mitral Cell Layer
MGE	Medial Ganglionic Eminance
M/T	Mitral and Tufted Cells
Myc	Myelocytomatosis oncogene
N	Neuron/Neuroblast
NBT	4-Nitro Blue Tetrazolium chloride
NE	Neuroepithelium
NEC	Neuroepithelial Cell
NC	Neurocalcin
NG2	NG2 chondroitin proteoglycan
Ngn1/2	Neurogenin transcription factor 1/2
Nkx2.1	thyroid transcription factor 1
Nkx2.2	NK2 transcription factor related, locus 2
Notch1	Notch gene homolog 1
NSC	Neural Stem Cell
Numb	Numb gene homolog
O4	Oligodendrocyte marker, clone O4, reacts with POA
OB	Olfactory Bulb
OE	Olfactory Epithelium
Olig2	Oligodendrocyte transcription factor 2
ONL	Olfactory Nerve Layer
OPC	Oligodendrocyte Precursor Cell
OSN	Olfactory Sensory Neuron
P Pax6 PB PBS PBST PCR PDK PDK PDGF PDGF PDGFRalpha PFA PGC POA	Postnatal day Paired box domain transcription factor 6 Phosphate Buffer Phosphate Buffered Saline Phosphate Buffered Saline + 0.1% Triton X-100 Polymerase Chain Reaction Poly-D-Lysine Drosophila POU domain transcription factor Platelet-Derived Growth Factor Platelet-Derived Growth Factor Receptor alpha Paraformaldehyde Periglomerular Cell Proligodendrocyte Antigen (sulfated glycolipid)

PSA-NCAM	Polysialic Acid-Neural Cell Adhesion Molecule
PV	Parvalbumin
RC2	Radial Cell 2 antigen
RMS	Rostral Migratory Stream
RPM	Rotations Per Minute
RT	Room Temperature
S phase	Synthesis phase
SAC	Short Axon Cell
SCZ	Subcallosal Zone
SD	Standard Deviation
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean
SGZ	Subgranular Zone
Shh	Sonic hedgehog
Sox29/10/11	SRY-box containing gene 2/9/10/11
Sp8	trans-acting transcription factor 8
Stri	Striatum
SVZ	Subventricular Zone
TC	Tufted Cell
TF	Transcription Factor
TGFalpha	Transforming Growth Factor alpha
TH	Tyrosine Hydroxylase
TrkB	neurotrophic tyrosine kinase receptor, type 2
Tuj1	Beta III tubulin
TX	Triton X-100 detergent
UA	Uranyl Acetate
V	Ventral
Vax1	Ventral anterior homeobox containing gene 1
vLGE	ventral Lateral Ganglionic Eminance
VP	Ventral Pallium
VZ	Ventricular Zone
Wnt	Wingless
Zic1	Zinc finger protein of the cerebellum 1

Chapter 1

Introduction

Overview and statement of objectives

The brain is arguably the most complex organ in the body. It is composed of billions of neurons (Chklovskii et al., 2004), connected and arranged in precise patterns. Together, these cells control essential bodily functions and allow an animal to sense and respond appropriately to its environment. The complexity of the brain is derived from a small number of neural stem cells (NSCs) that proliferate, acquire regional identities, and produce different cell types. Understanding NSCs therefore is central to understanding brain development.

NSCs are neural cells that maintain the potential to generate multiple neural cell types over long periods of time. They exist not only in the embryonic brain, but also in restricted regions of the adult brain. Most adult neurogenesis occurs in two germinal zones: the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus (DG) of the hippocampus and the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle, (reviewed in (Temple, 2001)). Over the last several years, adult NSCs in these regions have been shown to correspond to an astrocyte-like cell (Doetsch et al., 1999a; Imura et al., 2003; Morshead et al., 2003; Seri et al., 2001). It is not known how these astrocyte-like cells differ from astrocytes elsewhere in the brain, nor is their developmental cell-of-origin known. Furthermore, it is not clear how far the SVZ extends in the brain, how stem cells

are organized in the SVZ, or if they constitute a homogeneous or diverse population of progenitors.

Adult neurogenesis is a robust phenomenon; thousands of neurons are born every day in the SVZ. These newborn neurons, or neuroblasts, migrate long distances to reach the olfactory bulb (OB), where they differentiate into many different types of interneurons to replace dying cells. These interneurons regulate the brain activity that underlies olfaction, the sense of smell. However, the extent of interneuron diversity and mechanism by which diversity is generated is unclear.

In this work, I will address several questions: 1) What is the developmental origin of adult SVZ NSCs? 2) What is the spatial extent of the SVZ? 3) Are SVZ NSCs equivalent or diverse? 4) Are SVZ NSCs plastic or committed? To address these questions, I will examine neural stem cells and their progeny throughout postnatal development. First, I will review the mechanisms that pattern the developing brain and generate cell diversity. Second, I will review the identity, potential, and function of adult NSCs and the cells they produce. Third, I will review the structure of the olfactory bulb, the diversity of postnatally born neuron types, and the possible functional role of adult neurogenesis. Finally, I will briefly state how I addressed the questions listed above.

Section 1: Embryonic brain development

Neural specification and brain patterning

Every animal begins its life cycle as a single totipotent cell. In early embryonic development, this cell divides rapidly and its daughter cells organize into three different germ layers: the endoderm, mesoderm, and ectoderm. The central nervous system (CNS) is derived from a region of the ectoderm (Gallera, 1971), a sheet of cells known as the neuroepithelium (NE) (Schoenwolf and Alvarez, 1991). Through beautifully coordinated movements, the edges of this sheet fold together to form the neural tube, the fluid-filled center of which later becomes the ventricular system and spinal canal (Karfunkel, 1989; Morriss-Kay et al., 1994; Schoenwolf, 1991) (Fig. 1A-D). As neural tissue is induced and undergoes dramatic morphological transformations, it is patterned by gradients of morphogens secreted in "organizing centers" (Alvarez and Schoenwolf, 1991; Monuki and Walsh, 2001; Wilson and Rubenstein, 2000) (Fig. 2). NSCs respond to these morphogens by expressing or silencing different sets of genes, thereby acquiring regional identity (Shimamura et al., 1997). Notably, such genes include transcription factors (TFs) that regulate the expression of many other genes (Fig. 3). By this mechanism, the CNS is divided into different dorsoventral and rostrocaudal domains, in which NSCs produce different progeny (Jessell and Sanes, 2000; Krumlauf et al., 1993; Rubenstein and Beachy, 1998; Shimamura et al., 1997). This organization is refined by cell migration, (Hatten, 1999; Marin and Rubenstein, 2003), the establishment of connectivity (Aoki and Siekevitz, 1988; Cohen-Cory, 2002; Hensch, 2005; Isacson and Deacon, 1997;

Kalil, 1989) and the selective pruning of cells and their connections (Gao et al., 1999; Gordon, 1995; Hensch, 2005).

Primary progenitors in embryonic development

The brain is derived from a sheet-like neuroepithelium (NE) composed of neuroepithelial cells (NECs). These cells are radially elongated and contact both the apical (ventricular) and basal (pial) surfaces (Fig.1E). Interestingly, they divide at the ventricular surface but pull their nucleus toward the pial surface during interphase (Bhide, 1996; Noctor et al., 2004; Sheth and Bhide, 1997; Smart, 1976). This process is known as interkinetic nuclear migration. Initially, NECs divide symmetrically to increase the pool of stem cells but later divide asymmetrically, producing a stem cell that remains at the ventricular surface and a daughter cell that migrates radially outward (Huttner and Brand, 1997; Huttner and Kosodo, 2005). Some of these daughter cells are postmitotic neurons, but other cells continue to proliferate just above the ventricle in the subventricular zone (SVZ), as will be discussed below. As daughter cells accumulate, progenitors dividing at the ventricular surface form an identifiable pseudostratified epithelium known as the ventricular zone (VZ). The accumulation of daughter cells leads to a thickening of the early brain, which radially stretches NECs. By the onset of neurogenesis at E10-E11 in the mouse forebrain, (Caviness et al., 1995), NECs disappear to be replaced by radial glial cells (Anthony et al., 2004).

Like NECs, radial glia maintain contact with ventricular surface via a short endfoot, but also with the pial surface via a thin, radially projecting basal process.

Though they appear to be distinct cell types, NECs and radial glia share many characteristics (reviewed in (Gotz and Huttner, 2005; Malatesta et al., 2003)), and it has been suggested that NECs transform directly into radial glia, though this has yet to be proven. Radial glia are characterized not only by their unique radial morphology, but also by their expression of the intermediate filament associated protein RC2 (Misson et al., 1988), and the intermediate filament proteins nestin (Frederiksen and McKay, 1988; Hockfield and McKay, 1985) and vimentin (Pixley and De Vellis, 1984). More recently, it has been shown that radial glia express surface markers found on astrocytes, including brain lipid binding protein (BLBP) (Feng and Heintz, 1995), the glutamate transporter GLAST (Shibata et al., 1997), and tenascin-C (Peretto et al., 2005). Interestingly, BLBP is heterogeneously expressed in space and time (Anthony et al., 2004), supporting previous observations indicating that radial glia are functionally heterogeneous (Kriegstein and Gotz, 2003). In primates, radial glia express the astrocyte marker GFAP (Levitt and Rakic, 1980).

The long, basal process of radial glial cells establishes specialized contacts with blood vessels (Bass et al., 1992; Mission et al., 1991) and guides the migrating neuroblasts born in the VZ toward the pial surface (Campbell and Gotz, 2002; Rakic, 1985; Rakic, 1995) (Fig. 4). For many years, it was thought that radial glia were merely a scaffold for migrating neurons that were generated by an unidentified progenitor near the ventricular surface. However, recent work has shown that radial glia undergo interkinetic nuclear migration and generate neurons at the VZ via asymmetric division in the embryonic mouse brain (Gotz et

al., 2002; Gregg et al., 2002; Haubensak et al., 2004; Miyata et al., 2004; Noctor et al., 2001; Noctor et al., 2002; Noctor et al., 2004). Though radial glia were initially thought to generate only a subset of CNS neurons, (Malatesta et al., 2003), they are now recognized as the principal, if not the only NSC of the embryonic mammalian forebrain (Anthony et al., 2004). Mammalian radial glial cells are thought to transform into astroglial and ependymal cells near the end of gliogenesis (Edwards et al., 1990; Schmechel and Rakic, 1979; Spassky et al., 2005; Takahashi et al., 1990), reviewed in (Gotz and Barde, 2005). However, neurogenic radial glia are retained in some adult songbirds (Alvarez-Buylla et al., 1990), lizards (Garcia-Verdugo et al., 2002), turtles (Russo et al., 2004), and fish (Zupanc, 2006) (reviewed in (Tramontin et al., 2003)).

At early stages in development, a NSC division may result in a neuron that inherits the radial glial fiber, which it uses to pull itself up to the cortical plate (Miyata et al., 2001; Nadarajah, 2003; Nadarajah et al., 2001). This mode of neural migration, called somal translocation, may be unique to the early brain. At later developmental stages, radial glial cells retain their radial process (Noctor et al., 2001) and neurons generated at the ventricular surface often migrate radially along radial glial processes (reviewed in (Kriegstein and Noctor, 2004)).

Tangential migration and the generation of OB interneurons

Though many neurons migrate radially, several neuronal populations migrate tangentially through the brain. These neurons include inhibitory interneurons, which express the neurotransmitter GABA and constitute

approximately 20% of all cortical neurons (Hendry et al., 1987; Meinecke and Peters, 1987; Parnavelas et al., 1977) (reviewed in (Markram et al., 2004)). These cells do not respect regional forebrain boundaries as they migrate, and disperse over a wide area before maturing (Heffron and Golden, 2000; Letinic et al., 2002). Genetic and embryological evidence suggests that these cells are derived not from the cortex, but from subcortical structures.

Around mid-gestation, the embryonic mouse brain contains two prominent subcortical structures: the medial ganglionic eminance (MGE) and the lateral ganglionic eminance (LGE) (Fig. 3) (Smart and Sturrock, 1979). When these structures were experimentally separated from the cortex in slice culture, the cortex received fewer cortical interneurons (Anderson et al., 1997), implying that interneurons were generated in the ganglionic eminences. MGE or LGE- derived cells were shown to have a different migratory potential when dissected and grafted; MGE-derived cells dispersed widely in the cortex, whereas LGE-derived cells were able to migrate to the olfactory bulbs (Wichterle et al., 1999). This confirmed earlier studies in which LGE cells were labeled with ³H and shown to migrate to the OB (De Carlos et al., 1996), and in which MGE cells were labeled with the lipophilic dye 1,1'-dioctodecyl-3,3,3',3'-tetramethylindocarbocyanine (Dil) and traced into the cortex (Lavdas et al., 1999).

Genetic fate-mapping of genes expressed in the MGE and/or LGE showed that TFs regulate the generation of cortical and olfactory bulb interneurons (Puelles et al., 2000; Stenman et al., 2003), notably Dlx1/2 (Anderson et al., 1997; Pleasure et al., 2000a), Pax6 (Dellovade et al., 1998; Hack et al., 2005;

Kohwi et al., 2005; Toresson et al., 2000; Yun et al., 2001), Gsh2 (Corbin et al., 2000; Toresson and Campbell, 2001; Toresson et al., 2000; Yun et al., 2003; Yun et al., 2001), Nkx2.1 (Pleasure et al., 2000a; Sussel et al., 1999), Sp8 (Waclaw et al., 2006), and Zic1 (Inoue et al., 2007) (Fig. 3). These data were confirmed by in vivo fate mapping of transplanted MGE and LGE cells (Wichterle et al., 2001) and by culturing LGE or MGE cells and staining the neurons they produce for cell-type specific markers (Xu et al., 2004). Together, these experiments demonstrate that the cells of the embryonic LGE and adult lateral ventricular wall both generate olfactory bulb neurons, reside in the same anatomical location, and express similar TFs. Thus, it is thought that the adult SVZ is derived from the LGE, although other embryonic structures may also contribute to the adult SVZ.

Intermediate progenitors

Primary NSCs divide asymmetrically in the VZ of the developing brain to produce another NSC and a more committed daughter cell. This daughter cell may be a neuron or glial cell, but may also be an intermediate progenitor or transit/transient amplifying cell that continues to divide in the SVZ (Haubensak et al., 2004; Miyata et al., 2004; Noctor et al., 2004) (Fig 5). More than 90% of neurons are thought to be generated by symmetrically dividing SVZ progenitors, which amplifies the number of neurons produced by a single NSC division (Haubensak et al., 2004; Miyata et al., 2004). This amplification step may be an important determinant of brain size; species with a larger cortex have a larger

pool of intermediate progenitors and a larger SVZ (Martinez-Cerdeno et al., 2006). Symmetric and asymmetric divisions can be distinguished by the plane of division or the localization of cytoplasmic determinants such as EGFR (Sun et al., 2005) and Numb (Zhong et al., 1996) (reviewed in (Huttner and Kosodo, 2005)). However, much of what we have learned about the behavior of primary and intermediate progenitors comes from studies using confocal time-lapse imaging of fluorescently labeled cells in embryonic slice cultures. This technique revealed that when intermediate progenitors reach the SVZ, they send out numerous processes as if sensing local cues (Noctor et al., 2004). Interestingly, there is evidence from work in Drosophila that the neural progenitor cleavage plane is determined by its interaction with epithelial cells (Siegrist and Doe, 2006). Thus, it is possible that environmental factors regulate the behavior of mammalian intermediate progenitors as well as NSCs.

Temporal regulation of NSC potential

The neurogenic potential of NSCs is regulated by temporal as well as spatial factors. Clear evidence for this was provided by birthdating studies, in which newborn cells are labeled and traced over time. Proliferating cells can be labeled by an injection of radioactive (tritiated) thymidine (³H), or the thymidine analog bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU), which incorporates into DNA as it is being synthesized, thereby labeling cells that are preparing to divide. Through this approach and later work, it was shown that neurogenesis begins in the forebrain at around E10 in mice and peaks from E14-E16 (Caviness et al., 1995). At E17,

neurogenesis ceases in most regions and gliogenesis, which begins around E12.5, becomes the prominent (reviewed in (Rowitch, 2004)). Furthermore, different neuron types are born at different ages. This has been clearly demonstrated in the cerebral cortex, a six-layered structure populated by morphologically and electrophysiologically distinct neuron types. Birthdating studies showed that layer 1 develops first but layers 2-6 appear to develop sequentially in an inside-out fashion; layer 6 (the deepest layer) neurons are generated second and layer 2 neurons are generated last. In this system, later-born neurons migrate past earlier born cells to reach their target location (Ignacio et al., 1995).

By heterochronically grafting cortical progenitors, McConnell and colleagues demonstrated that progenitors that would normally produce layer 4 cells could appropriately produce later-born (layer 2/3) cell types when grafted into an older brain. However, older progenitors only produced later-born cell types, even when placed in a younger environment (Desai and McConnell, 2000; McConnell, 1988; McConnell, 1990). Furthermore, it was shown that younger progenitors had to be in S phase in order to be respecified by an older environment, suggesting that their response to environmental cues was cell-cycle dependent (McConnell and Kaznowski, 1991). Similarly, heterochronic transplantation of cerebellar progenitors confirmed that younger, but not older progenitors are capable of making all major cerebellar types, and heterotopic transplantation demonstrated that they are committed to the cerebellar fate (Grimaldi et al., 2005; Klein et al., 2005). Interestingly, clonal cultures of neural

stem cells were shown to generate layer specific neurons at the same developmental time points as their counterparts *in vivo* (Shen et al., 2006). This suggests that mammalian neural stem cells contain a timing mechanism that persists in isolation from environmental signals. The basis for this mechanism in mammals is unclear, but work in Drosophila has uncovered a temporal code for neuron identity at the molecular level.

Chris Doe and colleagues have shown that neural identity is determined by the sequential activation of the transcription factors (TFs) Hunchback (Hb), Krüppel (Kr), Pdm, and Castor (Cas) in neuroblasts (neural progenitors) (Isshiki et al., 2001) (Fig. 6A). These TFs are expressed in both the neuron and neuroblast at the time the neuron is born, but only the neuron maintains high levels of TF expression. The loss of TFs expressed early in the lineage, such as Hb, results in the loss of early born cell types, whereas overexpression of Hb forces later-born neurons to adopt an Hb fate. However, if Hb expression is induced progressively later, neuroblasts lose the ability to produce early-born neuron types (Pearson and Doe, 2003) and become increasingly insensitive to respecification (Grosskortenhaus et al., 2005). A similar phenomenon has been appreciated in the mammalian brain; the transcriptional repressor Foxg1 represses the production of early born cell types. When it is knocked out, early cell fates persist, and when conditionally knocked out later in development, earlyborn neuron types can be ectopically produced in an older brain (Hanashima et al., 2004) (Fig 6B-D). In summary, a growing body of evidence suggests that local cues specify mammalian NSCs, resulting in the generation of temporally

and spatially appropriate cell types. As NSCs respond to these cues, they become increasingly insensitive to respecification (reviewed in (Pearson and Doe, 2004; Temple, 2001)).

Summary

Embryonic mammalian NSCs are glial-like cells that generate neurons and glia, sometimes via an intermediate progenitor. NSCs generate the tremendous diversity in cell types by acquiring regional and temporal identity. However, the potential and plasticity of NSCs diminishes over time, so that by the time of birth, NSCs have largely disappeared. However, as we will see in the next section, a remarkable subset of glial-like neural stem cells continues to generate neurons in the adult brain.

Section 2: Adult neural stem cells

A historical perspective on adult neurogenesis

The assumption that mammalian neurons were exclusively born in the embryo was not seriously challenged until the 1960s, when Joseph Altman presented a series of papers describing the generation of neurons in the adult mammalian brain. He treated rats and cats with tritiated thymidine (³H) to label proliferating cells, and found evidence for widespread proliferation (Altman, 1962; Altman, 1963). Eventually, he (Altman, 1967; Altman and Das, 1965) and others (Kaplan and Hinds, 1977) identified two main proliferative regions in the adult mammalian brain: the lateral walls of the lateral ventricle (LV), and the dentate gyrus (DG) of the hippocampus (Fig. 7). These regions were confirmed to be the primary sites of adult neurogenesis (Kaplan and Bell, 1983; Lois and Alvarez-Buylla, 1993; Reynolds and Weiss, 1992a; van Praag et al., 2002), reviewed in (Alvarez-Buylla and Garcia-Verdugo, 2002; Gage, 2000). The new neurons were identified as "microneurons" or interneurons (Altman, 1967; Kaplan et al., 1985; Stanfield and Trice, 1988), of which large numbers appeared to be migrating to the olfactory bulbs (Altman, 1969; Bayer, 1985).

However, these findings were not widely accepted until the functional integration of new neurons was convincingly shown in songbirds (Paton and Nottebohm, 1984). The discovery of adult neurogenesis led to a new set of questions: 1) Why does neurogenesis persist in the adult brain? 2) Why does neurogenesis only persist in certain regions? 3) What is the functional role of the

new neurons? 4) Where do the stem cells that generate the new neurons reside? 5) What is the identity of the adult neural stem cells? Below, I will discuss the work of others that has answered some of these questions. I will concentrate on the stem cells that generate OB interneurons, though hippocampal progenitors and their progeny have been studied extensively (Altman and Bayer, 1990; Doetsch, 2003; Eves et al., 1992; Lennington et al., 2003; Palmer et al., 2000; Pleasure et al., 2000b; Seaberg and van der Kooy, 2002; Seri and Alvarez-Buylla, 2002; Seri et al., 2004 (reviewed in (Hatten, et al. 1999; Seri et al., 2001; van Praag et al., 2002))

The SVZ neural stem cell

Neurogenic SVZ progenitors were first isolated by culturing dissociated cells from different regions of the adult rodent brain in the presence of the growth factors EGF and FGF (Morshead et al., 1994; Reynolds and Weiss, 1992a). Some cells proliferated under these conditions, forming free-floating balls of cells called neurospheres. These neurospheres could be passaged and differentiated into multiple cell types (neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes), thereby demonstrating self-renewal and multipotency *in vitro*. These criteria have been used to define the adult NSC *in vitro* (Capela and Temple, 2002; Geschwind et al., 2001; Tropepe et al., 1999). Since the lateral wall of the LV contains many neurosphere-forming cells it was thought that this region might constitute the entire SVZ germinal zone. However, other studies have suggested that neural stem cells might also reside in the RMS (Bonfanti et al., 1997; Gritti et al., 2002; Liu and Martin, 2003; Pencea et al., 2001), the medial wall of the LV (Doetsch et

al., 1999a; Morshead et al., 1994), the dorsal wall of the LV (Kohwi et al., 2007; Ventura and Goldman, 2007), and in the subcallosal zone (SCZ) (Seri et al., 2006). The SCZ is a germinal zone caudal and dorsal to the SVZ, just beneath corpus callosum and adjacent to the hippocampus where the LV has collapsed due to the growth of the hippocampus (Seri et al., 2006) (Fig. 8). Other groups have found neurosphere forming cells throughout the ventricular neuraxis (Weiss et al., 1996a).

The lack of a unique stem cell marker or a technique to directly label NSCs has made it difficult to determine whether these regions contain multipotent stem cells or merely restricted neural progenitors. Culturing progenitors may alter their potential (Doetsch et al., 2002; Gabay et al., 2003) and retrovirus injected *in vivo* will infect all dividing cells, including neuroblasts that may be migrating through the injection site (Miller et al., 1990). Therefore, the true *in vivo* potential of NSCs and the spatial extent of the adult germinal zone remains obscure.

The lateral wall of the lateral ventricle contains at least four different cell types, distinguished by their morphology, ultrastructure and marker gene expression (Doetsch et al., 1997) (Fig. 9). They comprise a sheet just a few cell layers thick and adjacent to the ventricle. This region is therefore called the subventricular zone (SVZ) or subependymal zone (SEZ). Though it shares many properties with the embryonic SVZ, the adult SVZ is unique since it contains primary progenitors as well as intermediate progenitors. The principal cell type contacting the LV is the multiciliated ependymal (type E) cell. Though it has been

suggested that these cells may be stem cells (Johansson et al., 1999), careful analysis has suggested that they do not divide in the adult brain and therefore could not act as progenitors (Chiasson et al., 1999; Doetsch et al., 1999a; Laywell et al., 2000; Spassky et al., 2005). The remaining cell types, called type A, B and C cells, were described by immunohistochemistry and electron microscopy (Doetsch et al., 1997). Type A cells correspond to neuroblasts that have a migratory morphology and express the markers Tuj1, Dcx and PSA-NCAM. Within the SVZ, they migrate in chains that merge at the rostral tip of the LV to form a single pathway called the rostral migratory stream (RMS), which extends into the OB core (Lois and Alvarez-Buylla, 1994). These chains are often surrounded by the GFAP+ processes of astrocytes, some of which correspond to type B cells. Type B cells share many features with astrocytes, including GFAP expression, complex processes, intermediate filaments, specialized contact with blood vessels, and glycogen granules. C cells have a relatively simple morphology with scant cytoplasm and express the markers Mash1 (Parras et al., 2004) and Dlx2.

The adult NSC was identified based on its ability to regenerate the cell types of the SVZ. Though A, B and C cells are all proliferative, A cells have a limited self-renewal potential in culture (Lim and Alvarez-Buylla, 1999), whereas B and C cells can be passaged multiple times (Doetsch et al., 2002), suggesting that B or C cells can act as stem cells in vitro. Type B cells were suggested to be the primary precursor *in vivo* in a study where mice were treated with the antimitotic drug cytosine arabinoside (AraC), which eliminates rapidly dividing
cells. This treatment effectively removed type A and C cells from the SVZ but largely spared type E and B cells. After withdrawal of AraC, B cells proliferated and first produced type C cells, which then generated type A cells (Doetsch et al., 1999b). Furthermore, GFAP+ SVZ cells specifically targeted with an avian virus (RCAS) carrying GFP resulted in labeled SVZ astrocyte-like cells, neuroblasts, and OB neurons. These experiments showed that B cells were sufficient to generate OB neurons.

Additional experiments ablated B cells to show that they were also necessary for adult neurogenesis. Neurogenesis was effectively abolished in adult mice conditionally expressing the toxin herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase (HSV-TK) under the control of the GFAP promoter (Imura et al., 2003). Additional work in vivo and in vitro demonstrated that most, if not all adult-born OB neurons were derived from GFAP+ cells, which tended to have a relatively simple unipolar or bipolar morphology (Garcia et al., 2004). Therefore, there is now a general consensus that adult mammalian NSCs are GFAP+ astrocyte-like cells. This seems to hold true not just for the SVZ, but also for the hippocampal dentate gyrus (Gage et al., 1998) where astrocyte-like NSCs with radial morphology give rise to granule neurons (Filippov et al., 2003; Fukuda et al., 2003; Seri et al., 2004; Seri et al., 2001). Furthermore, radial astrocyte-like Müller glia are thought to generate glutamatergic retinal neurons (Bernardos et al., 2007; Fischer and Reh, 2001). Since embryonic and adult NSCs have glial characteristics, it has been suggested that NSCs lie within the NEC -> radial glia

-> astrocyte lineage (Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2001), though this hypothesis has not been tested experimentally (Fig. 10).

Intermediate progenitors, oligodendrocytes, and brain tumor stem cells

Not only do primary progenitors appear to share common features, but they also appear to generate intermediate progenitors throughout development. Adult SVZ stem cells produce type C cells, which proliferate rapidly and produce immature neurons (Doetsch et al., 1999a). Interestingly, some intermediate progenitors express the transcription factor Olig2 and produce oligodendrocytes (Menn et al., 2006). Neurons and Olig2+ progenitors may be derived from SVZ astrocytes expressing PDGFR α , a receptor for platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) (Jackson et al., 2006). This receptor is also expressed by the widely distributed NG2+ oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs), which generate oligodendrocytes in the adult brain (Polito and Reynolds, 2005). Whereas oligodendrocyte-generating SVZ stem cells may be multipotent (Menn et al., 2006) adult OPCs appear to be committed to oligodendrogenesis, though some NG2+ cells may produce astrocytes in response to injury.

Interestingly, PDGFR α + cells hyperproliferate *in vivo* in response to PDGF and form tumor-like masses (Assanah et al., 2006; Jackson et al., 2006). The majority of cells in these masses express Olig2, which is a marker for many human brain tumors (Lu et al., 2001). These findings are of particular interest since brain tumors may be propagated by a cancerous "tumor stem cell" (Singh et al., 2004). The identity of the precursor to the tumor stem cell is currently

unknown, but it may be a NSC or an intermediate progenitor; some brain tumors appear to arise near neurogenic niches (Sanai et al., 2005). Understanding the role of NSCs in tumor formation may lead to more effective treatment for brain tumors. It may also shed light on stem cell plasticity in the normal and diseased brain.

Plasticity vs. commitment

It is unclear how much plasticity adult NSCs retain and how much they might regain under the right circumstances. Some vertebrates can completely regenerate their spinal cord from CNS tissue following tail amputation (Gargioli and Slack, 2004) and planarians can regenerate their entire nervous system from multipotent neoblasts (Reddien and Sanchez Alvarado, 2004). Mammals lack this regenerative potential, though they do mount a limited response to brain injury by stimulating local progenitors, which form glial scars and remyelinate lesions (Hagg and Oudega, 2006; Sofroniew, 2005). It is important to determine why mammalian stem cells appear to be more restricted, since plastic stem cells could be used therapeutically to replace lost tissue.

About 15 years ago, investigators began to graft embryonic and adult NSCs into the intact or diseased nervous system and reported functional engraftment and production of region-appropriate cell types. Cerebellar progenitors rendered multipotent by virally mediated transduction with avian myc (Ryder et al., 1989) were shown to generate neurons and glia with cerebellar phenotypes after being grafted into the developing cerebellum (Snyder et al.,

1997). It was then suggested that these cells could functionally integrate into other brain regions and ameliorate disease phenotypes such as mucopolysaccharidosis VII (Sly disease), a lysosomal storage disorder (Snyder et al., 1995), Tay-Sachs disease (Lacorazza et al., 1996) and dysmyelination in shiverer mice lacking myelin basic protein (MBP) (Yandava et al., 1999). Further experiments claimed that human NSCs could replace specific cell populations in the mouse brain (Flax et al., 1998) and that grafted NSCs have the ability to home in on sites of injury and initiate regeneration and repair (Aboody et al., 2000). Another group showed that NSCs isolated from the adult hippocampus (Suhonen et al., 1996) or spinal cord (Shihabuddin et al., 2000), produced region-appropriate neuron types when cultured and grafted into other adult germinal niches. These studies suggested that NSCs can be plastic, and that environmental rather than intrinsic factors determine which cell types they produce.

This interpretation contrasts with work demonstrating the regional and temporal commitment of NSCs to a particular neurogenic potential, as discussed in Section 1. The conflicting results might be reconciled by considering the different experimental techniques used. Respecification was observed when NSCs are cultured for long periods of time in the presence of growth factors, or when they were transformed with the oncogene myc. On the other hand, NSCs cultured for short periods of time displayed fate restriction similar to cells *in vivo* (Shen et al., 2006). Also, NSCs isolated from the SVZ and grafted into other brain regions soon after isolation remained effectively neurogenic only in adult

neurogenic niches (Herrera et al., 1999). As techniques to label and identify grafted cells and their progeny have improved, evidence for dramatic NSC plasticity has not been reproduced, whereas evidence for their commitment is mounting. To date, the promise of inducing stem cells to produce functional, region-appropriate neurons at the site of injury has not been realized.

Molecular regulation of neurogenesis

Adult germinal zones are thought to be unique environments that support neurogenesis, sometimes referred to as "neurogenic niches". This idea derives from the observation that adult SVZ stem cells generate OB neurons when transplanted into the SVZ but not when transplanted to other regions (Doetsch and Alvarez-Buylla, 1996; Herrera et al., 1999; Lim et al., 1997; Lois and Alvarez-Buylla, 1994). Molecules that maintain the niche environment and regulate neurogenesis have been examined in many studies. Many developmentally important signaling pathways seem to regulate adult neurogenesis in the SGZ, and possibly also in the SVZ (reviewed in (Alvarez-Buylla and Lim, 2004; Hagg, 2005; Lennington et al., 2003)). In the SVZ, these have been shown to include: APP (Caille et al., 2004), BMP4 and Noggin (Lim et al., 2000), CNTF (Emsley and Hagg, 2003; Shimazaki et al., 2001), EGF (Kuhn et al., 1997; Mahanthappa and Schwarting, 1993; Reynolds and Weiss, 1992a), Ephrin-A2 (Holmberg et al., 2005), FGF2 (Kuhn et al., 1997; Zheng et al., 2004), PDGF (Jackson et al., 2006), Notch1 (Gaiano et al., 2000; Hitoshi et al., 2002), Shh (Machold et al., 2003; Palma et al., 2005), and TGF α (Enwere et al., 2004). Furthermore, nitric

oxide (Cheng et al., 2003; Packer et al., 2003) and the neurotransmitters serotonin (5HT1a receptor) (Banasr et al., 2004; Mattson et al., 2004), dopamine (D2/3 receptor) (Baker et al., 2004; Hoglinger et al., 2004; Kippin et al., 2005), and GABA (GABAA receptor) (Antonopoulos et al., 1997; Liu et al., 2005) regulate SVZ progenitor proliferation, as do the hormones prolactin (Shingo et al., 2003) and thyroid hormone (Lemkine et al., 2005). Finally, there is growing evidence that interaction with a vascular environment is essential for the long-term maintenance of adult neurogenesis (Shen et al., 2004; Yang et al., 2005).

In addition to these exogenous factors, TFs have been shown to regulate progenitor potential and neural specification. Removal of both of the homeobox transcription factors Dlx1 and Dlx2 results in the dramatic loss of OB interneurons (Anderson et al., 1997; Bulfone et al., 1998), whereas Vax1 (Soria et al., 2004), Sox2 (Ferri et al., 2004; Graham et al., 2003; Wegner and Stolt, 2005), Zic1/3 (Inoue et al., 2007), and the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factor Mash1 (Parras et al., 2004) have been suggested to regulate progenitor self-renewal, proliferation of differentiation. As more factors are discovered, our understanding of neurogenesis increases but it becomes difficult to identify the fundamental aspects of NSC regulation. For this, we need a more complete understanding of NSC organization and potential.

Summary

Adult mammalian NSCs reside in the SVZ and have the potential to produce astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and neurons. They are phenotypically

astrocyte-like cells, but differ from astrocytes elsewhere in the brain since they retain the ability to generate neurons. However, adult NSCs require the unique environment of the germinal zone to remain neurogenic. Within this germinal zone, they are regulated by a combination of environmental and intrinsic factors. The neurogenic potential of adult NSCs appears to be restricted, though long periods of time in culture may alter their potential. SVZ stem cells produce neuroblasts that migrate in chains to the olfactory bulb, where they differentiate into several types of interneurons. In the next section, I will examine the production and function of these neurons.

Section 3: Postnatally born olfactory bulb neurons

Olfaction and OB organization

The SVZ produces interneurons that modulate olfaction. The process of olfaction begins when inhaled odor molecules pass through the nostrils and into the turbinate bones of the sinus cavity (Fig. 11). There, they bind specific odorant receptors on the surface of olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs), residing in a germinal olfactory epithelium (OE). Remarkably, though a huge family of genes encodes the odorant receptors (Buck and Axel, 1991), each OSN expresses only one of these genes (Chess et al., 1994; Malnic et al., 1999). OSNs expressing the same gene send axons from their diverse locations in the OE to the same location in the OB (Mombaerts et al., 1996). Their axons terminate in spherical structures of dense neuropil called glomeruli where they form synapses with neurons that project to olfactory cortex (Axel, 2005; Shepherd and Greer, 1998). OB interneurons modulate both the input to and output of these projection neurons. The first stage in olfactory processing thus occurs in the OB and is strongly influenced by interneurons (Shepherd, 1972; Shepherd and Greer, 1998).

The strikingly beautiful organization of different OB cell types was documented by the pioneering neuroanatomists Golgi and Ramon y Cajal almost 100 years ago (Golgi, 1989; Ramón y Cajal, 1995). From the core of the olfactory bulb to its surface, its layers consist of: the granule cell layer (GCL), internal plexiform layer (IPL), mitral cell layer (MCL), external plexiform layer (EPL),

glomerular layer (GL) and olfactory nerve layer (ONL) (Fig. 12). These layers form a characteristic three layered allocortex and like other cortical regions, it contains two main types of neurons: projection neurons and local interneurons.

Diversity among OB neurons

The projection neurons, mitral and tufted (M/T) cells, extend a primary dendrite to a single glomerulus where they receive synaptic input from OSNs and extend secondary dendrites laterally within the EPL. The cell bodies of mitral cells form the well-defined MCL, whereas tufted cell bodies are dispersed in the EPL. M/T cells send axons to the piriform (olfactory) cortex where further processing likely leads to behavioral responses and the conscious perception of odors.

Local interneurons are a more numerous and diverse group of cells consisting of granule cells (GCs) and short axon cells (SACs), which include periglomerular cells (PGCs) (Fig. 12). Postnatally born cells consist of approximately 97% GCs and 3% PGCs (Kaplan et al., 1985; Winner et al., 2002), although it is unclear if other OB neurons are also generated postnatally. In the mouse, all GCs and PGCs are GABAergic (Kohwi et al., 2007; Shepherd and Greer, 1998), though a subpopulation of PGC is also dopaminergic and expresses tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) (Kosaka et al., 1985), the rate-limiting enzyme in the synthesis of dopamine.

As their name implies, PGCs surround glomeruli and extend processes into or between glomeruli where they form dendrodendritic synapses with OSN

axons and M/T cell dendrites. They may also project a short axon to a neighboring glomerulus. Therefore, PGCs modulate the input that M/T cells receive from OSNs. PGCs can be divided into several non-overlapping groups based on their expression of TH or the calcium binding proteins calbindin (CalB) and calretinin (CalR) (De Marchis et al., 2007; Kohwi et al., 2007; Kosaka and Kosaka, 2005). These cells participate in different circuits: TH-expressing (TH+) cells form contacts with both OSNs and M/T cells, whereas CalB+ and CalR+ cells preferentially contact M/T cells (reviewed in (Kosaka et al., 1998)).

Granule cell bodies are found in the GRL and, more rarely, in the MCL. They lack axons and interact with M/T dendrites via reciprocal dendrodendritic synapses in the EPL. Interestingly, the dendrites of different GCs arborize in different parts of the EPL. The dendrites of deep GCs, named for the location of their cell bodies in the deep GRL (close to the OB core) ramify extensively in the deep EPL, whereas the dendrites of superficial GCs arborize primarily in the superficial EPL (Mori et al., 1983; Price and Powell, 1970). This organization positions deep and superficial GCs to interact with the secondary dendrites of mitral and tufted cells, respectively (Orona et al., 1983; Scott, 1986). This specificity suggests that deep and superficial GCs form unique elements of the olfactory bulb circuitry (Shepherd and Greer, 1998). Supporting this notion, these cells have been shown to be electrophysiologically distinct (Carleton et al., 2003). Another GC subtype expresses CalR (Jacobowitz and Winsky, 1991) and another has processes that arborize in both the deep and superficial EPL (Mori et al., 1983; Price and Powell, 1970).

In addition to these interneurons, there is another class of poorly characterized interneurons collectively known as short axon cells (SACs). In addition to PGCs, these cells include Blanes cells, Golgi cells, Cajal cells, horizontal cells, Van Gehuchten cells, and superficial SACs. The role of these cells in olfactory processing is unclear. The ongoing discovery of marker genes suggests that known interneuron types can be further subdivided raising the possibility that new functional elements of the OB circuitry will be discovered. The calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV (CaMKIV) was shown to be expressed mostly in deep GCs while the Ets transcription factor Er81, which is known to regulate CaMKIV expression, was weakly expressed in deep GCs but highly expressed in superficial GCs and in TH+ PGCs (Saino-Saito et al., 2007). Furthermore, a diverse but restricted population of OB neurons including SACs expresses nitric oxide synthase (NOS) (Kosaka and Kosaka, 2007) choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) and acetylcholinesterase (AChE) (Porteros et al., 2007), parvalbumin (PV) (Jia and Halpern, 2004) and neurocalcin (NC) (Alonso et al., 2001).

In summary, there are two main types of well-known olfactory bulb interneurons, which can each be split into three subtypes: periglomerular cells (TH+, CalB+ and CalR+) and granule cells (deep, superficial, and CalR+). The adult production of these different OB interneuron types raises several questions. Why are so many different cell types replaced in the adult brain? How are they produced in the proper ratios? How to they contribute to proper olfactory bulb

function? Where are they generated? Are they all produced from one stem cell or from different progenitors?

Molecular specification of OB interneurons

It is clear that OB interneurons are a diverse population of cells, but how is this diversity generated? Since the field of mouse genetics has matured, some of the molecular determinants of OB neuron type are now known. For example, calretinin (CalR) expressing OB interneurons were dramatically reduced in mice lacking the zinc finger transcription factor Sp8 (Waclaw et al., 2006). The homeobox transcription factor Pax6 has been shown to regulate the production of OB neurons (Dellovade et al., 1998), particularly TH+ periglomerular cells (Hack et al., 2005; Kohwi et al., 2005) and superficial granule cells (Kohwi et al., 2005). TH+ periglomerular cell production is also thought to be regulated by the homeobox transcription factors DIx1 and DIx2 (Saino-Saito et al., 2003). Furthermore, Er81+ neurons were dramatically reduced in mice lacking Gsh1/2 or Gsh2 (Stenman et al., 2003). In many of these studies, the potential of these transcription factors have been identified based on the gene knockout phenotypes in mice. These studies may not always reveal the direct function of the gene, since its absence may indirectly affect other genes, or other pathways may compensate for its loss. Their roles in olfactory neuron fate specification should therefore be confirmed in gain of function experiments and in vivo linage tracing in mice containing the intact gene.

The functional role of postnatal neurogenesis

Thousands of OB interneurons are replaced each day (Bayer, 1983; Petreanu and Alvarez-Buylla, 2002). The functional role of this constant replacement is not known, but it has been suggested that interneuron turnover increases plasticity in the OB to enhance olfactory discrimination (Cecchi et al., 2001; Gheusi et al., 2000), reviewed in (Doetsch and Hen, 2005; Lledo et al., 2006). New neurons might enhance olfactory discrimination by modulating the spatial or the temporal activity of OB projection neurons.

Interneurons could refine the activity of M/T cells by lateral inhibition. When a mitral cell is activated by sensory input, its dendrites depolarize, stimulating inhibitory granule cells though dendrodendritic synapses. This should cause the granule cell to release GABA and inhibit nearby mitral cells, inhibiting them and lowering the background activity (Mori et al., 1999; Yokoi et al., 1995). However, a recent study in which channelrhodopsin-expressing mitral cells were activated by different sized spots of light did not find evidence for such lateral inhibition (Arenkiel et al., 2007).

A second hypothesis is derived from the observation that representations of similar odors in insect antenna lobes become increasingly dissimilar over time. It has been suggested that odor discrimination may require this temporal evolution of neural activity, which is influenced by the interaction of interneurons with projection neurons (Laurent and Davidowitz, 1994; Laurent et al., 1996; Lemon and Getz, 2000; Stopfer et al., 1997). Interneurons might trigger different projection neuron firing modes by disinhibiting calcium channels (Av-Ron and

Vibert, 1996). However, these observations have been difficult to reproduce (Vetter et al., 2006) and since the temporal signal may take 500 ms or more to evolve, it cannot explain rapid odor detection and behavioral responses such as predator evasion.

Fundamentally, these hypotheses remain insufficient to explain why adult neurogenesis exists. Lateral inhibition in the retina and temporal coding in the auditory system are robust in the absence of constant interneuron turnover. However, since the continual addition of new neurons to the olfactory bulb has been apparently conserved over 600 million years of evolution (reviewed in (Alvarez-Buylla and Lois, 1995; Cayre et al., 2002; Garcia-Verdugo et al., 2002)), is likely to play an important functional role. Perhaps the targeted, functional manipulation of postnatally born interneuron populations will shed light on this mystery.

Summary

The olfactory bulb processes and relays olfactory information to the cortex. The constant replacement of adult born interneurons is likely to play an important role in olfaction, but it is unclear why this turnover is necessary for olfactory processing. The diversity of interneuron types also suggests that replacing different elements of the olfactory bulb circuit is important for this role. Some of the molecular mechanisms regulating OB interneuron production and diversity have been identified, but the mechanisms by which adult NSCs produce diverse OB neuron types are obscure.

Section 4: Objectives and approach

In the remainder of the work, I will address the questions outlined in the overview of this chapter. Here, I restate these questions and briefly discuss the approaches I will take to address them.

The neural stem cell lineage

It is not known what distinguishes SVZ astrocyte-like stem cells and astrocytes elsewhere in the brain. Similarly, the developmental origin of adult neural stem cells remains obscure. To address these questions, I hypothesized that adult NSCs are derived from neonatal radial glia. I developed a novel technique to permanently and specifically label these radial glia, and followed their progeny *in vivo*.

The extent of the SVZ and the diversity of adult neural stem cells

Though it is known that the lateral wall of the LV harbors adult NSCs, it is not clear how far this germinal niche extends into adjacent regions. The organization and potential of stem cells within this niche is also unclear – it is commonly assumed that adult NSCs are equivalent and multipotent, but they could also be a heterogeneous population of more restricted progenitors. To address these questions, I systematically targeted NSCs in different subregions of the SVZ and traced their fate *in vivo*.

The potential and plasticity of adult neural stem cells

Experiments in which cultured progenitors from hippocampus of the spinal cord were grafted into the SVZ suggest that NSCs are plastic and can make region-appropriate cell types (Shihabuddin et al., 2000; Suhonen et al., 1996). To determine if NSCs are plastic or committed, I cultured them or grafted them from one region of the SVZ to another and examined the cell types they produced. I also developed a technique to specifically label adult NSCs in different regions to determine if the neurogenic potential of NSCs changes over the course of postnatal development.



Figure 1. Formation of the CNS in early development.

(A) The nervous system begins as an epithelial sheet of neural stem cells, known as the neuroepithelium. Ventral identity is induced in part by Shh, which is highly expressed in the notochord. (B) The neuroepithelium, also known as the neural plate at this stage, invaginates. (C and D) The dorsal edges of the neural plate join to form the neural tube, which is then covered by the epidermis. (E) A scanning electron micrograph of a cross section of the neural tube reveals the bipolar, radial morphology of neuroepithelial cells (NECs).



Figure 2. Gradients of signaling molecules pattern the brain.

Signaling molecules such as Shh, FGF8, Wnts and BMPs are released in "signaling centers". The local release of these factors produces concentration gradients along the rostrocaudal, dorsoventral, and medial-lateral axes. NSCs respond to these factors and acquire regional identity based on the coincidence and concentration of these signals in space and time. This regional identity patterns the brain into different domains containing NSCs that produce different cell types. Adapted from (Monuki and Walsh, 2001). BMP, bone morphogenetic protein; CX, cortex; FGF8, fibroblast growth factor 8; LGE, lateral ganglionic eminence; MGE, medial ganglionic eminence; Shh, sonic hedgehog, Wnt, wingless



Figure 3. The region-specific expression of transcription factors defines domains of the developing mouse brain.

This schematized cross section of an embryonic mouse brain illustrates morphologically and genetically defined regions. Two principal regions shown here, the pallium and subpallium, are further divided into subregions. Different regions express different combinations of transcription factors. Of note are the transcription factors Pax6, Gsh2, and Nkx2.1, which define NSC populations in the LGE and MGE and interact to form boundaries between different regions. AEP, anterior entopeduncular area; dLGE, dorsal LGE; CH, cortical hem; DP, dorsal pallium; LGE, lateral ganglionic eminance; LP, lateral pallium; MGE, medial ganglionic eminance; MP, medial pallium; vLGE, ventral LGE; VP, ventral pallium. Adapted from (Schuurmans and Guillemot, 2002).



Figure 4. Radial glial cells are NSCs that guide the radial migration of neuroblasts.

(**A**) Radial glial cells send a radial process to the brain surface from their cell bodies at the ventricular zone (VZ) where, in this case, they contact the lateral ventricle (LV). (**B**) These radial process (two long vertical processes) guide the radial migration of newly born neuroblasts (N, red). CP, cortical plate. Adapted from (Rakic, 2003).



Figure 5. Intermediate progenitors divide symmetrically in the SVZ to generate equivalent progeny.

This illustration shows sequential frames (left to right) of a time-lapse movie of an embryonic NSC and its progeny in the embryonic mouse cortex. Radial glia (blue) are primary progenitors that undergo interkinetic nuclear migration in the VZ (solid blue lines). They divide asymmetrically at the ventricular surface to produce neurons (red) that migrate up the radial process (right), but can also give rise to intermediate progenitors. Intermediate progenitors (green) can migrate up the radial process and divide symmetrically one or more times in the SVZ (dashed green lines) to generate equivalent progeny, in this case neuroblasts (red). These divisions in the SVZ are thought to amplify the number of progeny from a single NSC division in both the embryonic brain and in the adult SVZ. Adapted from (Noctor et al., 2004).



Figure 6. Temporal regulation of NSC neurogenic potential.

(A) Neural progenitors in Drosophila (white to blue shading, left) express a temporally variant sequence of transcription factors: Hb -> Kr -> Pdm -> Cas. The temporal expression of transcription factors leads to the generation of diverse progeny (colored circles, right). Over time, these progenitors lose the potential (red shading) to produce earlier-born neuron types and are increasingly committed (blue shading) to producing later born cell types. (B) In mammals, a cortical NSC (white circle) produces diverse neuronal progeny in a well-defined temporal order. The transcription factor Foxg1 (blue shading) is expressed after early-born neuron types are generated. (C) When Foxg1 is eliminated, only early-born cell types are produced. (D) When Foxg1 is conditionally eliminated later in development (green arrow), NSCs are able to continue producing early-born cell types. It is unclear if even older progenitors would retain this potential. Cas, Castor; Foxg1, forkhead homeobox transcription factor G1; Hb, Hunchback; Kr, Krüppel; Pdm, POU domain containing transcription factor. Adapted from (Hanashima et al., 2004; Pearson and Doe, 2004).



Figure 7. Neurogenic zones in the adult mouse brain.

(**A**) The adult mouse brain (pink) is shown positioned in the head and skull, illustrating the location of the olfactory bulb (OB) in relation to the nasal cavity. Superimposed on the brain are the two principle adult neurogenic regions: the subventricular zone (SVZ) on the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle (red), and the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (light green). The rostral migratory stream (RMS) by which neuroblasts reach the OB is also illustrated (red). (**B**) The RMS is composed of chains of neuroblasts (red) that originate in the SVZ (blue). Upon reaching the olfactory bulb, neuroblasts migrate radially (dashed red arrows) and differentiate into OB interneurons. Adapted from (Alvarez-Buylla and Garcia-Verdugo, 2002; Lennington et al., 2003).



Figure 8. Proliferation in the subcallosal zone.

(A) The subcallosal zone (SCZ) is situated between the corpus callosum (CC) and the hippocampus and is anatomically continuous with the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle. (B) After administration of BrdU to label cells in S phase, clusters of BrdU+ cells can be seen in the SCZ (inset, higher magnification), demonstrating the SCZ contains proliferative cells. CA1, CA1 region of the hippocampus; DG, dentate gyrus of the hippocampus.
(C) When cultured, the SCZ generated more primary neurospheres than the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the DG, but not as many as the SVZ. This indicates the SGZ contains a progenitor that proliferates in response to EGF and FGF. (D) A whole mount preparation of the lateral ventricular wall and SCZ illustrates the presence of doublecortin+ cells in the SCZ, suggesting that neurons may be produced locally. Adapted from (Menn et al., 2006; Seri et al., 2006).



Figure 9. Cell types and organization of the SVZ.

(A) Tracing of a coronal section of an adult mouse brain, showing the SVZ (dark gray) adjacent to the lateral ventricle (LV, light grey). (B) The SVZ contains three proliferative cell types (A, B and C cells). B cells divide, generating another B cell and a C cell. The C cell divides rapidly, producing A cells. (C) Organization and morphology of SVZ cell types. B cells (blue) are astrocyte-like cells that surround chains migrating neuroblasts, or A cells, shown here in cross section. B cells sometimes contact the ventricle, into which they extend a primary cilium. C cells (green) have a spheroid morphology and are closely associated with A and B cells. Adapted from (Alvarez-Buylla and Garcia-Verdugo, 2002).



Figure 10. Model of the NSC lineage in development.

NSCs were shown to be glial cells in the adult and in the developing brain. However, the link between embryonic and adult NSCs has not been proven. In this model of NSC lineage, neuroepithelial cells (NECs) transform into radial glial cells, some of which then transform into astrocyte-like adult SVZ stem cells. Adapted from (Doetsch, 2003).



Figure 11. The olfactory system.

The early steps of olfactory processing are illustrated in this simplified schematic diagram of the olfactory system. Odorants enter through the nostrils into sinus cavities containing turbinate bones. The turbinates are covered by the olfactory epithelium containing olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs). Each OSN expresses only one out of approximately 1000 olfactory receptor genes. OSNs expressing the same receptor are widely distributed, but their axons project to the same location in the olfactory bulb (OB). This location is known as a glomerulus, a dense region of neuropil where the axons of OSNs form synapses with the primary dendrites of mitral cells (MC) and tufted cells (not shown). Mitral cells project from the OB to olfactory cortex, where olfactory perception is thought to take place. OB interneurons modulate the activity of mitral and tufted cells and include granule cells (green) and periglomerular cells (red).



Figure 12. Organization and some cell types of the olfactory bulb.

Camera lucida traces of different OB cell types were color coded and superimposed in the appropriate layer of a hematoxylin stained coronal section of the adult mouse OB. Only a portion of the OB is shown; superficial is up and deep (core) is down. The layers of the OB are the granule cell layer (GRL), internal plexiform layer (IPL), mitral cell layer (MCL), external plexiform layer (EPL), and glomerular layer (GL). The two major types of projection neurons, mitral cells (MC) and tufted cells (TC), project primary dendrites to a single glomerulus and project secondary dendrites in the EPL. OB interneurons – granule cells (GC) and periglomerular cells (PGC) – can be divided into six different types based on their morphology and marker gene expression. Deep GCs preferentially contact MCs, whereas superficial GCs preferentially contact TCs. Marker genes include calbindin, calretinin, and tyrosine hydroxylase (TH).

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

Overview

Essential techniques for experiments are described with the exception of standard techniques, which are referenced where appropriate. Relevant solutions and materials are included. Credit for techniques and protocols is given where possible and appropriate. This chapter is organized into eight sections: 1) Equipment and tools, 2) Animals and genotyping, 3) Cloning, 4) Histology and immunohistochemistry, 5) Tissue dissection and culture, 6) Surgical and animal procedures, 7) Terminal procedures, and 8) Data analysis.

Section 1: Equipment and tools

Production of customized head molds

To facilitate stereotaxic injection of neonatal mouse pups (see "<u>stereotaxic</u> injection of neonatal pups" below), head molds were made to stabilize the brain by cradling the side of the anesthetized mouse head. First, molds of P0 pups were made by immersing lethally anesthetized pups in a 4% solution of low melting point agarose. Once the agarose had hardened, pups were removed and the resulting cavity was filled with liquid dental acrylic to create a detailed positive mold of the pup. Once hardened, the head and neck of the acrylic mold was pressed onto oven-bake clay (Sculpey, Polyform Products Company, Elk Grove Village, IL), which was then shaped to ensure correct alignment of the brain and baked to ensure the mold was durable enough for reproducible injections. The resulting mold was then surrounded with modeling clay to make further adjustments to head position and to allow the mold to be firmly attached to the platform of a customized stereotaxic injection rig.

Production of pulled glass micropipettes for viral injection and cell grafting into the neonatal and adult mouse brain

Pulled glass micropipettes were used to inject virus or cells into the mouse brain with minimal injury. Pipettes were pulled from 5 µm glass capillary tubes (Drummond WIRETROL 5 µl, case of 100 disposable micropipettes with Dispenser Top, Drummond Scientific Company, Broomall, PA) using a vertical

pipette puller (David Kopf Instruments, model 700C). The heating element and solenoid of the puller were adjusted to achieve the desired shape: a smoothly tapered point extending about 6 mm from the beginning of the taper to the tip. Pipette tips that were pulled too thin and straight were discarded, since these may clog with cells or break off in the animal. For the particular pipette puller used, the optimal current to heat the heating element to achieve the proper pipette shape was empirically determined to be 18 Amps. After the pipette was pulled, a 30-degree bevel was ground on the tip to sharpen it like a hypodermic needle. This modification facilitated penetration of the neonatal skin and skull and significantly reduced injury, and ensured that the pipette had and appropriately sized outer diameter. For viral injections, an outer diameter of 30 µm was used, whereas an outer diameter of 50 µm was used for cell grafts. The diameter was measured by a reticule in the eyepiece of a microscope used to confirm the outer diameter and angle of the bevel. To grind the bevel, compressed air was blown through the pipette to prevent the entry of glass fragments, and the pipette was held against a rotating disc covered in diamond dust abrasive at an angle of 30 degrees.

Section 2: Animals and genotyping

All experiments were performed on mice, which were housed and treated

according to the guidelines put forth by the University of California, San

Francisco Laboratory Animal Care and Use Committee. Mouse strains used in

this study (ActB-GFP, CD1, R26R, Z/AP and Z/EG) are described in Table 1.

Strain	Full name	Source	Description	Ref.
ActB- GFP	STOCK Ta(ACTB-	Jackson Labs	These transgenic mice constitutively express lacZ under the control of the	(Hadj anton
	Bgeo/GFP)	2000	CMV enhancer/chicken actin promoter.	akis
	21Lbe/J		Used as donor animals for cell grafting	et al.,
			experiments.	1998)
CD1		Charles	Outbred wild-type strain used as	N/A
		River	background for breeding, as wild-type	
		Labs	control, and as nost for grafting	
DOGD	D6 12084	laakaan	Tranagonia migo containing floyed	(Sorio
RZ0R	Gt(ROSA)	Lahs	STOP cassette inserted in the Rosa26	(3011a no
	26Sortm1S	LUDU	locus. Excision by Cre results in	1999)
	or/J		constitutive lacZ expression.	,
			Maintained as homozygotes on a	
			mixed C57/BI6:CD1 background	
			(outbred to CD1 for at least 3	
			generations). Homozygous males were	
			crossed to CD1 females to obtain	
	STOCK	laakaan	Tranagonia mice containing floyed	/Laba
Z/AP		Jackson	marker gene (lacZ) and translational	(LODe
	Baeo/GEP)	Labs	STOP cassette under control of the	1999)
	21Lbe/J		CMV enhancer/chicken b actin	1000)
			promoter. Excision by Cre replaces	
			lacZ expression with hPLAP	
			expression in most lineages, but	
			stronger in glia than astrocytes, weak	
			in oligodendrocytes. Maintained as	
			heterozygotes on a CD1 background.	

 Table 1. Mouse stains used and their relevant information.

			Heterozygous males were crossed to CD1 females to obtain heterozygous pups for experiments (homozygous mice have abnormal OB development).	
Z/EG	STOCK Tg(ACTB- Bgeo/GFP) 21Lbe/J	Jackson Labs	Transgenic mice containing floxed marker gene (lacZ) and translational STOP cassette under control of the CMV enhancer/chicken b actin promoter. Excision by Cre replaces lacZ expression with eGFP expression in most lineages, but stronger in glia than astrocytes, weak in oligodendrocytes. Maintained as heterozygotes on a CD1 background. Heterozygous males were crossed to CD1 females to obtain heterozygous pups for experiments (homozygous mice have abnormal OB development).	(Nova k et al., 2000)

Genotyping by β -gal histochemistry

Mice carrying the lacZ transgene (Z/AP and Z/EG) were genotyped by β gal histochemistry (see "<u> β -gal staining</u>" below). A 1-2 mm piece from the tip of a newborn to adult mice tail was placed in 100 µl β -gal solution in an Eppendorf tube and incubated for 30 minutes or more at 37°C. Tails of mice homozygous or heterozygous for the Z/AP or Z/EG transgene developed a blue precipitate.

Rapid PCR genotyping (Modified from Jeremy Reiter)

Other transgenic mouse lines were genotyped by PCR. There are two protocols for extracting DNA for genotyping: a rapid and a standard protocol. For many mouse strains and PCR conditions, the rapid protocol provides DNA of sufficient purity for PCR genotyping. A 1-2 mm piece of tail from newborn to adult mice was digested for 30 minutes to 2 hours in 100 μ l of 25 mM NaOH with 2 mM EDTA in a 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube and placed on a heating block at 100°C. Tissue was dissolved by gentle trituration with a fresh 1 ml pipette tip. To stabilize DNA, 100 ml 40 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5 was added to each tube and mixed by hand or by gentle trituration. 1-2 μ l of this solution was used directly as a source of DNA for PCR. Note: DNA in this state is stable for up to 48 hours at 4°C.

Volumes and reagents for a single 20 μ I PCR varied slightly for different primers, but were usually the following: 1.5 μ I DNA solution, 2 μ I complete 10x buffer, 0.2 μ I forward primer, 0.2 μ I reverse primer, 0.2 μ I Platinum Taq (Invitrogen), and 15.9 μ I autoclaved ddH₂O. Complete 10x buffer contains 10x Platinum Taq buffer (Invitrogen) supplemented with BSA, dNTPs and MgCl2 to final concentrations of 1 mg/ml, 2 mM each, and 15 mM, respectively. Reactions were run on a PTC-200 thermal cycler (MJ Research) for 30-35 cycles. Cycle number, primer design, and annealing and extension temperatures are published (Lobe et al., 1999; Novak et al., 2000; Soriano, 1999). 10 μ I of the resulting product was separated by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel, and visualized with ethidium bromide. Mice whose DNA produced a PCR band of the expected size were selected for experiments.

Standard PCR genotyping (modified from Nicholas Willis)

For standard PCR genotyping, DNA was extracted 1-2 mm tissue from the tails of newborn to adult mice. Tails were digested in 400 µl DNA lysis buffer in

an Eppendorf tube overnight at 55°C. A 50 ml volume of lysis buffer contained 5 ml 1M Tris pH 8.0, 2 ml 5M NaCl, 500 µl 0.5M EDTA, 500µl, 20% SDS, 250 µl 20 mg/ml proteinase K (added fresh each time) and ddH_2O to bring the volume to 50 ml. Tissue was then triturated gently (not vortexed) until dissolved. DNA was purified by chloroform extraction: 40 µl 3M NaOAc and 600 µl chloroform were added and tubes were incubated at -20°C for at least 20 minutes. Note: DNA can be stored in this form for up to two weeks at -20°C. Next, tubes were spun at maximum speed (13,000 RPM) in a tabletop Eppendorf centrifuge for 20 minutes for juveniles and adult tissue and 30 minutes for embryos and neonatal tissue. The supernatant was transferred to a clean Eppendorf tube and 600 µl 100% ethanol chilled to -20°C was added and mixed by hand. DNA was pelleted by centrifuging at maximum speed for 15 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the pellet was washed with 70% ethanol chilled to -20°C, then spun again at maximum speed for 15 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was then air dried and resuspended in 100 μ l ddH₂O (150 μ l ddH₂O if pellet is visibly big). 1-2 μ l of this purified DNA was used for PCR (see "Rapid PCR genotyping" above).
Section 3: Cloning

Generation of Ad:GFAP-Cre virus

To construct this adenovirus, we placed Cre under the control of the mouse GFAP promoter (GFAPp) previously confirmed to be specifically active in GFAP+ cells (Doetsch et al., 1999a). The NLSCre fragment was removed from Bactin-Cre plasmid (Lewandoski et al., 1997) with Sall and EcoRI and ligated into a Sall and EcoRI digested pCI vector (Promega). NLSCre was then released from pCI vector with Sall and Xhol and ligated into Xhol digested adenoviral transfer plasmid pAd5-GFAPp (Doetsch et al., 1999a), which contains the 2.5 kb mouse GFAP promoter region. The resulting plasmid was cut with Notl, then filled in and partially digested with EcoRV to release the GFAPp-NLSCre construct, which was then ligated into XmnI digested pENTR11 plasmid (Invitrogen) 5' of a previously inserted BGH polyA sequence. The resulting GFAPp-NLSCre-pA fragment was then transferred from pENTR11 into pAd/PL-DEST using LR clonase (Invitrogen). This created pAd/PL-GFAPp-NLSCre-pA, which contains the wild-type Ad5 genome deleted for E1 and E3. This vector was then transfected into HEK293 cells to produce replication-defective adenovirus (pAd5-GFAPp-NLSCre or Ad:GFAP-Cre), which was purified twice by cesium chloride banding. The titer was 1×10^{12} infections particles/ml.

Section 4: Histology and Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry

Mice were perfused (see <u>"Transcardial perfusion for</u> <u>immunohistochemistry</u>" below) to obtain well-fixed brain tissue. Fixed and washed brains were sectioned at the Vibratome (Leica model VT 1000S). Adult brains were blocked by placing them in a stainless steel brain mold (ASI instruments model RBM 2000C) and coronally cut at the desired level with a razor blade. Neonatal and early postnatal brains were blocked manually with a razor blade. Brains were dabbed on a paper towel to remove excess liquid and attached to a metal block with superglue for Vibratome sectioning. Brains were embedded in 2% agarose in phosphate buffered saline (PBS), and sectioned at 50 µm. Sections were collected in a 1/6 series in 24 well tissue culture plates in PBS.

To prepare cultured cells for immunohistochemistry, culture medium was gently removed from culture wells and 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) was gently added and incubated with the cultures for 30 minutes at room temperature (RT). PFA was then removed and cultures were gently rinsed three times with PBS using a plastic transfer pipette.

The addition of sodium azide (NaN₃) to a final concentration of 0.1% allowed sections and cultures to be stored at 4°C for more than a year. Some antigens deteriorated over time, but most could be visualized by immunostaining many months later.

Free-floating sections and cultures were immunostained with primary antibodies directed against antigens listed in Table 2. These antibodies were visualized with secondary antibodies specific to the host and serotype of the primary antibody and conjugated to fluorophores or biotin (followed by streptavidin), as listed in Table 3.

Table 2. Primary antibodies

Specificity/Antigen	Host	Supplier	Dilution	
Calbindin D-28K	rabbit polyclonal IgG	Cell Signaling	1:1000	
(CalB)		Technology		
	rabbit polyclonal IgG	Chemicon	1:500	
	rabbit polyclonal IgG	Swant	1:1000	
Calretinin (CalR)	rabbit polyclonal IgG	Swant	1:1000	
			1 700	
β -galactosidase (β -	mouse monoclonal IgG2a	Promega	1:500	
gal)				
BrdU	rat monoclonal IgG2a	AbCam	1:10	
	mouse monoclonal IgG	Chemicon	1:50	
heat stable antigen	rat mono IgG2b/kappa	BD Pharmingen	1:500 –	
(CD24)			noIX	
Cre recombinase	mouse monoclonal	Chemicon	1:1000	
	IgG1kappa	· · · · ·	4 4 9 9 9	
DIX2	rabbit polyclonal IgG	generous gift from	1:1000	
		David Eisenstat		
		and Stuart		
	nakhit nakuslan al InO	Anderson	4.400	
De bleved's	rabbit polycional IgG	Abcam	1:400	
Doublecortin	guinea pig polycional igG	Chemicon	1:1000	
GABA	rabbit polycional IgG	Sigma	1:2500	
GFAP	rabbit polyclonal IgG	DAKO	1.1000	
	mouse monoclonal IgG1	Chemicon	1:1000	
GFP	chicken polyclonal IgY	Aves Labs Inc	1:1000	
	rabbit polyclonal IgG	Novus Biologicals	1:500	
	sheep polyclonal IgG	Biogenesis	1:500	
Glutamate	guinea pig antiserum	Chemicon	1:1000	
transporter (Glt-1)	5 1 5			
HuC/HuD	mouse monoclonal IgG	Molecular Probes,	10 ug/ml	
		Invitrogen	Ũ	
Mash1	mouse monoclonal IgG1	BD Pharmingen	1:200	
Nestin	mouse monoclonal IgG1	Chemicon	1:100	
	_			
Neuronal nuclei	mouse monoclonal IgG1	Chemicon	1:250	
(NeuN)	_			
Nkx2.1	rabbit polyclonal IgG	Biopat, Italy	1:1000	
04	mouse monoclonal IgG	Chemicon	1:100 -	
			no TX	
Olig2	mouse monoclonal IgG	generous gift from	1:20,000	

		David Rowitch	
Pax6	mouse monoclonal	generous gift from	1:500
	lgG1/kappa	Atsushi Kawakami	
Pbx3	rabbit polyclonal IgG	Santa Cruz	1:50
		Biotechnology	
PSA-NCAM	mouse monoclonal IgM	AbCys, France	1:400
RC2 (radial cell 2)	mouse monoclonal IgM as	Developmental	1:5
	antiserum	Studies	
		Hybridoma Bank,	
		deposited by	
		Miyuki Yamamoto	
S100- β	rabbit polyclonal	DAKO	1:1000
	IgG1/kappa		
β-tubulin type III	mouse monoclonal IgG2a	Covance	1:500
(Tuj1)			
Tyrosine	rabbit polyclonal IgG	Pel-Freez	1:1000
hydroxylase (TH)		Biologicals	
Vimentin (clone LN-	mouse monoclonal IgM	Sigma	1:1000
6)			

Table 3. Secondary antibodies and conjugates used to visualize primary

antibodies

Specificity	Host	Conjugation	Supplier	Dilution
Biotin		Streptavidin	Molecular Probes,	1:200
		350	Invitrogen	
		Streptavidin	Molecular Probes,	1:200
		488	Invitrogen	
		Streptavidin	Molecular Probes,	1:200
		594	Invitrogen	
Chicken IgY	Goat IgG	Biotin	Jackson	1:200
	-		ImmunoResearch	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		488	Invitrogen	
Guinea Pig IgG	Donkey IgG	Biotin	Jackson	1:200
			ImmunoResearch	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		594	Invitrogen	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
	J J	633	Invitrogen	
Mouse IgG	Goat IgG	Biotin	Jackson	1:200
5			ImmunoResearch	
	Donkey IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		488	Invitrogen	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		488	Invitrogen	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		555	Invitrogen	
	Donkey IgG	Cy3	Jackson	1:200
		5	ImmunoResearch	
	Donkey IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		594	Invitrogen	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		594	Invitrogen	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		647	Invitrogen	
Mouse IgG1	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
5	U U	488	Invitrogen	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
	Ĭ	633	Invitrogen	
Mouse IaG2a	Goat IgG	Biotin	Jackson	1:200
U U	Ĭ		ImmunoResearch	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes.	1:500
		488	Invitrogen	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500

		555	Invitrogen	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		647	Invitrogen	
Mouse IgM	Goat IgG	Biotin	Jackson	1:200
_			ImmunoResearch	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		594	Invitrogen	
Rabbit IgG	Goat IgG	Biotin	Jackson	1:200
			ImmunoResearch	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		350	Invitrogen	
	Donkey IgG	Cy3	Jackson	1:200
			ImmunoResearch	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		488	Invitrogen	
	Donkey IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		594	Invitrogen	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		647	Invitrogen	
Rat IgG	Donkey IgG	Biotin	Jackson	1:200
			ImmunoResearch	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		488	Invitrogen	
	Donkey IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		594	Invitrogen	
	Goat IgG	Alexa Fluor	Molecular Probes,	1:500
		647	Invitrogen	

Primary and secondary antibodies were diluted in blocking solution containing the detergent Triton X-100 (TX) unless otherwise indicated. Blocking solution contained 8% normal serum from the host animal of the secondary antibody, 2% BSA, 0.1% TX and 0.1% NaN₃ diluted in PBS. This solution was passed through a 0.22 µm sterile filter and stored at 4°C. Tissue (brain sections or cultured cells) was briefly rinsed with PBS before primary antibody in blocking solution was added, and incubated on an orbital shaker in the dark overnight (or longer) at 4°C. Then, primary antibody was removed and saved at 4°C for later

use: antibodies for most antigens were recycled many times and kept fresh in the presence of 0.1 % NaN₃ for up to 6 months. Tissue was then rinsed briefly 3 times in PBS followed by a 1-hour wash in PBS. Then the appropriate secondary antibody was added in blocking solution and incubated on an orbital shaker in the dark overnight (or longer) at 4°C. Following this treatment, tissue was rinsed twice with PBS, and counterstained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) at a final concentration of 10 mg/ml for 5 minutes if fluorescently conjugated secondary antibodies were used. After two more 30 minute washes in PBS, sections were then floated on PBS and mounted on Superfrost Plus glass slides (Fisher). After drying on the slides, fluorescently labeled sections were rehydrated for 30 seconds in ddH₂O and mounted with Agua Poly/Mount mounting medium (Polysciences Inc., Warrington PA) using Fisher brand glass coverslips. Slides were dried in the dark at RT overnight, then transferred to slide boxes and stored in the dark at 4°C. Omission of primary antibodies eliminated staining.

Sections or cultures treated with a biotin-conjugated secondary were visualized with Alexa Fluor conjugated streptavidin for 30 minutes at RT after rinsing off the secondary antibody. Following an additional 3 rinses in PBS, tissue was counterstained with DAPI and mounted as described above. Biotin was also sometimes visualized with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated streptavidin followed by diaminobenzidine (DAB) (see "DAB staining of cultures and <u>Vibratome sections"</u> below).

DAB staining of cultures and Vibratome sections

Before incubation with primary or secondary antibodies, the endogenous peroxidase activity of tissue to be stained with DAB was quenched with $1\% H_2O_2$ in PBS for 2 hours at RT on an orbital shaker, followed by two 15 minute washes in PBS. After this treatment, tissue was immunostained (see

"Immunohistochemistry" above) using a biotinylated secondary antibody. After being rinsed in PBS, tissue was incubated in fresh ABC solution prepared according to the manufacturer's instructions (Vectastain Elite ABC kit, PK-6100 Standard) for 30 minutes in the dark. HRP and DAB are light-sensitive, so care was taken not to unnecessarily expose tissue to light until DAB was developed. Next, tissue was rinsed 3 times in PBS and incubated for five minutes in 1 ml DAB solution (0.167 mg/ml DAB powder in PBS). Next, 1 μ I 30% H₂O₂ was added to each well to initiate staining. Staining was monitored periodically until well developed (2 minutes to overnight) and was stopped by three washes with PBS.

Sections were floated on PBS, mounted on Superfrost Plus slides, and dried for 1 hour or more at RT in the dark. Slides were rehydrated for 30 seconds in ddH₂O, counterstained with hematoxylin to visualize nuclei if desired (see "<u>Hematoxylin staining</u>" below), and dehydrated in an ethanol series (5 minutes each in 70%, 90%, 95%, 100%, 100%). Slides were then drip-dried, cleared in BABB (2 parts benzyl alcohol to 1 part benzyl benzoate) for 5 minutes, then briefly drip-dried and mounted with DPX neutral mounting medium (Sigma).

Slides were air-dried in the dark for 48 hours, placed in slide boxes and stored at 4°C.

Hematoxylin staining

Slide-mounted sections were counterstained for hematoxylin by rehydrating mounted sections for 30 seconds in ddH₂O, and placing them in filtered hematoxylin solution (Surgipath, Harris formula) for 2 minutes. Slides were then placed in running tap water for 2 minutes or until all traces of hematoxylin were gone, rinsed in ddH₂O for 30 seconds, and de-stained by three dips in acid alcohol (1 ml 10N HCl in 400 ml 70% ethanol). Slides were again placed in running tap water for 1 minute, then into ddH₂O for 30 seconds, and transferred to bluing solution (6.16 g lithium bicarbonate in 400 ml ddH₂O) for 1 minute or until the color of the stain changed from purple to blue. Slides were then placed in running tap water for 1 minute, followed by ddH₂O for 30 seconds, and were dehydrated, cleared in BABB, and mounted as described above (see "DAB staining of cultures and Vibratome sections").

<u>β-gal staining</u>

Perfused brains were cut on the Vibratome at 50 μ m and collected into PBS, or cut at 200 μ m and collected into PB in clean glassware for electron microscopy (EM). Alternatively, freshly cut mouse tails were placed in Eppendorf tubes for genotyping (see "<u>Genotyping by β-gal histochemistry</u>" above). Tissue was then transferred to X-gal buffer (120 μ I X-gal solution, 20 μ L MgCl solution,

0.5 ml K3 solution, 0.5 ml K4 solution, brought to 10 ml 0.1M PB). X-gal solution was made filter-sterilizing 200 mg X-gal dissolved in 5 ml dimethylformamide (stored in dark at -20°C. MgCl₂ solution was made by dissolving 0.9521 g MgCl₂ in 10 ml ddH₂O and 0.2 µm filter-sterilizing (stored in the dark at RT). K3 and K4 solutions were made by filter-sterilizing 1.646 g of K⁺ ferricyanide or 2.112 g K⁺ ferrocyanide dissolved in 50 ml 0.1M PB, respectively (stored in the dark at RT). Sections were incubated in the dark at 37°C and monitored until darkly stained but before blue precipitate has diffused (30 minutes to overnight). Staining was stopped by three washes with PB or PBS. Sections were then mounted on Superfrost Plus slides (Fisher) or processed for electron microscopy (EM) (see "<u>Tissue preparation for electron microscopy</u>" below). Mounted sections were coversliped with Aqua Poly/Mount.

Alkaline phosphatase (AP) staining

Vibratome sections from Z/AP mice were cut at 50 μ m and stored in PBS without NaN₃. When not being used immediately, PBS on stored sections was changed at least every three days. Sections were then heated 65°C for 30 minutes to inactivate endogenous AP. After two rinses in PBS, sections were transferred to sterile filtered AP buffer. AP buffer consisted of 400 ml dH₂O, 50 ml 1M Tris-HCl pH 9.5 (100mM final), 10 ml 5M NaCl (100mM final), 2.5 ml 1 M MgCl₂ (5mM final) brought to a pH of 9.5 with HCl and a volume of 500 ml with ddH₂O. After 10 minutes, AP buffer was removed and active AP buffer was added in the dark. 10 ml active AP buffer contains 10 ml AP buffer, 100 μ l 4-nitro

blue tetrazolium chloride (NBT) (Boehringer Mannheim, cat # 85244223), and 20 µl 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-phosphate (BCIP) (Boehringer Mannheim, cat # 85266220). Staining was monitored until well developed (5 minutes to overnight) and stopped by rinsing several times with PBS. Sections were mounted in PBS on chromalum or silanated slides (see <u>"Chromalum slides</u>" and "<u>Silanated slides</u>" below), and coversliped with Aqua Poly/Mount. After drying in the dark at RT overnight, slides were placed in slide boxes and stored at 4°C.

Chromalum slides

Chromalum slides are particularly sticky and can be used to mount sections when Superfrost Plus sections fail. Slides were prepared by first soaking Superfrost slides in hot tap water with microdetergent for several hours, then rinsing them in warm tap water for 30 minutes. They were then soaked in 5% HCl for 5 minutes and rinsed in running ddH₂O for 30 minutes. They were then completely dried in a 110°C oven for 30 or more minutes and slowly dipped in chromalum solution. To prepare chromalum solution, 500 mg chromium potassium sulfate was added 600 ml ddH2O to make chromium solution. This was then added to 5 g (300 bloom) gelatin completely dissolved in 400 ml boiling ddH₂O. After being dipped in chromalum solution slowly to prevent any bubbles from forming, they were slowly removed and dried overnight in a hood, protected from dust with a paper towel. Slides were then transferred to a box and stored at RT (good for a month or more).

Silanated slides

Silanated slides are particularly sticky and can be used to mount sections when Superfrost Plus fails. To make these slides, a fresh pack of frosted or Superfrost Plus slides (Fisher) was soaked in methanol for two minutes to remove trace oil and water. Next, slides were transferred to acetone for 2 minutes to remove water and residual oil and dirt. They were then transferred to silane solution (10 ml 3-aminopropyltriethoxysilane in 490 ml acetone) for two minutes. They were then rinsed in running ddH₂O for 5 minutes taking care not to expose the slides to any detergents, completely dried in a 110°C oven for 30 or more minutes, and transferred to a box at RT for storage (good for a month or more).

Antigen recovery and processing for BrdU staining (adapted from Bettina Seri)

For double-labeling of BrdU, free-floating 50 µm Vibratome sections in 24 well tissue culture plates were immunostained for antigens as described above (see "<u>Immunohistochemistry</u>"). Before counterstaining with DAPI or antigen recovery for BrdU, which destroys many antigens, secondary antibody was washed off three times with PBS and fixed to the section with 4% PFA for 15 minutes at RT. Sections were then rinsed twice with PBS and incubated in 2N HCl for 30 minutes at 37°C to denature DNA, thereby exposing the BrdU antigen for immunostaining. Following this treatment, sections were rinsed in boric acid buffer (6.82 g orthoboraic acid and 8.55 g sodium tetraborate brought to 1 liter in ddH2O and adjusted to pH 8.5) for 10 minutes. Sections were then washed 3

times in PBS, incubated in primary and secondary antibodies for BrdU, and counterstained for DAPI as described above (see "<u>Immunohistochemistry</u>"). Sections were mounted and stored as described above.

Immunostaining of whole mount preparations of the lateral ventricular wall (adapted from Fiona Doetsch, Bene Menn, and Zaman Mirzadeh)

Whole mounts were prepared to visualize the distribution of labeled stem cells on the lateral ventricular walls. Whole mounts were prepared by sacrificing neonatal or adult animals, removing their brains and immediately dissecting out the lateral ventricular wall in warm Liebovitz's L15 (L15) medium under a dissecting scope as previously published (Doetsch and Alvarez-Buylla, 1996). Whole mounts were drop fixed in cold 4% PFA containing 0.1% TX and fixed overnight. They were then rinsed in PBST (PBS containing 0.1% TX) and primary antibody in blocking solution was added as described above (see "Immunohistochemistry"), except that the blocking solution contained 2% TX rather than 0.1% TX. Whole mounts were incubated for 72 hours at 4°C, then washed gently 3x in PBST at RT for 1 day before being incubated in secondary antibody for an additional 72 hours at 4°C. Secondary antibody was washed off by multiple rinses with PBST and whole mounts were counterstained with DAPI if desired. After staining, the SVZ was carefully dissected from the whole mount and mounted on a Superfrost Plus slide with Aqua Poly/Mount. Slides were coversliped and stored as described above (see "Immunohistochemistry"). Once stained and mounted, whole mounts could be dehydrated in an ethanol series,

cleared with BABB, and mounted in DPX neutral mounting medium as described above in "DAB staining of cultures and Vibratome sections".

Tissue preparation for electron microscopy (EM)

To prepare samples for transmission EM, brains were fixed (see "Perfusion for standard and β -gal electron microscopy" below), collected in clean glassware, and rinsed in five times for ten minutes each rinse in PB at 4°C before storage. 50-200 µm sections were cut in PB at the Vibratome and collected into clean glassware containing PB. If appropriate, tissue was stained for β -gal as described above (see " β -gal staining" above) and rinsed with PB. Tissue was then transferred to 1% osmium tetroxide (OsO_4) with 7% glucose in 0.1M PB $(0.50 \text{ ml} 0.2M \text{ PB}, 0.25 \text{ ml} 4\% \text{ osmium tetroxide}, 0.25 \text{ ml} H_2O, 0.07 \text{ g glucose for}$ each vial containing 7-10 full sections) for 1 hour in the dark at RT. Sections were then removed from OsO₄ and transferred to maleic acid. Maleic acid contained 25 ml component A, 27 ml component B and 48 ml ddH2O and was adjusted to a pH of 7.4 with HCI. Component A contained 12.1 g Tris-HCI and 11.6 g maleic acid in 500 ml ddH₂O, and component B contained 0.8 g NaOH in 100 ml dH₂O. After three 15 minute rinses in maleic acid, sections were transferred to freshly made 2% uranyl acetate (UA) at 4°C in the dark. UA is dissolved in maleic acid by sonication and must be used immediately. Sections were incubated in 2% UA in maleic acid for 3 hours at 4°C in the dark. Next, sections were rinsed three times for 10 minutes in maleic acid and dehydrated in an ethanol series at 4°C for 5 minutes with 25%, 50%, 70%, three times for five minutes in 95% and three

times for 10 minutes in 100%. Sections were then rinsed twice for 10 minutes with propylene oxide at RT in a fume hood and transferred directly to araldite on a shaker to include overnight at RT.

Araldite was prepared by mixing 10 ml component A/M (Durcupan ACM Fluka) with 10 ml component B (Durcupan ACM Fluka) in a specimen cup, then adding 0.4 ml component D (Durcupan ACM Fluka) and mixing well, and adding 0.4 ml component C (Durcupan ACM Fluka) and mixing well. Before sections were added, bubbles were removed by placing the araldite in a vacuum chamber. Araldite was then transferred to foil cups and placed on a shaker for one hour before sections were added and incubated overnight. After incubation, foil cups containing sections were placed on a slide warmer for 5 minutes at 60°C. Sections were carefully removed and placed between two clean sheets of overhead transparency paper and incubated at 60°C for two hours. Sections were then flattened by placing a weight on top of the transparency paper and were transferred to a 60°C oven for three days.

Further processing for transmission EM was performed as previously described (Herrera et al., 1999). Cell counting in the neonatal ventricular zone using electron microscopy was performed as previously described (Doetsch et al., 1997). The ultrastructural criteria to identify radial glia and adult SVZ cell types are published (Doetsch et al., 1997; Hinds and Ruffett, 1971).

Section 5: Tissue dissection and culture

Dissection of SVZ and other brain regions from neonatal and adult mice

Brain regions were dissected from mice using the following tools: one sharp, blue microdissection knife (Sharppoint 22.5 degree microsurgical knife, Surgical Specialties Corporation, Reading PA 19606, REF 72-2201), two sharp 45 degree forceps, one pair of stout, curved forceps for retracting the skull, one pair of small, stout scissors for cutting through the skull and one pair of scissors for decapitation. All tools were sterilized by autoclaving or immersion in hot beads (240°C) and were sprayed with 70% ethanol prior to use. Outside of the tissue culture room, P0-P7 mice were killed by rapid decapitation and older mice were killed by overdose of tribromoethanol (Avertin) followed by cervical dislocation. After the head was liberally sprayed with 70% ethanol, the brain was dissected (see <u>"Dissection of fresh or fixed brains</u>" below) and placed in ice-cold Liebovitz's L-15 medium or pipes buffer (120mM NaCl, 5mM KCl, 25mM glucose, 20mM Pipes (pH 7.5), 0.0005% phenol red).

For various experiments, dissected regions included RMS, dorsal, ventral, anterior or posterior SVZ, the anterior medial ventricular wall, cortex and striatum. Relative to bregma in an adult mouse, RMS was taken anterior to -3.5, SVZ and medial wall from between -1.5 and 2, and cortex and striatum from between -0.5 and 1.5. Meninges were removed from all regions with forceps. To obtain RMS tissue, the core of the olfactory bulb was dissected by cutting away more superficial layers. SVZ, cortex, and striatum were dissected by cutting a

coronal slab and turning the slab caudal-side-up, making it easy to visualize the ventricles. SVZ, medial wall, and SVZ sub-regions were obtained by making two cuts through the brain flanking the desired piece of tissue, creating a wedge-shaped piece of tissue. The desired region was then trimmed off the end of the wedge and collected. Dorsal SVZ was taken from the region between the corpus callosum and the striatum, lateral to the lateral ventricle. Cortex was obtained by cutting above the corpus callosum from the dorsal midline, lateral to the insular cortex. Striatum was dissected from the coronal slab by liberally trimming away all surrounding tissue. Tissue pieces were collected in ice-cold Liebovitz's L-15 medium or pipes buffer.

<u>Cell dissociation (adapted from Dan Lim)</u>

The SVZ or other brain regions were dissected from neonatal to adult mice as described above (see "<u>Dissection of SVZ and other brain regions from</u> <u>neonatal and adult mice</u>"). These regions were then digested in 250 µl 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA for 30 minutes at 37°C. 750 µl fetal bovine serum (FBS) was then added to stop digestion and tissue was pelleted by centrifugation for two minutes at 1000 RPM on a Beckman tabletop centrifuge. The supernatant was removed and tissue was triturated in 1 ml fresh medium by 15-20 passes through a 1 ml pipette tip. Cells were then pelleted for five minutes at 1000 RPM, and the supernatant was aspirated and replaced with fresh medium. Cells were counted on a hemocytometer and plated at the desired density (10-20 cells per microliter

for clonal experiments or 30-50,000 cells per microliter for expansion) on 24, 12 or 6 well plates in 0.5, 1, or 3 ml medium, respectively.

<u>Cortical or SVZ astrocyte monolayer cultures, grown on glass coverslips</u> (adapted from Dan Lim, Tony Tramontin, and from (Schacher, 1992))

These cultures were used to expand astrocytes in culture for transplantation or other experiments such as the viral diffusion assay (see below). Cortex was dissected from P0-P7 animals and SVZ was dissected from neonatal to adult animals as described above (see "Dissection of SVZ and other brain regions from neonatal and adult mice"). Tissue was then digested for 30 minutes in 250 µl 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA solution at 37°C and triturated in the presence of an additional 750 µl astrocyte complete medium and 1 mg/ml DNAse. Astrocyte complete medium was made by sterile filtering 44 ml DMEM, 5 ml fetal calf serum (FCS), 0.5 ml 100x antibiotic/antimycotic, and 0.5 ml 200 mM L-glutamine. Cells were the pelleted by centrifugation at 1000 RPM for 5 minutes on a Beckman tabletop centrifuge, the supernatant was carefully aspirated and the pellet was resuspended in 1 ml astrocyte complete medium. Cells were plated at 1-2,000,000 per T-25 flask in 3 ml astrocyte complete medium, and placed in an incubator at 37° C and 5% CO₂. Medium was replaced every 3 days, and cultures took 7-12 days to reach confluence.

Upon reaching confluence, cultures were purified for strongly adherent astrocytes by placing the closed flask on an orbital shaker overnight at 260-300 RPM (Levison and McCarthy, 1991). Cells were then washed three times with

fresh astrocyte complete medium, released from the plate by incubation with 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA for 5-10 minutes at 37°C, and triturated, pelleted, and resuspended in astrocyte complete medium as described above. To passage cultures, cells were counted and plated at a density of 20,000 cells/cm² (about 1:4 split). Passaged cells reached confluence in 3-7 days and could be frozen for later use (see "<u>Freezing and thawing cells</u>" below).

Cells to be differentiated or used for experiments were counted and plated at 500,000 cells per well of a 24 well plate containing a coated glass coverslip. Glass coverslips were prepared by washing them in acetone, then in ethanol, then flame sterilizing them and transferring one round coverslip to one well of a 24 well plate. Coverslips were then treated for one hour with 0.4 ml of 0.1 mg/ml poly-D-lysine (PDK) in ddH₂0 at 37°C, then thoroughly rinsed four times with ddH₂O and incubated with 0.4 ml of 0.01 mg/ml laminin in PBS for 1 hour or more @ 37°C. Upon reaching confluence, cultures were fixed and stained as described above (see "<u>Immunohistochemistry</u>").

Freezing and thawing cells

Astrocyte and neural stem cell cultures were frozen for later use. Cells were harvested in growth phase, which was achieved by splitting an adherent, confluent culture 1:2 the previous day. Cells were released from the plate, dissociated and pelleted as described above. The cell pellet was then resuspended in 880 µl ice-chilled astrocyte complete medium containing 10% FCS. To this suspension, 120 µl of ice-chilled DMSO containing 10% FCS was

added drop-wise. The cell suspension was thoroughly mixed after the addition of each drop to minimize heating and osmotic shock. The suspension was then chilled on ice for 30 minutes, transferred to a freezing tube pre-chilled at -80°C placed in a well-insulated box, and placed at -80°C overnight for slow freezing. Cells were stored at -80°C for use within a month and transferred to liquid nitrogen for long-term storage.

Cells were thawed rapidly in a 37°C water bath, transferred to a 50 ml conical tube, and 9 ml medium warmed to 37°C was slowly added to minimize osmotic shock. Cells were then pelleted at 1000 RPM for 5 minutes, resuspended in fresh warm medium, plated at high density (100,000 or more cells/cm²).

Neurosphere cultures (adapted from Tony Tramontin)

Tissue was dissected and collected in pipes buffer (120mM NaCl, 5mM KCl, 25mM glucose, 20mM Pipes (pH 7.5), 0.0005% phenol red) as described above, except that tissue was digested in 1 ml activated papain in 4 ml pipes buffer rather than 0.25% trypsin-EDTA. 1M Pipes was made by sterile filtering 15.12 g Pipes dissolved in 45 ml ddH₂0, adjusted to pH 7.5 with NaOH and brought to 50 ml wit ddH2O. Activated papain was generated by sterile filtering 3 mg papain dissolved in 1 ml ddH2O containing 1.1 mM EDTA and 5.5 mM L-cysteine/HCl. Tissue was incubated in activated papain at 37°C for 30 minutes, then the supernatant was removed and 1 ml control medium containing 1 mg/ml tissue culture grade DNAse was added. The tissue was triturated as described

above and pelleted by centrifugation for 5 minutes at 1000 RPM.

500 ml of neurosphere control medium was made by filter sterilizing 415 ml DMEM/F12, 10 ml 30% glucose (30 g D-(+)-glucose in 100 ml ddH2O, mixed by sonication and sterile filtered), 7.5 ml 7.5% NaHCO₃, 2.5 ml 1 M HEPES, 5 ml 200 mM L-glutamine, 50 ml 10x Hormone mix and 5 ml 100x antibiotic/antimycotic. Hormone mix contained 400 ml DMEM/F12, 8 ml 30% glucose, 6 ml 7.5% NaHCO₃, 2 ml 1 M HEPES, 400 mg apo-transferrin, 40 ml insulin solution, 40 ml putrescine solution, 40 µl 200 µM progesterone and 40 µl 3 mM sodium selenite, filter-sterilized. Insulin solution contained 100 mg insulin in 4 ml sterile 0.1 N HCl and 36 ml sterile ddH₂O, and putrescince solution contaied 38.6 mg putrescine in 40 ml sterile ddH₂O. Complete medium was made by sterile filtering 49.7 ml control medium containing 200 mg BSA and 100 µl heparin solution before adding 250 µl EGF (stock = 4 µg/ml) 20 µl bFGF (stock = 25 µg/ml). Heparin solution was made by filter sterilizing 38,000 units heparin dissolved in 100 ml ddH₂O.

Cells were then resuspended in 1 ml neurosphere complete medium, passed through a cell strainer and counted. They were then plated at clonal density (10-20 cells/µl) in 6 well plates (ultra low attachment Corning) in 2-3 ml neurosphere complete medium and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂. When neurospheres reached a mean diameter of 100 µm, they were collected into a 15 ml conical tube and pelleted by gravity. The supernatant was carefully aspirated and replaced with 1 ml fresh complete medium. Cells were triturated to a single cell suspension, passed through a cell strainer, and pelleted by centrifugation at

1000 RPM for 5 minutes. Cells were then resuspended in 1 ml fresh neurosphere complete medium, counted, and plated at 5-20 spheres per well.

Neurospheres were differentiated by collecting them in a conical tube as described above, and gently resuspending them in neurosphere differentiation medium #1. This medium contains 49.9 ml control medium, 100 µl heparin solution and 20 µl bFGF. After neurospheres had settled, the supernatant was aspirated and they were again resuspended in neurosphere differentiation medium #1. Individual spheres were picked and transferred, or a desired concentration of spheres was transferred to wells filled with differentiation medium #1 in wells or poly-D-lysine (PDK)-treated coverslips coated with Matrigel that had been diluted 1:100 in control medium. Neurospheres were differentiated in this medium for two days, then washed once with control medium, and incubated in neurosphere differentiation medium #2, containing 49 ml control medium and 1 ml fetal bovine serum (FBS). Following differentiation for 5 days at 37°C, 5% CO₂, medium was gently aspirated and cultures were fixed with 4% PFA for 15 minutes at RT, then gently rinsed three times with PBS. Cultures were then immunostained for O4, Tuj1, GFAP and GFP.

<u>Clonal generation of neurospheres (modified from Tony Tramontin and (Doetsch</u> et al., 1999a))

To determine whether radial glia or their adult progeny could form neurospheres, Z/EG animals were injected with Ad:Cre at P0 and the lateral ventricular wall of P2, P10 and P90 animals was dissected, dissociated, and

placed in neurosphere medium as previously reported (Doetsch et al., 1999a) (see also "<u>neurosphere cultures</u>" above). After amplification in culture, cells were sorted for eGFP by fluorescent activated cell sorting (FACS) on a MoFlo Cytomation (Freiburg, Germany) cell sorter at approximately 100 cells/second. The fluorescence of sorted cells was bimodally distributed; the mean fluorescence of the eGFP+ cells was approximately two orders of magnitude greater than the peak for eGFP- cells. Visual inspection confirmed strong eGFP fluorescence in more than 98% of sorted cells. Cells were sorted a second time using the same parameters to achieve an approximately 99.9% pure population of eGFP+ cells. Visual inspection confirmed that all neurospheres formed by these cells were strongly green fluorescent. Upon plating at clonal density (20 cells/µL), these cells generated neurospheres that were individually differentiated and stained for eGFP, O4, Tuj1, and GFAP as previously described (Doetsch et al., 1999a).

Neural stem cell monolayer cultures (adapted from Dan Lim and from (Scheffler et al., 2005))

Tissue from neurogenic regions was dissected as described above and collected in ice-cold DMEM/F12+Glutamax (Gibco). Tissue was then incubated 0.25 ml 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA for 30 minutes at 37°C and triturated and pelleted as described above. Cells were then resuspended in 2 ml N5 medium and plated onto one well of a 12 well tissue culture plate. N5 medium contained 2.5 ml fetal bovine serum (FBS), 0.5 ml 100x antibiotic/antimycotic, 0.5 ml N2 supplement

(Gibco), 87.5 μ I bovine pituitary extract, bFGF (20 ng/ml final concentration) and EGF (20 ng/ml final concentration) in DMEM/F12+Glutamax (Gibco) at a final volume of 50 ml. Cells were transferred to an incubator overnight at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

One day following plating, the plate was rinsed with its own medium to wash off weakly adhering cells, which were then transferred to a fresh well of a 12 well plate. This procedure removed strongly adhering cells including non-stem cell astrocytes and microglia, enriching the culture for neural stem cells that grow as an adherent monolayer. Cultures were returned to the incubator and N5 medium was replaced every 3 days. Upon reaching confluence, cells were split 1:2 or 1:4 as described above.

After three passages, cells were frozen as described above, or collected for heterotopic grafting (see below) or differentiation. For differentiation, cells in growth phase were collected, pelleted, and resuspended in N5 medium at 300 cells/µl in 100 µl in a 96 well tissue culture plate and returned to the incubator. After cells had attached to the plate overnight, N5 medium was gently aspirated, washed twice with N6 medium, and replaced with N6 medium. N6 medium contained 49 ml DMEM/F12+Glutamax (Gibco), 0.5 ml antibiotic/antimycotic, 0.5 ml N2 supplement (Gibco) and 87.5 µl bovine pituitary extract. Cultures were returned to the incubator and differentiated for 7 days in N6, which was replaced every 3 days. Following differentiation, cultures were fixed and immunostained (see "Immunohistochemistry" above)

Neural stem cell cultures for in vitro potential determination

Anterior (i/iiM), dorsal (ii/iiD) and ventral (iiV/iiV) brain regions were microdissected from wild-type perinatal mice and dissociated as described above. Regions are named as in Chapter 4, Figure 1H. Cells were then grown as previously described (see (Scheffler et al., 2005) and "<u>Neural stem cell</u> <u>monolayer cultures</u>" above) on 6 well plates and passaged twice over 7 days. After the second passage, cells were transferred to 96 well plates and differentiated for an additional 7 days. Following differentiation, cells were fixed for 30 minutes at RT in 4% PFA and immunostained for GFAP, Olig2, doublecortin, calbindin and calretinin as described above (see "Immunohistochemistry").

Neural stem cell cultures for heterotopic grafting

Forty-eight hours after being labeled with Ad:Cre at P0, GFP+ radial glia from the anterior dorsal (iiiD) or ventral (iiiV) SVZ were dissected, dissociated and cultured as described above (see "<u>Neural stem cell monolayer cultures</u>"). Regions are named as in Chapter 4, Figure 1H. Additionally, cells were isolated and cultured from P0 CD1 of ActB-GFP mice (Hadjantonakis et al., 1998), which constitutively express GFP, from regions iiM, iii/ivD, iii/ivV and vD/V. After 14 days in culture and three passages, cells were collected, washed in L15 and grafted into regions iiD, iiiD, iiiV or vD/V of neonatal CD1 mice (see "<u>Heterotopic</u> <u>grafting of radial glia</u>" below).

Section 6: Surgical and animal procedures

All protocols and procedures followed the guidelines of the Laboratory Animal Resource Center at the University of California, San Francisco.

BrdU administration

Injections for short survivals were performed 1 hour prior to sacrifice. Mice were injected intraperitoneally (IP) with BrdU stock solution (15 mg/ml BrdU in sterile saline) to achieve a final concentration of concentration of 50 mg/kg. For long survival pulse chase experiments, adult mice (\geq P30) were given BrdU in the drinking water (deionized, distilled water) at a concentration of 1 mg/ml for 3 followed by a survival of 2 weeks, or for 7 days followed by a 3 week survival.

Stereotaxic injection of neonatal pups

Newborn (P0, 1.5-1.75 g) R26R, Z/AP or Z/EG mice were anesthetized by hypothermia for 60 seconds and placed onto the platform of a stereotaxic injection rig where their heads were stabilized by a customized head mold (see "<u>Production of customized head molds</u>" above). They were injected with 20 nl of adenovirus (Ad:Cre) with a beveled pulled glass micropipette (see "<u>Production of pulled glass micropipettes for viral injection and cell grafting into the neonatal and adult mouse brain</u>" above) with a 30 µm diameter tip, back-filled with mineral oil and front-loaded with 1-2 µl virus. Unless otherwise noted, the injection needle was positioned at an angle of 45 degrees and pups were placed on their sides in

custom-made head molds, so that the needle entered the brain from below at an angle of 45 degrees, along the trajectory of radial glial fibers.

Injection coordinates were determined based on immunostaining for radial glial fibers in Vibratome sections and confirmed by dye injection. Using the center of the eyeball to zero the x (anterior-posterior) and y (medial-lateral) coordinates, and the skin surface to zero the z (depth) coordinate, the injection coordinates were (x, y, z in mm): region i (0.25, 1.6, -2.5), region iiM (0.75, 3.5, -4.0), region iiD (0.75, 0.9, -1.5), region iiV (0.75, 2.0, -2.85), region iiiD (1.25, 1.0, -1.65), region iiiV (1.25, 2.5, 2.75), region ivD (1.75, 1.25, -1.75), region ivV (1.75, 2.5, -2.75), region vD (2.25, 1.15, -1.75), region vV (2.25, 2.0, -2.9), and region vi (2.75, 1.75, -2.15). Regions are named as in Chapter 4, Figure 1H.

To limit trauma from injecting though the eyeball, regions i and iiD can also be targeted from above at an angle of 45 degrees at (0.6, 2.5, -1.6) and (1.1, 3.25, -1.2), respectively. This trajectory was also used for to target radial glia cells with striatal injections in experiments to determine the developmental origin of adult neural stem cells at (1.6, 2.8, -1.6). For these injections, pups were placed ventral side down in a customized head mold and coordinates were zeroed as follows: x (anterior-posterior) centered on the eyeball as above, y (medial-lateral) centered on the midline, and z (depth) centered on the skin surface. These same landmarks were used to zero coordinates were: region iiC (1.1, 0.8, -0.3), region iiiC (1.6, 1.0, -0.3), region ivC (2.0, 1.0, - 0.3), region vC

(2.4, 1.0, -0.3). In all cases, trajectories were chosen to specifically label radial glial cells and avoid direct labeling of the SVZ or ventricular system.

Following injections, pups were returned to their mothers and monitored until they had resumed nursing. Cannibalism was not observed with CD1 animals, but pups from C57/BI6 and other strains were lightly rubbed with urine from the mother before being returned to mitigate cannibalism. Animals were sacrificed 2 hours to 150 days later.

<u>Grafting of labeled cells to determine stem cell identity</u>

To obtain labeled radial glia, heterozygous Z/EG pups were injected at P0, sacrificed at P3, and dissected under a fluorescent dissecting scope to expose the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle. This allowed the injection site and a well-defined patch of eGFP+ radial glial cell bodies in the VZ to be visualized. Labeled cells in the VZ (n = 6 grafts) and the injection site (n = 4 grafts) were microdissected and stereotaxically grafted into the VZ/SVZ of wild-type pups, which were sacrificed at P30. In a separate experiment, labeled cells from the injection site (n = 6) were grafted into the ventrolateral striatum. Radial glial grafts, but not grafts from cells labeled locally at the injection site, produced all the cell types seen from the injection alone.

Heterotopic grafting of radial glia

To obtain labeled radial glial cells, heterozygous Z/EG mice were injected at P0 with 20 nl Ad:Cre to target levels ii or iv for anterior/posterior grafts or

regions iiiD or iiiV for dorsal/ventral grafts as described above. Regions are named as in Chapter 4, Figure 1H. Two hours after injection, the animals were sacrificed and the targeted SVZ subregions were microdissected in ice-cold Liebovitz's L-15 medium (UCSF Tissue Culture Facility) to obtain virally infected radial glial cell bodies, which were then mechanically triturated to a single cell suspension. Cells were then washed and resuspended in L-15 medium, and front-loaded into a beveled pulled glass micropipette with a 50 µm diameter tip (see "Production of pulled glass micropipettes for viral injection and cell grafting into the neonatal and adult mouse brain" above). Neonatal CD1 pups were injected with 100-200 nl of cell suspension (~2000 cells). Injections were performed at an angle of 45 degrees from above with axes zeroed as described above at the following coordinates: region iiD (1.1, 2.5, 1.5), region iiD (1.6, 2.1, 1.3), region iiiV (1.6, 3.0, 2.2) or region vD (2.4, 3.5, 1.0). Grafted pups were returned to their mothers and monitored until they had resumed nursing. Animals were sacrificed 40 days after grafting.

Heterotopic grafting of cultured neural stem cells

Forty-eight hours after being labeled with Ad:Cre at P0, GFP+ cells from the anterior dorsal (iiiD) or ventral (iiiV) SVZ were dissected, dissociated and cultured as adherent monolayers as described above (Scheffler et al., 2005). Regions are named as in Chapter 4, Figure 1H. Additionally, cells were isolated and cultured from P0 CD1 of ActB-GFP mice (Hadjantonakis et al., 1998), which constitutively express GFP, from regions iiM, iii/ivD, iii/ivV and vD/V. After 15

days in culture and three passages, cells were collected, washed in L15 and grafted into regions iiD, iiiD, iiiV or vD/V of neonatal CD1 mice as described above. Animals were sacrificed 28 days after grafting.

Stereotaxic injection of adult mice

Heterozygous adult (P60) Z/EG mice were anesthetized with 250 mg/kg tribromoethanol (Avertin) until pedal reflex was abolished, and placed in ear bars on a customized stereotaxic rig. After making a small incision, a hole was drilled in the skull at the injection coordinate to expose the brain surface. The brain was then injected with 20 or 40 nl adenovirus (Ad:GFAP-Cre) from a beveled pulled glass micropipette (see "Production of pulled glass micropipettes for viral injection and cell grafting into the neonatal and adult mouse brain" above). Injection coordinates were determined from a stereotaxic mouse brain atlas and confirmed with dye injections. The x and y coordinates were zeroed at bregma, and the z coordinate was zeroed at the brain surface. Injections of regions iiiD and iiiV were performed at an angle of 45 degrees ensure regionally specific labeling at the following coordinates: region iiiD (-0.5, 3.5, -1.8) and region iiiV (-0.5, 4.5, -3.6). Regions i and vC were injected from straight above with 20 nl Ad:GFAP-Cre for region i at (-3.3, 0.82, -2.9) as described previously (Hack et al., 2005) and with 40 nl Ad:GFAP-Cre at region vC at (1.5, 2, -0.5). The incision was closed with silk suture, and animals were placed on a warm surface and monitored until they resumed feeding and grooming activity. Animals were sacrificed after 28 days. Regions are named as in Chapter 4, Figure 1H.

Section 7: Terminal procedures

Transcardial perfusion for immunohistochemistry

Juvenile and adult animals were deeply anesthetized with tribromoethanol (Avertin) and monitored until the pedal reflex was abolished. Neonatal and early postnatal (P0-P5) mice were deeply anesthetized by hypothermia. Mice were then transferred to a perfusion tray and the abdominal and thoracic cavities were opened. The diaphragm was transected and the pericardium was carefully removed with forceps. An incision was made in the right atrium to provide a low resistance path for fluid to leave the circulatory system, and a perfusion needle was inserted into the left ventricle. Adult and juvenile mice were transcardially perfused with 20 ml room temperature (RT) 0.9% saline followed by 20 ml cold (4°C) 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) using a perfusion pump (Watson Marlow model 323). Neonatal and early postnatal mice (P0-P10) were manually perfused with 5 ml 0.9% saline followed by 5 ml 4% PFA using 10 ml syringes. For some perfusions, 0.9% saline also contained 1% heparin to prevent blood clotting. Before PFA was administered, we ensured that blood was effectively removed from the circulatory system by verifying that no visible blood was leaving the right atrium and that the liver had cleared. The quality of fixation was determined by monitoring the movement of the tail in response to initial PFA administration and the stiffness of muscles and the liver. Following perfusion, brains were dissected as described below and postfixed in 4% PFA overnight at 4°C, then given three brief rinses in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) at followed by a PBS wash for

one or more hours hour at RT. Brains were stored at 4°C in PBS + 0.1% NaN₃.

<u>Perfusion for standard and β-gal electron microscopy (adapted from Jose Manuel</u> <u>Garcia Verdugo and Tony Tramontin)</u>

Mice were dissected and perfused as described above, but instead of cold 4% PFA, mice were perfused with a solution containing 2.5% glutaraldehyde and 2% PFA. This solution was made by mixing 10 g paraformaldehyde in 200 ml dH_2O , and heating it to $\leq 55^{\circ}C$ under constant stirring. 10N NaOH was added drop-wise until PFA was completely dissolved. After cooling slightly, 50 ml 0.2M monobasic phosphate buffer (PB) and 200 ml 0.2M dibasic PB were added, adjusted to pH to 7.4 with HCl and filtered. Then, 50 ml of 25% glutaraldehyde (EM sciences catalogue #16210) was added. Mice were perfused with 0.9% saline with 1% heparin (at 37°C) until no blood could be seen leaving the right atrium (about 3 minutes) and with 2.5% glutaraldehyde and 2% PFA (at 37°C) for 5-10 minutes. Following fixation, the fixed brain was left in the skull for 30 minutes before dissection and postfixation overnight in 2.5% glutaraldehyde and 2% paraformaldehyde in clean glassware. The following morning, brains were rinsed 5 times, 30 minutes each rinse, in large volumes of 0.1M PB at RT. Brains were stored in very clean glassware in 0.1M PB in clean glass vial at 4°C.

Dissection of fresh or fixed brains

The head was sprayed liberally with 70% ethanol decapitated with a pair of large, sharp surgical scissors. With a pair of fine serrated scissors (Iris ToughCut, Fine Science Tools), an incision was cut through the skin along the midline from back of skull midline to tip of nose. The skin was then laterally retracted past the eyeballs and held in place with the left hand. Next, one blade of the scissors was inserted completely through the orbital foramen, allowing the skull to be cut just rostral to the olfactory bulbs. Next, a careful caudal to rostral midline incision was made through the skull, all the way up to the previous cut rostral to the olfactory bulbs. Next, horizontal cuts were made in the ventral skull bilaterally from the brainstem to about halfway to the olfactory bulbs. After the meninges covering the olfactory bulbs were carefully removed, the skull was peeled back with a pair of forceps and held in place by the left hand. The brain was then removed by lifting the olfactory bulbs with a pair of blunt forceps, which were then used to transect the optic and cranial nerves. The brain was then dropped into ice-cold medium or fixative.

Section 8: Data analysis

Quantification and image processing

Images of DAB stained tissue and images for granule cell quantification were taken on an Olympus AX70 microscope with a Retiga 2000R digital camera (Qimaging Corporation) on a G5 Macintosh computer (Apple Computer Inc.) running Openlab 5.0.1 or 5.0.2 (Improvision Inc.). Fluorescent images of immunostained brain sections were taken on an Olympus Fluoroview FV1000 confocal microscope. Fluorescent images of neural stem cell cultures were taken on a Zeiss Aviovert 200M microscope with a Hamamatsu Orca-ER digital camera (Hamamatsu Photonics). Images were processed for brightness and contrast using Adobe Photoshop 7.0 (Adobe Systems Inc.). Quantification of doublelabeled cells was performed manually at 40x on an Olympus AX70 microscope. Granule cell position within the granule cell layer was measured from photomicrographs using ImageJ 1.37v (National Institutes of Health). Only injections resulting in specific labeling of the targeted region were included for analysis. For each injection, graft or culture, an average of 509 (+ 390) cells in three to eight independent experiments were analyzed.

Chapter 3 The neural stem cell lineage

Overview

Neural stem cells with the characteristics of astrocytes persist in the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the juvenile and adult brain. These cells generate large numbers of new neurons that migrate through the rostral migratory stream (RMS) to the olfactory bulb. The developmental origin of adult neural stem cells is not known. Here I describe a lox-Cre based technique to specifically and permanently label a restricted population of striatal radial glia in newborn mice. Within the first few days after labeling, these radial glial cells gave rise to neurons, oligodendrocytes and astrocytes, including astrocytes in the SVZ. Remarkably, after this labeling the RMS contained labeled migratory neuroblasts at all ages examined, including 150-day-old mice. Labeling dividing cells with the S-phase marker BrdU showed that new neurons continue to be produced in the adult by precursors that were derived from radial glia. Furthermore, both neonatal radial glia and radial glia-derived cells in the adult lateral ventricular wall generated self-renewing, multipotent neurospheres. These results demonstrate that radial glial cells not only serve as progenitors for many neurons and glial cells soon after birth, but also give rise to adult SVZ stem cells that continue to produce neurons throughout adult life. This work identifies - and provides a method to genetically modify - the lineage that links neonatal and adult neural stem cells.
Introduction

The mammalian brain retains neural stem cells in the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricular wall. These cells generate new neurons (Gage, 2000; Lois and Alvarez-Buylla, 1993; Morshead et al., 1994; Temple, 2001) that migrate along the rostral migratory stream (RMS) to the olfactory bulb where they differentiate into granular and periglomerular interneurons (Alvarez-Buylla and Garcia-Verdugo, 2002; Luskin, 1998). Although they are actively neurogenic, adult SVZ stem cells express glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) and have the morphology and ultrastructure of astrocytes (Doetsch et al., 1999a; Imura et al., 2003; Laywell et al., 2000; Skogh et al., 2001). These findings challenge the classical view that all astrocytes are terminally differentiated glial cells belonging to a lineage separate from that of neurons (Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2001; Doetsch et al., 1999a). What is the developmental origin of these astrocytic stem cells?

Here, I tested the hypothesis that adult SVZ neural stem cells are derived from radial glia. Radial glial cells have a long, RC2 positive (Misson et al., 1988) basal process that extends from their cell bodies in the ventricular zone (VZ) through the parenchyma towards the brain surface (Noctor et al., 2002). Radial glia have anatomical features of cells in the astroglial lineage including endfeet on blood vessels, intermediate filaments and glycogen granules. Near the end of histogenesis, radial glia differentiate into parenchymal astrocytes (Schmechel and Rakic, 1979; Voigt, 1989). For these reasons, radial glia were classically viewed as immature glial cells that guide neuronal migration and function as scaffolding for brain development (Mission et al., 1991; Rakic, 1972). However,

studies in songbirds (Alvarez-Buylla et al., 1990), where radial glia persist into adult life, and work in the developing rodent brain (Anthony et al., 2004; Gotz et al., 2002; Li et al., 2004a; Malatesta et al., 2000; Miyata et al., 2001; Noctor et al., 2001; Tamamaki et al., 2001) indicate that radial glia also function as neural progenitors. We (Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2001), and others (Campbell and Gotz, 2002; Doetsch, 2003; Kriegstein and Gotz, 2003) have hypothesized that neural stem cells may be contained within what was classically considered the macroglial lineage (i.e. neuroepithelial cells - radial glia - astrocytes).

In the present study, I genetically tagged a restricted population of radial glia that persist in the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle of newborn mice (Tramontin et al., 2003). I show that these radial glial cells give rise to neurons, astrocytes, ependymal cells and oligodendrocytes. More importantly, I show that these neonatal radial glial cells give rise to the SVZ astrocytes that maintain neurogenesis in the adult mammalian brain. This work identifies the neonatal origin of adult SVZ neural stem cells.

Results

Maturation of the SVZ

I began my investigation of adult NSC origins with Anthony D. Tramontin by studying the composition of the lateral ventricular wall at different ages. At P0, the striatal VZ contains primarily radial glial cell bodies and a few immature ependymal cells, but no astrocytes (Tramontin et al., 2003). The cell bodies of subcortical (striatal) radial glia line the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle, and their long RC2+ basal processes curve through the striatum to contact the brain surface (Fig. 1A). To determine the time course of astrocyte formation in the SVZ, I immunostained for GFAP (Doetsch et al., 1997) and RC2 (Misson et al., 1988) to label astrocytes and radial glia, respectively, at postnatal days 0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, and 60 (n = 4 per age group). The disappearance of radial glia from the lateral ventricular wall correlates with the appearance of GFAP+ astrocytes (at P6) directly below the VZ in the developing SVZ (Fig. 1B-F). We hypothesized that striatal radial glia in the neonatal brain give rise to the neurogenic astrocytes found in the adult SVZ.

Radial glial targeting and lineage tracing

To test this hypothesis, we developed a technique to trace the progeny of a restricted population of radial glia. We found that radial glia in P0 mice can be labeled by a replication incompetent, eGFP-expressing adenovirus (Ad:GFP). To ensure that we were specifically labeling radial glia and not other cells in the VZ

or its vicinity, we infected radial glia at their distal basal processes by stereotaxically injecting Ad:GFP (20 nl) into ventrolateral striatum of P0 mice near the border to the piriform cortex (Fig. 1G). Two days after infection, we observed labeling at the injection site and in a restricted region of the dorsolateral striatal VZ, 1.10 + 0.13 mm (mean + SEM) away from the injection site (Fig. 1H; 3K). Labeled cells in the VZ had the distinctive morphology of radial glial cells and had RC2+ processes that traversed the injection site (see below). Thus, radial glial cell bodies can be retrogradely labeled with adenoviruses. The rapid infection, short half-life, and limited diffusion of adenoviruses through brain parenchyma (Peltekian et al., 1997) results in rapid, localized labeling. However, the adenoviral genome is not incorporated into cellular DNA and becomes diluted with cell division. Therefore, we used a Cre-lox based strategy to trace the longterm progeny of radial glia. We used the same targeting strategy to infect the distal processes of radial glia, but injected P0 Z/AP (Lobe et al., 1999), Z/EG (Novak et al., 2000), or R26R (Soriano, 1999) mice with an adenovirus expressing Cre recombinase (Ad:Cre) (Anton and Graham, 1995). Z/AP mice express alkaline phosphatase (AP), Z/EG mice express eGFP, and R26R mice express LacZ upon Cre-mediated recombination, so infected radial glia and their progeny are permanently labeled.

As with Ad:GFP injected mice, Ad:Cre injected Z/AP, Z/EG or R26R mice had AP, eGFP or LacZ positive cells, respectively, at the injection site and in the VZ. I confirmed that all labeled cells in the VZ were radial glia by immunostaining for RC2 (Fig. 1I) and by electron microscopy (Fig. 1J, 527 cells analyzed) two

days after injection. I never detected labeled cells in the medial ventricular wall or on the contralateral side, indicating that the Ad:Cre did not leak into the ventricular lumen.

To determine whether adenovirus injected in the ventrolateral striatum could be diffusing through the striatum and infecting cells at or near the VZ, I injected Ad:Cre into the lateral striatum of wild-type (CD1) P0 pups together with bromophenol blue to visualize the injection site. At various time points after injection (5 min, 20 min, 1 hr, 4 hr, 8 hr, 24 hr), I sacrificed the animals and microdissected equally sized explants of the injection site, the ipsilateral ventricular wall, and the striatum halfway between these two sites (Fig. 2A). I then cultured these explants for three days on top of monolayers of Z/EG (eGFP Ad:Cre reporting) SVZ astrocytes (n=3 per condition). I found eGFP+ cells in monolayers cultured with the injection site explant but never from monolayers cultured with the ventricular wall explant. Furthermore, the number of cells infected by each explant rapidly decreased over time; after 4 hours I could not detect any infectious particles (Fig. 2B). Therefore, cells were not nonspecifically labeled at or near the VZ by viral diffusion through the parenchyma, and all labeled cells in the VZ correspond to radial glia infected at their distal processes.

Radial glia produce all four major classes of brain cells

I then examined the progeny of radial glia in Z/AP, Z/EG and R26R mice that survived 4, 7, 10, 15, 30, 45, 90, or 150 days (n \geq 4 per age group) after Ad:Cre injection. At all time points, I observed labeled cells in the VZ and SVZ,

at the injection site in the ventrolateral striatum, and scattered stellate astrocytes in the striatum. I identified radial glial progeny by staining for AP to reveal the Golgi-like morphology (Fig. 5C-L), by immunofluorescence for cell-type specific markers, and by electron microscopy. At short survivals (P4-P10), I observed radial glia retracting their basal process from the injection site and transforming into striatal (Fig. 1K) and SVZ astrocytes (Fig. 1L). From P4 on, the SVZ and RMS contained many migratory neuroblasts (Fig. 1M; 3A,B) and from P10 on, the ipsilateral olfactory bulb contained large numbers of labeled granular (Fig. 1M,N,O; 3C) and periglomerular neurons (Fig. 1M,N,P). In addition, I identified labeled ependymal cells lining the lateral ventricular wall (Fig. 3E, F) and oligodendrocytes in the corpus callosum and striatum (Fig. 3G, H). I provide a more detailed description of the generation of ependymal cells from radial glia in a separate study (Spassky et al., 2005). Importantly, I also observed labeled type B cells, the astrocytic stem cells of the adult SVZ (Doetsch et al., 1999a; Imura et al., 2003; Laywell et al., 2000; Skogh et al., 2001), (Fig. 3I, J) and type C cells, the neurogenic transit amplifying cells that are produced by SVZ astrocytes (Doetsch et al., 1999a; Doetsch et al., 1997; Doetsch et al., 2002) (Fig. 3D), strongly suggesting that radial glia give rise to adult neural stem cells.

Radial glia, not striatal cells, act as progenitors

To demonstrate that these cell types are exclusively derived from radial glia, I microdissected either labeled radial glia from the VZ (Fig. 3K, arrow) or labeled cells from the injection site (Fig. 3K, arrowheads) and stereotaxically

grafted them into the VZ/SVZ of wild-type mice. The pure population of labeled radial glia produced all cell types I observed in Ad:Cre injected animals, including SVZ astrocytes, neuroblasts, and olfactory bulb interneurons (Fig. 3L). However, cells grafted from the injection site into the VZ/SVZ or into the ventrolateral striatum never produced ependymal cells, oligodendrocytes, neuroblasts or olfactory bulb neurons. In a separate experiment, I found that radial glia could be labeled by adenoviral injection into the lateral ventricle of P0 Z/AP mice, demonstrating that they contact the ventricular surface. These labeled cells gave rise to all progeny I observed with injection into the ventrolateral striatum, including type B, C and A cells and olfactory bulb interneurons (Fig. 5J-L). Thus, the progenitor cells in this system are those that have the defining characteristics of striatal radial glia: cell bodies in the VZ that contact the ventricular surface and RC2+ processes that project through the striatum.

Radial glia produce adult neural stem cells

Type B, C and A cells compose the neurogenic lineage of the adult brain (Doetsch et al., 1999a; Herrera et al., 1999). Type C and A cells compose transient populations that disappear when neurogenesis is eliminated by treatment with antimitotic agents (Ahn and Joyner, 2005; Doetsch et al., 1999a; Parras et al., 2004). We observe large numbers of type A and C cells in adult (up to P150) mice after labeling radial glia in the neonatal mouse. This suggests that labeled radial glia generate the actively neurogenic adult stem cell lineage.

To directly test this inference, I injected Z/EG mice with Ad:Cre in the ventrolateral striatum at P0 and allowed them to survive for 30 days. At P30, I added 1 mg/ml of the S-phase marker 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU) to their drinking water for three days, as previously described (Doetsch et al., 1999a). I then sacrificed these animals at P33 (n=8) or at P45 (n=9) and immunostained for eGFP and BrdU. In the brains of the P33 mice, I found BrdU and eGFP double-labeled astrocytes in the SVZ (Fig. 4A,B) and neuroblasts throughout the RMS (Fig. 4C). In P45 mice, most of these double-labeled cells had migrated to the olfactory bulb and matured into interneurons (Fig. 4D), but some remained in the SVZ and RMS. Thus, radial glia generate a population of cells that continue to produce neurons in the adult brain long after radial glia have disappeared. These results indicate radial glia give rise to the adult neural stem cell linage in vivo.

To determine whether these adult cells can function as stem cells in vitro, I generated neurospheres from the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle of P2, P10 and P90 Z/EG animals injected with Ad:Cre in the ventrolateral striatum at P0. A neurosphere is a floating cell mass that results from the expansion of a single cell grown in dissociated culture (Gage et al., 1995; Morshead et al., 1994; Reynolds and Weiss, 1992b; Weiss et al., 1996b). Neurospheres are thought to be formed by stem cells since they are self-renewing (neurospheres form from dissociated neurospheres) and multipotent (neurospheres have the ability to differentiate into multiple cell types) (Alvarez-Buylla and Temple, 1998; Gage, 1998; McKay, 1997; Morrison et al., 1997; Weiss et al., 1996b), though they may also be

produced by C cells (Doetsch et al., 2002). Immediately after isolation from the ventricular wall, all age groups I examined generated primary eGFP+ neurospheres (Fig. 4E) that differentiated into neurons, oligodendrocytes and astrocytes. This demonstrates that radial glia and their progeny are multipotent in vitro. To demonstrate self-renewal and to ensure a pure population of eGFP+ cells, I passaged primary neurospheres three or more times and then purified eGFP+ cells by FACS. I then passaged these cells at least three more times, sorted again by FACS, and grew them at clonal density (20 cells/µl) for three passages. At each passage, I ensured a single-cell suspension by visual inspection after passage through a cell strainer. After these passages, I hand picked individual neurospheres and transferred them to separate wells for differentiation. These clonally generated, radial glia-derived neurospheres from P2, P10 and P90 animals differentiated into neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (Fig. 4F-K). These experiments demonstrate that individual radial glia and their progeny in the adult brain can act as stem cells in vitro. Since radial glial derived cells were also shown to be actively neurogenic in the adult brain *in vivo*, this work suggests that individual radial glia and their progeny belong to a lineage of stem cells that produces neurons and glia in the postnatal brain.

Discussion

I demonstrate that radial glia in the neonatal ventricular wall produce multiple classes of brain cells: astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, ependymal cells and neurons. Importantly, I also show that these radial glia give rise to adult SVZ stem cells that maintain the neurogenic lineage in the adult brain. This conclusion is based on four separate observations. First, infected radial glia produced GFAP+ SVZ astrocytes, which have been identified as the neurogenic stem cells in the adult SVZ (Doetsch et al., 1999a; Imura et al., 2003; Laywell et al., 2000; Skogh et al., 2001). Second, after radial glial labeling, the adult RMS was full of labeled migratory neuroblasts that could only have been produced in the adult brain from neurogenic adult stem cells, since radial glia disappear from the brain soon after birth. Third, I confirmed the generation of neurogenic progeny from radial glia derived cells by double-labeling SVZ astrocytes, neuroblasts and olfactory bulb neurons with BrdU. Finally, I demonstrated that radial glia and their progeny isolated from the P2, P10 and P90 brain clonally generate self-renewing, multipotent neurospheres. I conclude that striatal radial glia give rise to SVZ astrocytes that continue to generate neurons in the adult brain. This finding extends evidence that radial glia can generate neurons (Alvarez-Buylla et al., 1990; Anthony et al., 2004; Gotz et al., 2002; Li et al., 2004a; Malatesta et al., 2000; Miyata et al., 2001; Noctor et al., 2001; Tamamaki et al., 2001) and supports the hypothesis (Alvarez-Buylla et al., 2001; Campbell and Gotz, 2002; Doetsch, 2003; Kriegstein and Gotz, 2003), that the stem cells

of the adult mammalian brain are derived from radial glia, which are ultimately derived from neuroepithelial cells (Fig. 6).

The origin of adult hippocampal progenitors

This finding confirms that NSCs of the SVZ are glial-like cells throughout development. However, it is not known if adult NSCs in other regions are derived from radial glia. The SGZ of the hippocampus, the other major germinal zone of the adult mammalian brain, contains astrocyte-like cells that generate granule neurons (Filippov et al., 2003; Fukuda et al., 2003; Seri et al., 2004; Seri et al., 2001). These astrocytes have a radial morphology and have been called "radial astrocytes" or Type I progenitors (Fukuda et al., 2003; Kronenberg et al., 2003).

The developmental origin of these SGZ radial astrocytes is unknown. To determine their origin, one could fate-map hippocampal radial glia prior to their embryonic translocation. This could be accomplished by genetically tagging cells with an inducible hippocampal specific marker, or by using ultrasound guided *in utero* viral injection or electroporation.

Several studies have claimed that while SVZ progenitors act as multipotent stem cells, hippocampal stem cells are restricted progenitors (Bull and Bartlett, 2005; Seaberg and van der Kooy, 2002) but the reason for this difference is not known. One hypothesis is that it is due to the different developmental histories of the SVZ and SGZ. SGZ progenitors become isolated from the ventricle when the hippocampus "rolls in" during development (Smart, 1961) and translocate to the DG (Eckenhoff and Rakic, 1984), whereas SVZ

progenitors remain closely apposed to the ventricle. To test this hypothesis, one could transplant embryonic hippocampal progenitors to the SVZ and vice versa to determine if continued contact with the ventricle influences the neurogenic potential or multipotency of adult NSCs.

The identity of the spinal cord progenitor

The adult mammalian spinal cord has also been shown to contain cells that act as neural progenitors *in vitro* (Kehl et al., 1997; Shihabuddin et al., 1997; Weiss et al., 1996a), but their identity is unclear. Some groups have suggested that they are ependymal cells (Johansson et al., 1999), whereas other groups have called them radial tanycytes (Mori et al., 1990; Prieto et al., 2000; Rafols and Goshgarian, 1985). The adult NSC of the mammalian spinal cord might be identified by specifically labeling and tracing the fate of neonatal spinal cord radial glia with Ad:Cre injections.

Heterogeneity vs. temporal shift in potential

The production of ependymal cells and parenchymal astrocytes in the neonatal but not in the adult brain has two possible explanations. Either adult NSCs have lost the potential to produce these cell types, or a heterogeneous population of radial glia was labeled, of which only a subpopulation generated adult stem cells. To distinguish between these two possibilities, we treated pregnant mice with BrdU showed that most ependymal cells were generated embryonically (Fig. 7A) and were directly derived from radial glia (Fig. 7B-F)

(Spassky et al., 2005). This suggests that a subset of radial glia were committed to producing ependymal cells at the time of labeling at P0. It is also likely that the parenchymal astrocytes were generated by the terminal differentiation of radial glia (Schmechel and Rakic, 1979; Voigt, 1989), which would remove them from the progenitor pool. These data strongly suggest that neonatal striatal radial glia are a heterogeneous population.

However, not all cell types and subtypes generated by radial glia and adult NSCs were examined, so it is possible that their potential changes over postnatal development. A recent study in which embryonic, neonatal, and adult SVZ cells were labeled suggested that different PGC types are made at different times in development (De Marchis et al., 2007), though this study and others do not support this conclusion (Kohwi et al., 2007), (see Chapter 5). To address this issue directly, small numbers of neonatal radial glia could be labeled with Ad:Cre, labeled with the thymidine analog 5-chloro-2'-deoxyuridine (CldU) and then labeled again in the adult with a second thymidine analog, 5-iodo-2'-deoxyuridine (IdU) (Vega and Peterson, 2005). This dual labeling strategy would allow stem cell progeny generated at distinct developmental times to be identified by IHC. The biased or exclusive production of a particular cell type at a particular time point would imply a temporal shift in progenitor potential.

The embryonic character of adult NSCs

The transformation of radial glia into astrocyte-like cells raises the possibility that adult NSCs retain radial glial characteristics that distinguish them

from astrocytes elsewhere in the brain. Interestingly, the administration of EGF into the lateral ventricle induces SVZ cells to adopt a prominent radial morphology and express the radial glial specific marker RC2 in vivo (Gregg and Weiss, 2003). Furthermore, SVZ astrocytes were shown to display electrophysiological properties intermediate between radial glia and astrocytes (Liu et al., 2006). Another group has found that the ventral adult SVZ contains radial astrocyte-like cells (Sundholm-Peters et al., 2004), suggesting that astrocyte-like adult stem cells may physically resemble their radial glial precursors.

Preliminary work (done in collaboration with Zaman Mirzadeh) confirms and extends this finding. The adult SVZ contains radial GFAP+ processes that can be seen in lateral wall whole mounts (Fig. 8A,B). At least some of these process-bearing cells are derived from radial glia, since they are seen in the adult brain after P0 radial glial targeting (Fig. 8C, D). These cells appear to retain contact with the lateral ventricle, as has been reported for some adult NSCs (Doetsch et al., 1999a), and can be labeled by intraventricular injections of Ad:GFAP-Cre (Fig. 8E-G) an adenovirus expressing Cre recombinase under the murine GFAP promoter (see Chapter 2, Section 3, "Generation of Ad:GFAP-Cre virus", and Chapter 5). After 28 days, many neurons can be seen in the olfactory bulb contralateral to the injected ventricle, suggesting that these radial astrocytes are neurogenic (Fig. 8H). These preliminary findings raise the possibility that the adult germinal zone is maintained by ventricle-contacting stem cells that establish a modified VZ in the adult brain. Thus, the organization of the

mammalian SVZ may resemble the neurogenic zones of species that retain an adult VZ formed by radial glial-like neural stem cells (reviewed in (Doetsch, 2003; Garcia-Verdugo et al., 2002)). Together, these findings support the conclusion that over development, the NSC lineage progresses from neuroepithelial cell -> radial glial cell -> specialized radial glial cell/astrocyte-like cell.



Figure 1. Radial glia are specifically labeled in the neonatal mouse brain.

(A) RC2+ radial glial processes extend from the VZ to the brain surface. (B-F) In the region boxed in (A), the disappearance of RC2+ radial glia correlates with the appearance of GFAP+ SVZ astrocytes. (G) Radial glial processes can be infected by an adenovirus injected into the ventrolateral striatum. (H, I) This results in labeling of cells at the injection site and in the dorsolateral VZ. VZ cells (boxed region in H) have long radial processes (I) that express RC2 (boxed region in I), and extend from the VZ through the injection site. (J) These cells have the ultrastructure of radial glia. Insert shows X-gal precipitate (arrowheads) in the same cells (from P2 R26R mice) at the light microscope. (K, L) In the early postnatal brain, radial glia retract their processes (arrowheads) as they transform into astrocytes in the striatum (K) and in the SVZ (L).
(M-P) Their progeny, however, continue to generate large numbers of neuroblasts in the P90 brain (M) that migrate along the RMS to the olfactory bulb (N) and differentiate into and granular (O) and periglomerular cells (P). Cb, cerebellum; Ctx, cortex; LV, lateral ventricle; RMS, rostral migratory stream; Stri, striatum; SVZ, subventricular zone; VZ, ventricular zone.



Figure 2. Adenovirus does not diffuse outside of the injection site and infects cells within 8 hours.

(A) Co-injection of Ad:Cre with bromophenol blue allowed the injection site to be visualized. Explants of the injection site, as well as the ipsilateral ventricular wall and the striatum were microdissected (boxes in A) and placed on monolayers of Z/EG astrocytes to assay for infectious particles. Infectious particles diffused out of the injection site explant and induced eGFP expression in monolayer astrocytes. (B) Virus never diffused to the ventricular wall and after 4 hours, no infectious particles were detectable in any region tested.



Figure 3. Radial glia produce all classes of brain cells.

Radial glial progeny were identified at the confocal microscope by eGFP expression in Z/EG mice and at the electron microscope by dark, perinuclear grains of X-gal precipitate in R26R mice (black arrowheads). (**A-C, E-H**) The progeny include doublecortin+ neuroblasts (Type A cells) (A, B), NeuN+ neurons (C), ciliated (arrows) CD24+ ependymal cells (E, F) and Olig2+ oligodendrocytes whose processes (arrows) intercalate between myelinated axons (G, H). (**D**, **I**, **J**) Radial glia also produce GFAP+ SVZ astrocytes or type B cells (I, J, intermediate filaments shown in insert) and neurogenic transit amplifying type C cells (D). (**K**) A whole mount of the lateral ventricular wall reveals the injection site deep in the tissue at a deeper focal plane (yellow arrowheads) and a well-defined patch of labeled radial glial cell bodies (arrow). (**L**) When grafted into a wild-type mouse, radial glial cell bodies (but not cell bodies from the injection site) produce all cell types obtained by viral injection alone, including neuroblasts (arrow) and olfactory bulb neurons (yellow arrowhead) in the adult brain. RMS = rostral migratory stream, GCL = granule cell layer.



Figure 4. Radial glia-derived adult stem cells remain actively neurogenic in vivo.

(**A**, **B**) Radial glia-derived (eGFP+) GFAP+ astrocytes in the adult (P33) SVZ are labeled by the S-phase marker BrdU (A) (GFAP eGFP double labeling shown at higher magnification in B). (**C**) Radial glial labeling also resulted in many double-labeled migratory neuroblasts. (**D**) These adult-born neuroblasts migrate to the olfactory bulb and differentiate into interneurons. (**E**) Radial glia and their adult progeny are self-renewing and multipotent in vitro. eGFP+ cells isolated from the ventricular wall of P2, P10 and P90 Z/EG mice injected with Ad:Cre in the ventrolateral striatum at P0 clonally produce primary neurospheres. (**F-H**) These eGFP+ neurospheres were sorted by FACS and grown again at clonal density for several passages to ensure clonality and self-renewal. All cells in clonally grown neurospheres are eGFP+ (F) and differentiate into Tuj1+ neurons (visualized by DAB, dark brown spots in G), GFAP+ astrocytes and O4+ oligodendrocytes (H). (**I-K**) (I) shows a higher magnification of a Tuj1+ neuron (box in G) and (J) and (K) show GFAP+ processes of astrocytes and an O4+ oligodendrocyte, respectively (box in H). The differentiated neurosphere shown in (F-K) was isolated from a P90 mouse, but similar results were obtained from all ages examined, demonstrating that both radial glia and their progeny are multipotent, self-renewing stem cells. F-H and I-K share the same scale bar.



Figure 5. Development of the SVZ and morphology of NSCs and their progeny.

(A) The P0 VZ is several cell bodies thick and consists mostly of radial glia cell bodies, while the SVZ is about twice as thick and consists mainly of radial glia and neuroblasts. (B) The mature VZ is a monolayer of ependymal cells and the SVZ is only 2-3 cells thick, consisting of astrocytes, neuroblasts and type C cells. (C, D) Ad:Cre injection into the ventrolateral striatum of Z/AP mice results in Golgi-like alkaline phosphatase staining that reveals the morphology of radial glia at P2 (C), some of which retract their cell bodies into the striatum (D) and differentiate into astrocytes. (E-G) At P30, there is continued production of migratory neuroblasts (E) that differentiate into granular and periglomerular olfactory bulb interneurons on the injected side (F), shown enlarged in (G). (H, I) Initially labeled radial glia also give rise to oligodendrocytes (H) and SVZ astrocytes (I) that occasionally contact the ventricle (arrow). Radial glia are also labeled when Ad:Cre is injected into the lateral ventricle. (J, K) The staining pattern at P2 reveals cells with a radial morphology (J), but these processes are less visible by P30 (K). (L) At P30, the olfactory bulb of these injected animals is filled with neuroblasts and granular and periglomerular interneurons. Panels H and I, and J and K share the same scale bar.



Figure 6. Neural stem cells and their progeny in the developing forebrain.

The NSCs (shown in blue) of the lateral ventricular wall change their shape and produce different progeny as the brain develops. They begin as NECs and transform into radial glial cells, which mature into astrocytes. NSCs maintain contact with the ventricle, into which they project a cilium. The potential of an individual stem cell in vivo is not known and the progeny shown in this schematic are produced by the NSC population. Stem cells produce progeny either directly or via an intermediate progenitor (shown in green), which has been either included or omitted for clarity. Different types of progeny may be produced by different intermediate progenitors, though just one is shown here. (A) At early developmental stages the CNS is a tubular structure. It is made up of NECs, which divide symmetrically at the ventricular surface to expand the stem cell pool. At this time, some early-born neurons such as Cajal-Retzius cells are produced. (B) NECs cells most likely differentiate into embryonic radial glia, which divide to generate striatal neurons and oligodendrocytes either directly or via an intermediate progenitor in the SVZ. The radial processes of radial glia support the migration of neuroblasts (shown in red). (C) Radial glia persist in the neonatal brain, where they generate oligodendrocytes and olfactory bulb interneurons, and ependymal cells. They also generate astrocytes, some of which remain stem cells in the adult. (D) In the adult brain, neurogenic astrocytes often retain a radial process and contact both the ventricle and the basal lamina of blood vessels. They generate oligodendrocytes and olfactory bulb interneurons. Abbreviations: NEC = neuroepithelial cell; NSC = neural stem cell; RGC = radial glial cell; Stri. = striatum; SVZ = subventricular zone; VZ = ventricular zone.



Figure 7. Ependymal cells are postmitotic in the adult and are derived from radial glia. (A) BrdU birthdating shows that most ependymal cells are born in the embryo. (B-D) At early postnatal ages, radial glia labeled at P0 show both a radial process and the cuboidal morphology and S100B gene expression characteristic of adult ependymal cells. (E-G) In the adult brain, some radial glia targeted at P0 have transformed into mature, CD24+ multiciliated ependymal cells.



Figure 8. Neurogenic, ventricle-contacting astrocytes with radial morphology persist in the adult mouse brain.

(A, B) Confocal photomicrographs of whole-mount staining for GFAP reveals prominent GFAP+ processes that are aligned and project from the ventricular surface into the parenchyma at an angle. Cells indicated by blue and red arrows in (A) are shown at higher magnification in (B). (C, D) Targeting of neonatal radial glia generated cells in the adult brain that retain long radial processes (arrows in C) that often make specialized contacts with blood vessels (arrowheads in D). (E-G) Injection of Ad:GFAP-Cre into the lateral ventricle of Z/EG mice labels ependymal cells (E), but also radial astrocyte-like cells (boxed region in E shown at higher magnification in F). These cells appear to contact the ventricle and extend processes in the SVZ (arrows in G). (H) Four weeks after lateral ventricular injection, neuroblasts (arrowheads) and immature neurons (arrows) can be seen in the olfactory bulb contralateral to the injection site, indicating that ventricle-contacting cells are neurogenic. Panels (C-H) show photomicrographs of cells visualized by immunoperioxidase immunochemistry for GFP.

Chapter 4

The extent of the SVZ and the diversity of adult neural stem cells

Overview

Neural stem cells are known to reside in the SVZ of the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle and generate at least six different subtypes of olfactory bulb interneurons. The specific origin of these interneuron types within the SVZ has remained obscure. To address this question, I improved the targeting technique described in Chapter 3 and systematically labeled spatially restricted populations of radial glia in neurogenic regions of the neonatal brain. I show that regions of cortex and septum adjacent to the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle also contain long-lived progenitors that produce olfactory bulb interneurons in the postnatal brain. I also show that each targeted cortical, septal or SVZ region contains progenitors that neural stem cells are restricted in their potential to generate multiple interneuron types and populate different domains of an extensive periventricular germinal zone.

Introduction

Since the discovery of the SVZ, it has been unclear why OB neurons are generated in such an extensive germinal zone. Initially, it was though that neurogenesis was restricted to the anterior-most portion of the SVZ (Lois and Alvarez-Buylla, 1994; Luskin, 1993), but later work showed that neurons were born throughout the lateral ventricular wall (Doetsch and Alvarez-Buylla, 1996). Newly-born neurons (neuroblasts) therefore have to migrate over long distances; it takes approximately 2-6 days for a neuroblast to reach to the OB after being born in the SVZ (Lois and Alvarez-Buylla, 1994; Petreanu and Alvarez-Buylla, 2002). Long-distance migration is not a feature of other adult neurogenic regions, including the hippocampus (Gage et al., 1998; Seri et al., 2004), olfactory epithelium (Calof et al., 1996; Morrison and Costanzo, 1992), and possibly the hypothalamus (Kokoeva et al., 2005) and retina (Bernardos et al., 2007; Fischer and Reh, 2001). It is unknown why OB interneurons generated so far away from their destination rather than simply being generated in the OB.

Neuroblasts integrate and mature into several distinct cell types upon reaching the olfactory bulb (Alvarez-Buylla and Garcia-Verdugo, 2002; Hack et al., 2005; Kohwi et al., 2005). The two principal types of adult-born olfactory neurons - periglomerular cells and granule cells - are interneurons that modulate the activity of neurons that project to olfactory cortex. Periglomerular cells can be subdivided into three non-overlapping populations of cells: calretinin- (CalR+) and calbindin-expressing (CalB+) cells, and tyrosine hydroxylase-expressing (TH+) dopaminergic cells (Kosaka et al., 1995). Granule cells include deep,

superficial, and CalR+ cells (Fig. 4A) (Jacobowitz and Winsky, 1991; Price and Powell, 1970). These subtypes are thought to be distinct functional elements of the olfactory bulb circuitry (Kosaka et al., 1995; Price and Powell, 1970; Shepherd and Greer, 1998). For a more detailed description of different OB interneuron types, see Chapter 1, Section 3, "Diversity among OB neurons".

It is not known where in the SVZ these different cell types are generated. Interestingly, the regional origin of CalR+ cells, which constitute roughly 20% of OB interneurons (Jacobowitz and Winsky, 1991; Kosaka et al., 1998), has not been determined. A recent study has suggested that the transcription factor Sp8 controls CalR+ cell identity, since about half of these cells are absent in mice lacking Sp8 in DIx5/6+ regions (Waclaw et al., 2006). During development, Sp8 is expressed not only in the lateral wall, but also in the RMS, medial wall, and cortical (dorsal) wall of the lateral ventricle, so CalR+ cells may be generated outside of the lateral wall.

It is commonly assumed that multipotent NSCs are able to produce each of these OB neuron types (Fig. 1A). However, recent evidence suggests that neural stem cells may be more restricted than was previously thought (see Chapter 1, Section 2, "Plasticity vs. commitment"), and that neuroblasts are specified to a particular fate before reaching the olfactory bulb (Hack et al., 2005; Kohwi et al., 2005; Saino-Saito et al., 2004). I therefore hypothesized that stem cells are not equivalent and that they may specify the fate of the neurons they produce (Fig. 1B). To test this hypothesis, I labeled stem cells in different regions and followed their progeny *in vivo*.

Results

I have previously shown (see Chapter 3, Results) that adult neural stem cells are derived from radial glia present in the neonatal (P0) mouse brain (Merkle et al., 2004). Radial glia, which are now recognized as the principal stem cell of the embryonic and early postnatal mouse brain (Anthony et al., 2004; Noctor et al., 2002), have a unique morphology that allows them to be targeted specifically. Their cell bodies line the ventricles and they send a long, radial process to the brain surface. Adenoviruses readily infect these processes and are transported to the cell body. When an adenovirus expressing Cre recombinase (Ad:Cre) is injected into GFP reporter (Z/EG) mice (Novak et al., 2000), infected radial glia and their progeny become permanently labeled with GFP (Merkle et al., 2004). Since adenoviruses do not diffuse readily in the brain, the localized injection of a small volume (20 nl) of Ad:Cre labels a spatially restricted patch of neural stem cells whose processes passed through the injection site.

Regional targeting of neonatal radial glia

To label radial glia in a regionally specific manner, I developed a method to stereotaxically inject Ad:Cre in neonatal (P0) mice (Fig. 1E). Rather than injecting radial glia at a trajectory that passed through a large area of parenchyma, injections were performed at a trajectory parallel to radial glial processes (see Chapter 2, Section 6 "<u>Stereotaxic injection of neonatal pups</u>"). Injections resulted in the reproducible labeling of spatially segregated patches of

radial glia (Fig. 1C, D) and the adult SVZ stem cells they generate (Fig. 1F, G). In contrast, cells labeled locally at the injection site do not give rise to olfactory bulb neurons or neural stem cells (Merkle et al., 2004). By systematically varying the injection location (Fig. 1H), I targeted 15 different populations of radial glial cells at six different rostrocaudal levels (i-vi). I targeted the dorsal (D) or ventral (V) lateral wall of the lateral ventricle at four different rostrocaudal levels (ii-v) and the dorsoventral extent of the lateral wall at level vi. I also targeted the RMS (i), the medial (septal) wall (iiM), and the cortical wall of the lateral ventricle (iiC-vC) since these regions had been suggested to contain neural progenitors (Doetsch et al., 1999a; Morshead et al., 1994; Seri et al., 2006; Ventura and Goldman, 2007).

When I analyzed the brains of mice four weeks after Ad:Cre injection, I observed a patch of labeled cells in the same anatomical location as the targeted radial glial cell bodies, indicating that neural stem cells do not disperse tangentially (Fig. 2). Figure 1F and G show examples of SVZ labeling after neonatal targeting of dorsal and ventral SVZ radial glia, respectively.

Production of OB interneurons from labeled radial glia.

After labeling different neurogenic subregions in the neonatal mouse, I waited 28 days and examined the mature GFP-labeled neurons in the olfactory bulb. Olfactory bulb interneurons were produced from all labeled regions including regions i, iiM and iiC-vC, which extend beyond the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle, the accepted boundary of the neurogenic adult SVZ.

Remarkably, each region only gave rise to a very specific subset of interneuron subtypes. Anterior and dorsal regions produced periglomerular cells (Fig. 3A-D; 4B), though the highest percentage was produced in region iiM (Fig. 3A, B; 4B). Periglomerular cell subtypes were also produced in a region-specific manner. Dorsal regions (iiC-vC) produced the highest percentage of TH+ cells (Fig. 4C, 5A-C) whereas CalB+ cells were produced mainly ventrally, in regions iiV and iiiV (Fig. 4D, 5D-F). CalR+ periglomerular cells were less frequently observed when these regions were targeted, but were frequently labeled with targeting of regions i and iiM (Fig. 4E, 5G-I). Each targeted region produced granule cells (Fig. 4F), though region iiM produced relatively few (Fig. 3A, B; 4B). Dorsal regions (iiC-vC, iiD, iiiD) tended to produce superficial granule cells while ventral regions (iiV-vV) produced mostly deep granule cells (Fig. 3E-H; 4F). Interestingly, CalR+ granule cells were produced mostly from the anterior regions (i and iiM) that also produced many CalR+ periglomerular cells (Fig. 4G, 5J-L). A recent study suggested that CaIR+ OB interneurons are derived Sp8+ cells in the dorsal LGE (Waclaw et al., 2006). However, grafted LGE cells do not produce CaIR+ cells (Kohwi et al., 2007) suggesting they are produced by Sp8+ cells in regions i and iiM (Waclaw et al., 2006) rather than the dorsal LGE.

The data presented demonstrate that SVZ neural stem are restricted in the types of neurons they generate in vivo. I conclude that postnatal neural stem cells are diverse and are organized in an intricate mosaic in an extensive postnatal germinal zone (Fig. 6).

Discussion

Spatial extent of adult neurogenesis

The continued presence of neuroblasts in each of the targeted regions (Fig. 3B, D, F, H) suggests that radial glia transform into long-lived neurogenic progenitors not only in the periventricular striatum (Merkle et al., 2004), but also in the RMS and periventricular cortex and septum. It remains to be seen if these regions contain multipotent stem cells or merely neurogenic progenitors. However, it is clear that postnatal neurogenesis occurs in an extensive zone that includes the anterior medial wall and a region of cortex that appears to span the rostrocaudal axis of the lateral ventricle. This finding is consistent with several recent studies suggesting that cortical (Kohwi et al., 2007; Ventura and Goldman, 2007; Willaime-Morawek et al., 2006) and septal (Inoue et al., 2007; Kohwi et al., 2007) progenitors contribute to olfactory bulb neurogenesis.

I found that different regions produced different OB neuron types, but that the borders between these regions, defined by cell type production, could be sharp or diffuse. For example, CalB+ PGCs (Fig. 4D) and CalR+ PGCs (Fig. 4E) were almost exclusively produced in the ventral and anterior SVZ, respectively, suggesting that these domains are well-defined. On the other hand, TH+ PGCs (Fig 4C) and superficial GCs (Fig 4F) are produced in a dorsoventral gradient that extends from cortical regions down into the lateral ventricular wall. The dorsal domain might therefore have a "fuzzier" border. However, no domain existed in isolation; at domain boundaries I obtained mixed cell populations (Fig. 4B-G. This implies a functional continuity of progenitors in a single, anatomically
continuous adult neurogenic zone (Fig. 7B).

The boundaries of this zone have not been thoroughly established. I did not observe OB neuroblasts when targeting the medial cortex or the septum posterior to region iiM (data not shown). The extent of the neurogenic zone could be more solidly established by targeting small patches of radial glia close to the supposed boundary between neurogenic and non-neurogenic regions. Additionally, the expression of a combination of markers could help define the boundaries. BrdU-incorporating and Dcx+ cells were found in all regions that produced neuroblasts after targeting, but not in non-neurogenic regions. This suggests that the borders of the neurogenic niche could be identified histologically and later confirmed by specific targeting of progenitors and lineage tracing. It has also been shown that the SVZ and SGZ receive both serotonergic and dopaminergic projections, and that the overlap of these projections appears to be unique to neurogenic regions (Hagg, 2005). Thus, overlapping neurotransmitter patterns may help define the extent of the neurogenic zone.

It is not known why some regions of the brain retain NSCs while they disappear from other regions during development. It would be interesting to determine the developmental history of the entire neurogenic zone by adapting methods that have been applied to the neonatal SVZ. This could be accomplished by fate-mapping radial glia labeled in specific regions of the embryo by viral injection or by electroporation. This approach would shed light on the developmental histories of neural progenitors in different regions, which would inform future work to elucidate the mechanisms involved in maintaining

NSCs in the adult brain. For example, cells at either side of the border of the neurogenic zone could be compared by gene chip analysis or by immunostaining for candidate genes thought to be relevant for stem cell maintenance, such as Notch1 (Gaiano and Fishell, 2002; Hitoshi et al., 2002) or Shh (Machold et al., 2003).

Diversity of neural progenitors and the control of adult neurogenesis

The generation of different cell types in different regions of the neurogenic niche suggests that neural progenitors are diverse. This has important implications both for the organization of adult neurogenesis and the nature of adult NSCs. First, it clarifies why neurons are born in such a large germinal zone and migrate over such long distances to reach the OB: many different regions contribute to the diversity of OB interneurons. This may provide a mechanism for the brain to fine-tune the OB circuitry by dynamically stimulating or inhibiting neurogenesis in different regions to regulate interneuron production. Progenitors in different regions could respond to neurotransmitters or through specific signaling pathways. For example, serotonergic projections are topographically organized (Molliver, 1987) and cells with active Gli1, a downstream target of Shh, may be concentrated in the ventral SVZ ((Ahn and Joyner, 2005) and unpublished observations).

This discovery also raises the possibility that changes in the size of a particular neurogenic domain or in the activity of its progenitors might influence olfactory discrimination. Since olfaction is a critically important sense for many

animals, these changes would be under selective pressure and might influence the evolution of the brain regions in which adult NSCs reside. It will be interesting to determine if the adult human brain, which has been shown to contain cells that can act as neural progenitors *in vitro* (Sanai et al., 2004), also contains a germinal zone that is divided into different domains. If this is the case, it might be possible to harvest progenitors of a desired cell type from a particular region of the neurogenic zone, expand their numbers in vitro to obtain a particular neuron type, and transplant them back into patients.

The function of adult SVZ neurogenesis

The regionalized production of different OB interneuron types provides a unique opportunity to investigate the function of adult neurogenesis. By targeting progenitors in a certain region, either genetically or with a virus, one could genetically modify a particular subset of OB interneurons. It is now possible to reversibly activate or inactivate targeted elements of brain circuitry with light (Arenkiel et al., 2007; Chambers et al., 2006; Gorostiza et al., 2007; Kramer et al., 2005; Szobota et al., 2007). The effect of activating or silencing these cells on the OB circuit activity could be studied electrophysiologically *in vivo* or in slice cultures in the presence or absence of light. If an effect is seen, the behavioral consequences such as olfactory discrimination or olfactory conditioning could be studied *in vivo*. These studies might clarify the relative contributions of each of these cells to the OB circuitry and might shed light on why so many different cell types are replaced throughout adulthood. Perhaps many different elements of the

circuit must be modified in parallel to achieve the desired functional result. This model could have implications for cell-based therapies for brain repair; transplantation of a combination of different cell types, rather than a single cell type, might be required to functionally repair damaged circuits.

The adult NSC: a restricted progenitor?

Finally, the apparent restriction of different progenitors to a small subset of different OB interneuron types changes our perception of adult NSCs. Whereas they are commonly thought to be homogeneous and plastic, the data presented above suggest that they are committed to producing only few different cell types. This finding resonates with the growing body of evidence that NSCs are heterogeneous and become increasingly restricted over the course of development (see Chapter 1, also reviewed in (Pearson and Doe, 2004; Temple, 2001)). Though it is not yet known if NSC potential is intrinsic or dictated by the environment (see Chapter 5), it is clear that *in vivo* they exist as a functionally diverse and topographically organized population of cells.



Figure 1. Specific regional targeting of neural stem cells.

(A and B) In the traditional model of SVZ stem cell potential (A), equivalent stem cells (black dots) generate multiple neuron types, which are produced by a diverse stem cell population in the proposed model (B). (C and D) Diagram of a neonatal mouse brain showing targeting of dorsal (C) or ventral (D) radial glia (green) with virus deposited at the injection site and along the needle tract (gray circle and bar). (E) Stereotaxic setup showing an acrylic model of a neonatal pup positioned in a customized head mold for viral injection parallel to radial glial processes. This allows specific labeling of small groups of radial glia without contaminating other areas by virus deposited along the needle tact. (**F** and **G**) Photomicrograph of a P28 Z/EG brain injected at P0 to target dorsal (F) or ventral (G) radial glia, visualized with immunoperoxidase staining for GFP. (H) Diagram of brain regions targeted. Representative frontal sections of the right hemisphere traced from the adult brain are shown relative to a photomicrograph of an adult lateral ventricular wall whole mount outlined in blue (Doetsch and Alvarez-Buylla, 1996). Targeted regions, indicated by green dots, are named for their anterior-posterior level (i-vi) followed by the location within that level, where C is cortical, M is medial, D is dorsal and V is ventral.



Figure 2. Region-specific labeling of radial glia derived cells.

(**A-O**) Photomicrographs of P28 Z/EG brains showing labeled cells visualized by immunoperoxidase for GFP. Cells were labeled by stereotaxic injection of Ad:Cre at a trajectory parallel to radial glial processes, resulting in cells labeled locally at the injection site (arrows) and radial glial cells in neurogenic zones distant from the injection. Some progeny of labeled radial glia remain in germinal zones (arrowheads), where they continue to produce olfactory bulb interneurons . In (**O**), the injection site is in a different plane.



Figure 3. Production of olfactory bulb neurons from different neurogenic subregions.

All images are photomicrographs of olfactory bulb frontal sections from P28 Z/EG mice injected with Ad:Cre at P0, visualized by immunoperoxidase staining for GFP. (**A** and **B**) When region iiM is targeted, low magnification reveals that most olfactory bulb cells are found in the glomerular layer (GL) (A), and almost all cells with mature cells have periglomerular cell morphology at higher magnification (B). (**C** and **D**) Only granule cells are produced when region vi is targeted. (**E** to **H**) Neonatal targeting of region iiiD leads to superficial granule cell production (E and F), whereas targeting region iiiV (G and H) leads to deep granule cell production. Note the position of the cell bodies within the granule cell layer (GRL). The persistence of neuroblasts in the olfactory bulb core (arrowheads) in all labeled regions suggests the continued presence of a radial glial-derived adult neural stem cell.



Figure 4. Regional production of postnatally born interneuron subtypes.

(A) Color-coded camera lucida traces of analyzed interneuron subtypes superimposed over a photomicrograph of the olfactory bulb. EPL, external plexiform layer; IPL, internal plexiform layer; GC, granule cell; GL, glomerular layer; GRL, granule cell layer; PGC, periglomerular cell. (B) Percentage of labeled (GFP+) olfactory bulb neurons that are periglomerular cells. All analysis was performed 28 days after stem cell labeling and targeted regions are named as in Fig. 1H, where M is medial, C is cortical, D is dorsal and V is ventral. Error bars represent standard deviation of the mean, except in (F) where they represent standard error of the mean. (C-E) Percentage of labeled periglomerular cells immunopositive for TH (C), CalR (D), or CalB (E). (F) Position of labeled granule cells within the GRL. Cell distributions that could not be definitively classified as superficial (green) or deep (blue) are indicated in teal. (E) Percentage of labeled granule cells immunopositive for CalR.



Figure 5. Confocal identification of NSC-derived OB interneuron subtypes .

Confocal images show P28 olfactory bulb frontal sections from P0 targeted Z/EG mice. Double-label immunofluorescence for GFP (A, D, G and J) and subtype specific markers tyrosine hydroxylase (B), calbindin (E) and calretinin (H and K), show radial glia-derived TH+ (C), CalB+ (F) and CalR+ (I) periglomerular cells and CalR+ granule cells (L) in the olfactory bulb. Arrows show the location of GFP+ cells.



Figure 6. Schematic fate map of different OB interneuron subtypes.

The region-specific production of OB interneuron subtypes is illustrated. A whole mount preparation (outlined in blue, below) exposes the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle, but neurogenic regions in the RMS, septum and cortex cannot be seen. The generation of different OB interneuron subtypes (above) is indicated by arrows originating from analyzed regions on the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle (solid circles). Neuron generation from the septum (region iiM) is indicated by a dashed circle. The morphologies of different neuron types were traced manually, color-coded, and superimposed on their appropriate location in the adult mouse olfactory bulb. Each neuron type is generated in a particular domain of the adult germinal niche, suggesting that stem cells are heterogeneous and restricted, not homogeneous and plastic as widely assumed. Illustration by Florian T. Merkle and Kenneth Xavier Probst.



Figure 7. Known and proposed extent of the forebrain neurogenic zone.

Neural stem cells may reside over a wide area of the forebrain, spanning the rostrocaudal extent of the embryonic lateral ventricle. **(A)** Schematic diagram of showing the regions of neurogenesis in the lateral ventricular wall (yellow circles) on traced sections of the right hemisphere of an adult mouse brain. **(B)** Additional regions in which adult NSCs were discovered by neonatal and adult targeting are indicated in blue circles. Green circles indicate putative neurogenic areas that have not been experimentally verified to contain NSCs.

Chapter 5

The potential and plasticity of adult neural stem cells

Overview

The discovery that NSCs are organized into different domains and appear to be restricted in their neurogenic potential in vivo suggests that they are a diverse group of cells. To determine if adult NSCs share the same regionally specific neurogenic potential, I developed a technique to specifically label adult NSCs in different subregions of the SVZ. I found that NSCs targeted in the same region of the neonatal or adult brain generated similar OB neuron types, suggesting that NSC neurogenic potential is relatively stable during postnatal development and that NSCs are diverse. However, it is unclear if this diversity is due to factors intrinsic to progenitors or environmental factors distributed in different spatial patterns. To distinguish between these possibilities, I isolated progenitors from different neurogenic subregions and grew them in vitro. Rather than producing a variety of neuron types, cultured progenitors generated only a subset of region-appropriate neuron types, much like progenitors in vivo. Next, I heterotopically grafted progenitors from one SVZ subregion to another to determine if the neurogenic potential of progenitors would be respecified by environmental factors. However, grafted neural progenitors continued to produce cell types appropriate to their region of origin. These findings suggest that rather

than being homogeneous and highly plastic, neural stem cells are a restricted and diverse population of progenitors.

Introduction

Our understanding of NSC potential is strongly influenced by the *in vitro* techniques with which they were first isolated (Morshead et al., 1994; Reynolds and Weiss, 1992a). These results led to the widely held assumption that neural stem cells are a homogeneous population of multipotent, plastic progenitors. However, when I specifically labeled radial glia in the neonatal brain, I found that different regions of the SVZ produced only restricted subsets of OB interneuron types. It was not clear if neuroblasts were being specified by factors intrinsic to stem cells, or if environmental factors specified stem cells or neuroblasts after they were generated. Furthermore, I found that each targeted region continued to produce neuroblasts in the adult brain, suggesting the persistence of an active neural stem cell population (see Chapter 4, Results, Fig. 1H; 4B, D, F, H). Since neonatal radial glia convert into SVZ astrocytes that express GFAP and function as the adult neural stem cells (Doetsch et al., 1999a; Imura et al., 2003; Merkle et al., 2004), I hypothesized that radial glia in different neurogenic subregions generate GFAP+ adult neural stem cells that are restricted in their potential to produce different types of olfactory bulb interneurons.

Results

Maintenance of stem cell potential over postnatal development

To test whether adult neural stem cells in different regions produced different neuron types, I developed a technique to specifically target primary progenitors expressing GFAP. We accomplished this by constructing an adenovirus that expresses Cre under the murine GFAP promoter (Ad:GFAP-Cre). This virus induces recombination in GFAP-expressing cells, including adult neural stem cells, but not the more differentiated cells they give rise to (Fig. 1; 2A-C). I injected P60 Z/EG mice with Ad:GFAP-Cre in regions i, iiiD, iiiV and vC (Fig. 2D-G) and sacrificed the animals 28 days later to examine the olfactory bulb cell types produced. Each targeted region produced olfactory bulb neurons and neuroblasts (Fig. 3A-D), suggesting that they contain long-lived populations of GFAP+ neurogenic progenitors. This finding corroborates previous work suggesting the presence of a neurogenic progenitor in the adult RMS (Fukushima et al., 2002; Gritti et al., 2002; Hack et al., 2005) and subcallosal zone (regions ivC and vC) (Seri et al., 2006; Ventura and Goldman, 2007).

Furthermore, these labeled progenitors produced superficial and deep granule cells as well as TH+, CalB+ and CalR+ cells in a manner similar to the region-specific pattern observed after neonatal labeling. Neonatally targeted and adult-targeted progenitors in region i produced CalR+ GCs (Fig. 2F), whereas progenitors in regions iiiD and vC produced superficial GCs (Fig. 2A-E) and TH+ PGCs (Fig. 2F), and progenitors in region iiiV produced deep GCs (Fig. 2A-E) and CalB+ PGCs (Fig. 2F; Chapter 4, Fig. 4). A recent study suggests that the

potential of progenitors to produce different types of periglomerular cells changes over development (De Marchis et al., 2007). Our results raise the possibility that this work may have inadvertently examined progenitors and tangentially migrating neuroblasts from different regions at different ages. In contrast, our technique targets only primary progenitors either by targeting the processes of radial glial cells in the neonatal brain or by specifically recombining GFAP+ cells in the adult brain. The apparent maintenance of stem cell potential over postnatal development suggests that the factors specifying neural progenitors in the SVZ are maintained throughout development in a regionally specific manner.

Postnatal NSC potential is determined by a cell-intrinsic mechanism

Factors that specify stem cell or neuroblast fate could be either environmental or intrinsic to stem cells. To distinguish between these two possibilities, I challenged neonatal stem cells by heterotopic transplantation. If environmental factors specify the fate of newborn neurons, grafted (donor) stem cells and their progeny should respond to these factors and generate cell types appropriate to the host region.

To obtain labeled neural stem cells, neonatal radial glia were infected with Ad:Cre as described above, microdissected after two hours, dissociated to a single cell suspension, and homotopically or heterotopically grafted into the littermates of donor animals (Fig. 4A). I then analyzed the olfactory bulb cell types produced 40 days after grafting and found that labeled radial glia continued to produce the cell types appropriate to their region of origin; ventral progenitors

grafted into the dorsal or ventral SVZ produced deep GC (Fig. 4B). Furthermore, progenitors from the anterior SVZ continued to produce PGCs when grafted into the posterior or anterior SVZ, whereas posterior progenitors never did (Fig. 4C).

In order to determine if progenitors would maintain their region-specific potential in the absence of any environmental cues, I cultured anterior, dorsal, or ventral progenitors under adherent conditions that recapitulate postnatal SVZ neurogenesis (Scheffler et al., 2005) (see Chapter 2, Section 5, "<u>Neural stem cell</u> <u>monolayer cultures</u>" and <u>"Neural stem cell cultures for in vitro potential</u> <u>determination"</u>). Cultures were expanded for two weeks, differentiated for 7 days, (Fig. 5A) and immunostained for the cell type specific markers CaIR and CaIB (Fig. 6). Like progenitors targeted in vivo, cultured cells from anterior regions produced CaIR+ cells, whereas ventral progenitors produced CaIB+ cells (Fig. 5B). Thus, neural stem cells maintained their region-specific potential despite being removed from their complex environment and exposed to a cocktail of growth factors.

I confirmed this result by targeting dorsal or ventral radial glia with Ad:Cre in the neonatal brain. After two days, targeted cells were cultured as described above (see Chapter 2, Section 5, "<u>Neural stem cell monolayer cultures</u>" and <u>"Neural stem cells cultured for heterotopic grafting</u>"). Cultured cells were then grafted into the dorsal or ventral SVZ of wild-type neonatal mice (Fig. 7A) (see Chapter 2, Section 6, "<u>Heterotopic grafting of cultured neural stem cells</u>"). Again, grafted cells produced cell types appropriate to their region of origin, not their grafted location (Fig. 7B).

The above experiments suggest that neural stem cells are not readily respecified by environmental factors present in the postnatal brain. However, I cannot exclude the possibility that unlabeled cells grafted alongside labeled stem cells could be carrying factors such as secreted or membrane-bound proteins from the donor environment into the host graft site. Therefore, I microdissected progenitors from different regions of neonatal wild-type or ActB-GFP mice (Hadjantonakis et al., 1998) and cultured them for three passages over two weeks. To ensure that grafted cells were surrounded by foreign environmental cues, I mixed GFP+ cells from the donor region with a 10:1 excess of unlabeled wild-type cells from the host region that had been cultured in parallel to the GFP+ cells. The cell mixture was then grafted into wild-type neonatal mice (Fig. 10A). Four weeks later, grafted brains contained labeled astrocyte-like cells at the graft site (Fig. 8A, C, E, and G) and mature neurons in the olfactory bulbs (Fig. 8B, D, F, and H). Since grafted cells and targeted primary progenitors produced similar proportions of neuroblasts (Fig. 9), grafted cells were most likely stem cells and not intermediate progenitors. Once again, heterotopically grafted stem cells produced neuronal subtypes with the same regional specificity observed by in *vivo* lineage tracing (Fig. 10B-E).

The lack of evidence for even partial respecification indicates that grafted cells behaved as a unified population that was resistant to environmental respecification. However, I cannot discard the possibility that some environmental factors were not totally eliminated in our experiments, or that neural stem cell potential could be altered by factors not included in our culture

conditions or after extended periods of time *ex vivo*. For example, membranebound signaling molecules would be diluted but not eliminated upon progenitor expansion in culture. These environmental factors could maintain the regional specification of progenitors for short periods of time. Therefore, repeated passages or long-term exposure to growth factors might reveal the latent multipotency of NSCs.

Previous studies have suggested that adult hippocampal or spinal cord progenitors might be respecified when heterotopically grafted (Shihabuddin et al., 2000; Suhonen et al., 1996). Though these findings are inconsistent with my data, the results might be reconciled considering that the hippocampal cells of Suhonen et al. were cultured for over two years. These culture conditions, which I did not test in our study, could result in re-specification. Furthermore, rat hippocampal progenitors might be more plastic than mouse SVZ progenitors. Finally, our present results and previous work (Doetsch and Alvarez-Buylla, 1996; Seri et al., 2006) demonstrate that there are progenitors of OB neurons immediately adjacent to the hippocampus. These progenitors may have contaminated the hippocampal cultures of Suhonen et al. and produced OB neurons when grafted into the SVZ.

Thus, the most parsimonious interpretation of the data presented above is that the neurogenic potential of NSCs in the SVZ is intrinsically restricted. I conclude that postnatal neural stem cells are diverse and are organized in an intricate mosaic in the postnatal germinal zone.

Discussion

In Chapter 4, I demonstrated that progenitors in the SVZ are organized into domains in an extensive periventricular germinal zone. Here, I demonstrate that the potential of these progenitors is restricted and cell-intrinsic. These findings suggest that, as during seen during embryonic brain development (Campbell, 2003; Guillemot, 2005; Rubenstein and Beachy, 1998), the potential of postnatal neural stem cells is determined by a spatial code. Since stem cells do not appear to migrate tangentially as they mature from radial glia into astrocyte-like adult cells, they must have integrated positional information at some point in development. One possibility is that this positional information becomes encoded in the progenitors, perhaps by expression of a transcription factor code, and maintained into adulthood. This insight is a key step toward understanding the molecular mechanisms of neural stem cell potential.

The production of similar OB interneuron types from similar regions of neonatal and adult SVZ suggests that stem cell potential does not change significantly over postnatal development. However, only certain cell types were examined with a limited set of morphological criteria and marker genes. Thus, it remains possible that the potential of NSCs to produce astrocytes, oligodendrocytes or other types of OB interneurons changes over time. Furthermore, only P0 and P60 NSCs were compared and it remains possible that certain cell populations are produced within the first few months of life but not later. To more carefully determine if there is a temporal shift in NSC potential during postnatal development, a greater variety of cell types should be examined

at a greater number of time points. If it is possible to specifically label NSCs in the embryonic brain (see Chapter 6, "<u>A technique to specifically label embryonic</u> <u>NSCs</u>"), this analysis could be extended to the embryonic brain.

I dissociated and cultured NSCs to demonstrate that they retain the ability to generate region-specific cell types in the absence of environmental cues. After multiple passages and two weeks in culture, soluble and membrane-bound factors should be significantly diluted. Contaminating cell types might still be present, but unless they are as proliferative as NSCs and their progeny, they would be at a competitive disadvantage and would be diluted after two weeks in culture. Therefore, the continued presence of environmental factors in cultured cells cannot be completely discounted. However, since no change in regionspecific cell type production was observed, the most parsimonious explanation is that NSC potential is cell-autonomous.

Another potential concern about culturing progenitors is that both NSCs and intermediate progenitors have been reported to respond to growth factors and act like NSCs under neurosphere conditions (Doetsch et al., 2002). Therefore, cultures may include both primary and transformed intermediate progenitors. However, when removed from these conditions and grafted back into the SVZ, neurospheres formed from intermediate progenitors are inefficient at producing OB interneurons (Isabel Caille, unpublished observations). Therefore, I did not grow neurospheres but used an adherent culture system reported to more closely recapitulate adult neurogenesis (Scheffler et al., 2005). After being cultured and grafted, these cells generated as many neuroblasts as

directly targeted primary progenitors, suggesting that cultures consisted mostly of primary progenitors. However, I cannot discount the possibility that under these conditions, intermediate progenitors acquire and maintain the ability to generate neurons for long periods of time, even after being grafted back into the SVZ. To directly test this possibility, C cells could be purified from Mash1^{GFP} mice (Wildner et al., 2006) and cultured under adherent conditions to determine if they are able to acquire multipotency under neurosphere and adherent conditions. After a certain amount of time in culture, these cells could then be grafted into the SVZ to determine if C-cell derived cultures exhibit the same levels of neurogenesis after grafting as directly targeted primary progenitors.

Furthermore, the genetic basis of NSC potential could be examined by labeling stem cells in different regions, purifying them by FACS, and comparing them by gene chip analysis. Shared genes might may be involved in maintaining the neural stem cell state, whereas differentially expressed genes might may be involved in specifying different cell types. With this approach, it would be possible to identify the set of genes required to make, for example, a dopaminergic OB interneuron. Together with the appropriate inductive signals, one could activate these genes in embryonic stem (ES) cells or immature neural stem cells (embryonic radial glia) to guide them towards making these cell types in vitro. This approach has been successfully used to generate motor neurons from ES cells (Miles et al., 2004; Wichterle et al., 2002). Alternatively, these genes could be activated in adult stem cells that do not normally express them. This would test whether a single gene or set of genes is sufficient to drive adult NSCs toward

a particular phenotype, shedding light on the mechanisms of NSC commitment. One could also conditionally remove these genes or knock down their activity to determine if they are necessary for specifying a particular fate. There is evidence that the transcription factors Pax6 and Olig2 regulate the production of TH+ PGCs and oligodendrocytes, respectively, in the adult brain when overexpressed or knocked down (Hack et al., 2005; Kohwi et al., 2005). These results have not been repeated, but they suggest that while NSCs may not be sensitive responsive to environmental factors present in the neonatal brain, their potential can still be altered by genetic manipulation.

One approach to identify other genes that may specify different types of OB interneurons is to examine TFs and other genes implicated in OB neurogenesis or expressed in regions of the embryonic brain thought to give rise to the adult SVZ. In addition to Pax6 and Olig2, such candidate genes include Dlx1/2/5/6 (Kohwi et al., 2007; Saino-Saito et al., 2003; Xu et al., 2004), Emx1/2 (Kohwi et al., 2007), Er81 and Gsh1/2 (Stenman et al., 2003), Gli1/2/3 (Ahn and Joyner, 2005; Palma et al., 2005; Ruiz i Altaba et al., 2003), Mash1 (Parras et al., 2004), Ngn1/2 (Schuurmans and Guillemot, 2002; Toresson et al., 2000), Nkx2.1/2.2 (Backman et al., 2005; Sussel et al., 1999; Xu et al., 2004), Notch1 (Chambers et al., 2001; Givogri et al., 2006; Irvin et al., 2001; Stump et al., 2002; Tokunaga et al., 2004), Sox2/9/10/11 (Wegner and Stolt, 2005; Zappone et al., 2000), Sp8 (Waclaw et al., 2006), and Zic1 (Inoue et al., 2007).

A second approach is to screen through a gene expression database for genes differentially expressed in different regions of the SVZ. These databases

include the Allen Brain Atlas (Lein et al., 2007), which contains detailed photomicrographs of adult mouse brain sections stained for many different genes by in situ hybridization and the GENSAT (Gong et al., 2003; Heintz, 2004) database of BAC transgenic mice immunostained with DAB for GFP. I screened through several thousand transcription factors and genes involved in the major signaling pathways to identify novel candidates that might regulate OB neurogenesis. The results of this screen are summarized in Table 4.

In conclusion, my findings suggests that we should abandon the idea that NSCs are a homogeneous population of multipotent progenitors. The potential of an individual stem cell *in vivo*, the molecular basis of its potential, and the plasticity of this cell in response to genetic and environmental manipulation will have to be determined in future studies. I will discuss these issues and techniques to address them in Chapter 6.

Cono	Expression	Expression in	Description from literature	Poforonoo
Gene	SV/Z specific	ОВ	Ultraconserved poncoding	Reference
	including		RNA present in embryonic	
	ventral		I GE and interacts with local	
	medial wall.		TF. Induces neurons	
	Specifically		expressing it to differentiate in	
	dorsal in		response to Shh. Whole mount	
	posterior	Expression in	in situ hybridization shows that	
	areas. Patchy	core,	it's expressed at high levels in	
	staining high	superficial	the branchial arches, ventral	
	in RMS	GRL,	forebrain, olfactory bulb, and	
	suggests	scattered cells	limbs. Expression is linked to	(Faedo et al.,
	neuroblast	in MCL, EPL,	Shh and the Dlx family of	2004; Kohtz and
DIx6os1	expression	GL	proteins.	Fishell, 2004)
	E		Only transcription factor	
	Expressed in		directly linked to numan	
	striatum and		speech, commonly studied TF	
	SUZ cells		with Emy genes in zehrafish in	
	narticularly in	cells in verv	early development but later	
	anterior	superficial	expression is highest in ontic	(Ferland et al
	ventral	GRL IPL	tectum and	2003: Li et al.,
Foxp2	regions	MCL	vestibulocerebellum.	2004b)
•			Maternally expressed	,
			homeobox TF. Widely	
			expressed in embryo, localized	
	Highly		to epidermis in neonates and	
	expressed,		maturing oocytes and fertilized	
	strongest in		eggs in adults. In the brain, it's	
	scattered		expressed in the cerebral	
	cells in dorsal		cortex, nippocampus, pontine	(Cinquente et el
Octov	SVZ and DMS	High in PGC,	corobollum	
Ogex	RIVIO	Scallered GC	Homeobox transcription factor	2000)
			three amino acid loop	
	Expressed		extension (TALE) family	
	strongly in		embryonically expressed in	
	patches,		brain and epithelia including	
	especially in		olfactory bulb epithelium.	
	the ventral		Developmentally important	
	tip, wedge		(also found in PNS, limb buds,	
	area, and		etc.) but not as widely	
	RMS,		expressed as Pbx1 and Pbx2.	
	stronger		Possibly overexpressed in	
Dby2	anterior than	CC only	numan brain tumors. Has	(DI Glacomo et
FUX3	posterior		Homeobox TE association for	ai., 2000)
			retinal development	
	Weak		Sometimes co-expressed with	
	dorsal-	Scattered cells	Pax6 and Six3 in culture and	(Mikkola et al
	specific	in GL. GRL	in developing retina. Could	2001: Tabata et
Rax	expression	MCL	regulate or be regulated by	al., 2004)

Table 4. Genes that may direct OB interneuron production by SVZ stem cells.

			Pax6, expression in SVZ is	
			similar.	
			Downstream of pax6 (pax6-	
	Expressed in	Neuroblasts	>tbr2->tbr1) in radial glial	
	type C and A	and projection	differentiation, present in SVZ	(Englund et al.,
Tbr2	cells	neurons	cells and adult DG.	2005)
			Wnt target gene,	
			downregulated in brain of Shh	
			mutants (bmp4 upregulated),	
			directly binds beta-catenin and	
	Strongly SVZ		is highly expressed in	
	specific,		embryonic CNS and limb	
	patchy	Clusters of	buds. Under control of Pax6.	(Matsunaga et
Tcf4	staining	GC, PGC	Absent in Pax6 mutants.	al., 2000)
			Guanine nucleotide exchange	· · · · ·
			factor that regulates numerous	
			biologic properties including	
			migration and invasion and	
			reduces cellular adhesion.	
			Important for neuroblast	(Kawauchi et al
			migration? Cells	2003: Leeuwen
			overexpressing Tiam1	et al., 1997;
		Expression	increase nestin expression.	Mivamoto et al
		strong in core.	Presence of cells in superficial	2006: Tolias et
	Weak	verv	GRL may indicate a role in	al., 2007: Zhang
	expression in	superficial	differentiation. Activated by	and Macara.
Tiam1	SVZ. RMS	GRL. MCL	TrkB. Directly binds to c-myc.	2006)
	,	,	Teashirt TF similar to	/
			Drosophila.	
	Stronaly		knockout/overexpression	
	expressed		induces homeotic mutations	(Manfroid et al
Tshz1	ventrally	GC and PGC	including ectopic eves	2004)
			Encodes transmembrane	
			protein that modulates (Ca2+)	
	Expressed in		concentration in ER. regulated	
	ventral		by Sp1 and Sp3 TF. Gene	
	striatum		knockout results in Wolfram	
	immediately		syndrome, a recessive	
	adjacent to	Scattered cells	neurodegenerative disease	(Takei et al.,
	ventral tip of	with bias to	accompanied by optic and	2006: Yamaguchi
Wfs1	SVZ	deep GRL	autic atrophy.	et al., 2004)
			TF specifically expressed in	,,
			early hippocampal neurons.	
			cerebellar granule cells	
			gliogenic progenitors and	
	SVZ specific		differentiated glia. Closely	
	higher in		related to BCL-6 and may be	
	dorsal and		involved in hematopoiesis.	
	ventral tins		oncogenesis, and immune	
	scattered	OB core and	responses and pyramidal	(Nielsen et al
Zbtb20	cells	PGC only	neuron production.	2007)
			Zinc finger homeobox 2 TF	
	SV7 specific	Scattered	expressed in many different	
	natchy	cells mostly in	organisms but of unknown	(Komine et al
Zfhx2as	expression	GC	function.	2006)



Figure 1. Specific regional targeting of neural stem cells.

Diagram of adult brain regions targeted. Representative traces of frontal sections from the right hemisphere or an adult mouse brain are shown relative to a photomicrograph of an adult lateral ventricular wall whole mount (Doetsch and Alvarez-Buylla, 1996). Targeted regions, indicated by green dots, are named for their anterior-posterior level (i-vi) followed by the location within that level, where C is cortical, D is dorsal and V is ventral.



Figure 2. Ad:GFAP-Cre specifically induces recombination in GFAPexpressing cells in adult mice.

(A) One day after injection of Ad:GFAP-Cre into the P60 SVZ, there are many recombined (GFP expressing) GFAP+ cells. (B) These GFP+ cells display astrocytic morphology, often contact blood vessels (arrow), and surround doublecortin (Dcx)-expressing neuroblasts (arrowhead). Neuroblasts are not recombined. (C) Quantification of double-labeled cells one (T1), four (T4) or ten (T10) days after injection of Ad:GFAP-Cre into the SVZ or RMS reveals that Dlx2+ intermediate progenitors and Dcx+ neuroblasts, are not directly recombined but are generated by GFAP+ neural stem cells. (D-G) Photomicrographs of frontal sections showing labeled cells at the injection site and along the injection tract (arrowheads) 28 days after Ad:GFAP-Cre injection. Cells are visualized by fluorescent immunostaining for GFP for region i (D) or immunoperoxidase staining for GFP in regions vC (E), iiiD (F) or iiiV (G). Since viral diffusion is limited, these regions can be specifically targeted with Ad:GFAP-Cre when approached at a trajectory (arrowheads) that avoids other neurogenic regions.


Figure 3. As in the neonatal brain, different subregions of the adult brain generate different types of OB interneurons.

(**A-D**) Photomicrographs of olfactory bulbs of Z/EG mice injected with Ad:GFAP-Cre 28 days earlier at P60 in region i (**A**), iiiD (**B**), iiiV (**C**), or vC (**D**), with cells visualized by immunoperoxidase staining for GFP. Note the distribution of granule cells within the granule cell layer (GRL) and continued presence of neuroblasts in the olfactory bulb core (arrowheads). (**E** and **F**) Quantification of labeled granule cell position in the GRL (**E**) and TH, CalB and CalR periglomerular cell production (**F**) 28 days following radial glial (P0) or adult (P60) stem cell targeting. Note the similarity in region-specific cell production from regions targeted at P0 or P60.





(**A**) Radial glia were targeted with Ad:Cre and microdissected from different regions two hours after viral infection. In previous experiments (data not shown) it was determined that Ad:Cre infects radial glial processes and is retrogradely transported to the cell body in 30-60 minutes. Infected radial glia were dissociated and grafted into wild-type neonatal mice. (**B** and **C**) Distribution of GFP+ granule cells in the granule cell layer from dorsal/ventral grafts (B) and the percentage of mature GFP+ OB neurons that were periglomerular cells from anterior/posterior grafts (C) 40 days after ventral/dorsal grafting.



Figure 5. Neural progenitors maintain their potential in culture.

(A) Schematic diagram showing the isolation and culturing of progenitors from different neurogenic regions. Cells were cultured for 7 days and were passaged 2 times.
(B) Percentage of neurons expressing CalR (orange) or CalB (purple) after 7 days of differentiation *in vitro*. The immunostaining of different cell types in culture is shown in Fig. 6.



Figure 6. Neural stem cells maintain their region-specific potential in culture.

(**A-C**) Photomicrographs of differentiated neural stem cell cultures immunostained to identify neurons (Dcx+), oligodendrocytes (Olig2+) and astrocytes (GFAP+). Progenitors dissected from regions i/iiM (A), ii/iiiD (B), and ii/iiiV (C) were cultured for 7 days, passaged twice, and differentiated for 7 days. (**D-I**) When stained for neuron type specific markers CalR (D-F) and CalB (G-I), cultures exhibited region-specific neuron production, with most of the CalR+ cells produced in regions i and iiM (D) and most of the CalB+ cells produced in regions iiV and iiiV (I). See Fig. 5B for quantification.



Figure 7. Neural stem cells are resistant to respecification after culture and heterotopic grafting.

(**A**) Schematic diagram showing the targeting, culture and grafting of radial glia from neonatal Z/EG mice to neonatal CD1 mice. Radial glia in regions iiiD and iiiV were specifically targeted with Ad:Cre, microdissected after two days, and cultured for two weeks and three passages. Cultured cells were then grafted into regions iiiD or iiiV. (**B**) The distribution of ventral/dorsal graft-derived granule cells in the granule cell layer demonstrates that cells were not respecified.





Images are fluorescent photomicrographs of GFP-labeled cells in recipient brains four weeks after heterotopic grafting. (**A** and **B**) Cells grafted from the dorsal to the ventral SVZ (A), produce mostly superficial olfactory bulb granule cells (arrows in B). The presence of migrating neuroblasts in the olfactory bulb core (arrowheads), suggests that grafted cells are long-lived neurogenic progenitors. (**C** and **D**) Ventral cells grafted to the dorsal SVZ (C) produce neuroblasts (arrowheads in D) and deep granule cells (arrows). (**E-H**) Anterior cells grafted to the posterior SVZ (E) produce neuroblasts (arrowheads in F) and many periglomerular cells (arrows) while posterior cells grafted to the anterior SVZ (G) produce neuroblasts (arrowhead in H) and very few periglomerular cells. After being cultured and heterotopically grafted, progenitors produce cell types similar to those observed from in vivo targeting.

Neuroblast production



Figure 9. Grafted cells remain actively neurogenic.

Graph showing the quantification of neuroblast production four weeks after cultured cells were grafted or radial glia were specifically labeled with Ad:Cre. For each grafted or targeted region, neuroblasts in the olfactory bulb core and mature olfactory bulb neurons were counted for three separate mice, and the ratio of neuroblasts to all counted olfactory bulb cells was determined. Error bars show standard error of the mean. Grafted cells produced as many neurons as radial glia-derived neural stem cells, suggesting that grafted cells were long-lived neural stem cells.



Figure 10. Neural stem cell potential is cell-intrinsic.

(**A**) Neonatal SVZ progenitors from GFP+ and wild-type mice were cultured for multiple passages, mixed 1:10, and grafted into the SVZ of wild-type P0 host. (**B** and **C**) Quantification of granule cell distribution in the granule cell layer (**B**) and of TH+ (red) or CalB+ (purple) periglomerular cell production (**C**) by GFP+ cells from regions iii/ivD or iii/ivV grafted heterotopically and homotopically into regions iiiD or iiiV. (**D** and **E**) Quantification of periglomerular cell production (**D**) or CalR+ periglomerular (orange) and granule cell (gold) production (**E**) by GFP+ cells from regions iiM or vD/V grafted into regions iiD or vD.

Chapter 6 Concluding remarks and future directions

Overview

Four principal conclusions are presented in this work: 1) adult NSCs of the SVZ are derived from radial glia, 2) the adult SVZ includes not only the lateral wall of the lateral ventricle but also the RMS and portions of the cortex and septum 3) NSCs in different regions of the postnatal SVZ generate different types of OB interneurons, and 4) NSCs of the postnatal SVZ are a diverse set of restricted progenitors that are not respecified when heterotopically transplanted or cultured. Below I discuss some of the implications of these conclusions and suggest further experiments based on these findings that may expand our understanding of NSCs.

Our understanding of the *in vivo* potential of NSCs has been limited by the lack of techniques to specifically label them. To study NSC behavior, investigators have cultured them *in vitro*, grafted them, or nonspecifically labeled them *in vivo* with retroviruses. However, *in vitro* studies place NSCs in a foreign context and test the potential of a progenitor to respond to factors in the culture medium in the absence of normal environmental cues, rather than revealing the true potential of an NSC *in vivo*. Studies in which progenitors are grafted or labeled with retrovirus are complicated by the fact that a mixture of different cell types are labeled and traced. Therefore, these techniques also obscure the true

potential of NSCs *in vivo*. Based on data obtained from using these methods, investigators have assumed that NSCs are able to generate many different neuron types *in vivo*. However, this assumption is inconsistent with the results of my work, in which NSCs from both the neonatal and adult brain were specifically targeted and followed *in vivo*.

From the work I presented above, we have gained a deeper understanding of stem cell potential in the postnatal SVZ, but we still know relatively little about the embryonic NSCs that generate postnatal NSCs. When do embryonic NSCs acquire regional identity? When do they become committed to a particular fate and resistant to respecification? How does their neurogenic potential change over time? Which embryonic NSCs contribute to the adult NSC population?

A technique to specifically label embryonic NSCs

To address these questions, I propose that the radial glial targeting technique used to label neonatal NSCs technique could be adapted to target the radial processes of NSCs in the embryonic mammalian brain. Others have shown that it is possible to visualize and inject specific regions of the embryonic mouse or rat brain *in utero* with the help of ultrasound backscatter microscopy (Butt et al., 2005; Olsson et al., 1997; Turnbull et al., 1995; Wichterle et al., 2001). To permanently label cells, Ad:Cre could be targeted to the distal processes of radial glia in embryonic Cre reporter mice. Alternatively, radial glia of embryonic Cre reporter mice could be labeled by injecting a Cre-expressing

plasmid DNA construct into the parenchyma and inducing transfection by electroporation. Electroporation allows additional flexibility, since it does not require a viral vector and allows the introduction of constructs to overexpress or knock down a gene of interest with relative ease.

One potential drawback to targeting embryonic NSCs is that embryonic brains are smaller than postnatal brains, making it more challenging to cleanly target a specific area. Furthermore, the distance between the injection site and the radial glial cell body would be smaller than in the neonatal brain, raising the possibility that NSCs might be labeled nonspecifically by diffusion of the virus or plasmid to the VZ. To enhance the specificity of the technique, radial glia could be labeled combinatorially, from both the parenchyma and the ventricle. For example, a wild-type brain could be injected with Ad:Cre targeted to the radial process and a retrovirus containing a floxed reporter gene targeted to the lateral ventricle. Only dividing cells would be infected by the retrovirus, which would integrate into the genome, and only cells also infected by Ad:Cre would recombine the reporter gene in the retroviral genome. This approach would specifically label dividing, ventricle-contacting cells with long radial processes in a restricted spatial location. Lentiviruses, which integrate in the host cell genome but can also infect non-mitotic cells, could be used rather than retrovirus to increase the efficiency of this technique if too few labeled cells are obtained.

Once cells have been labeled *in vivo*, injected animals would be sacrificed at the desired time points and labeled cells could be examined. It would also be

possible to microdissect labeled cells at different time points and culture or graft them. Potential applications of this technique are described below.

The developmental origin of the neurogenic zone

The origins of the adult neurogenic zone are unclear. However, it is necessary to understand the developmental origins of different adult NSCs in order to determine how neurogenic niches are formed, how NSCs are maintained into adulthood, and what genes regulate their neurogenic potential. Based on anatomic, genetic and functional similarities, it is thought that embryonic LGE gives rise to the adult lateral ventricular wall (see Chapter 1, Section 1, "Tangential migration and the generation of OB interneurons"). However, data presented here and in recently published work (Kohwi et al., 2007; Ventura and Goldman, 2007) demonstrates that pallial and septal regions also contribute to OB neurogenesis in the postnatal brain. Therefore, the adult SVZ is likely derived from the LGE as well as other regions of the embryonic telencephalon. These other embryonic regions could be identified by systematically targeting NSCs in discrete locations of the embryonic brain as described above, allowing injected mice to survive into adulthood, and determining which labeled regions continue to generate OB interneurons in the adult brain. Based on these experiments, a fate map of the adult SVZ could be constructed.

This fate map could have well-defined borders early in embryonic development, or it could evolve gradually by the progressive loss of progenitors that produce OB interneurons. To distinguish between these possibilities,

different regions of the embryonic mouse brain could be targeted as described above, and mice could be sacrificed different time points after injection. Once the origin of each neurogenic subregion is known, progenitors within and without the developing SVZ could be compared by gene chip analysis to identify genes that may specify adult NSCs or regulate self-renewal.

The heterogeneity of NSC lineages

The discovery that cortical radial glia generate OB interneurons is surprising, particularly since cortical interneurons are derived from the MGE rather than the cortex. Additionally, cortical NSCs were previously thought to be depleted at the end of gliogenesis when radial glia terminally differentiated into parenchymal astrocytes (Schmechel and Rakic, 1979; Voigt, 1989) (Fig. 1A). Cortical GFAP+ cells produced OB interneurons but did not appear to migrate tangentially when targeted with Ad:GFAP-Cre in the adult brain, but their developmental origin is unclear. It has been suggested that embryonic cortical progenitors can migrate into the SVZ (Willaime-Morawek et al., 2006), so one possibility is that subcortical progenitors can also migrate into the cortex. However, this hypothesis is not supported by work demonstrating that neonatally targeted NSCs do not migrate tangentially (Ventura and Goldman, 2007) (see Chapter 4). To directly test this hypothesis, subcortical radial should be specifically targeted in the embryonic brain and traced into the adult brain.

An alternative hypothesis is that cortical NSCs do not migrate but are heterogeneous; many cortical NSCs may disappear at the end of histogenesis

but some may display a neurogenic potential that resembles that of subcortical NSCs over long periods of time postnatally (Fig. 1B). These OB interneuronproducing cortical progenitors may express transcription factors thought to be specific to subpallial structures. For example, cells expressing both the Emx1, Dlx2 and Dlx5/6+ are found at the rostral pallial/septal boundary (Kohwi et al., 2007). This overlap of gene expression becomes more pronounced at the anterior pallial/subpallial boundary as the SVZ transitions into the RMS (John Rubenstein and colleagues, personal communication). Certain genes, such as Pax6 are expressed at high levels in the cortex but their expression spills down into LGE, albeit at lower levels. It is possible that a transcription factor that plays an important role in determining adult NSC identity and OB interneuron fate is expressed at high levels subcortical structures and at lower levels in the pallium. Such a transcription factor has not been identified and the expression of subcortically-specific genes such as DIx1/2/5/6 and Gsh1/2 drops sharply at the pallial/subpallial boundary. However, perhaps even low or transient expression of these genes at early developmental time points is sufficient to specify some pallial cells to produce OB interneurons.

To test the latter hypothesis, known subcortically-expressed genes could be overexpressed in the embryonic cortex along with a marker gene, and traced into adulthood *in vivo*. This experiment would determine if these genes are sufficient to specify OB interneuron production and to maintain these progenitors as adult NSCs. Also, these genes could be overexpressed at different developmental time points to determine when progenitors are specified to remain

postnatal NSCs. Finally, cortical progenitors, subcortical progenitors, and cortical progenitors expressing subcortical transcription factors could be cultured and followed by time lapse video microscopy. This would allow their lineages to be reconstructed and directly compared. The results of these studies would inform future efforts to experimentally direct NSCs to produce particular neuron types.

NSC potential restriction and plasticity

It is widely accepted that the neurogenic potential of NSCs changes over time (see (Temple, 2001) and Chapter 1, Section 1, "Temporal regulation of NSC potential"). However, the data presented here demonstrate that the potential of neonatal radial glia to produce different types of OB interneurons does not change appreciably as they transform into adult astrocyte-like stem cells. As discussed above (see Chapter 3, Discussion, "Heterogeneity vs. temporal shift in potential"), it is likely that neonatally-labeled radial glia are a heterogeneous population of cells. Some radial glia are postmitotic and committed to producing ependymal cells or parenchymal astrocytes, and some remain neurogenic in the neonate and the adult. Transplantation and adult labeling experiments suggest that neurogenic neonatal radial glia are committed to generating certain cell types and maintain this commitment into adulthood. It should be noted that the OB interneurons types were distinguished by morphology and marker genes which may not have captured the respecification of NSCs to other OB interneuron subtypes or indeed other cell types such as astrocytes or oligodendrocytes, which were not examined. NSC potential is likely to be

dynamic in the embryo as the brain is being actively patterned. However, together my findings suggest that the potential of adult NSCs to produce the OB interneuron types examined has been restricted before birth.

It is not known when in development this restriction takes place or what mechanisms are involved. To determine how the potential of a NSC changes over time, embryonic NSCs in a particular region could be specifically labeled at different time points and their progeny could be followed *in vivo*. To determine if their potential at a particular time point is restricted or plastic, labeled NSCs from a particular region could be challenged by transplanting them into the same region of a younger or older brain. This analysis may elucidate the temporal profile of NSC lineage restriction. Furthermore, it may pinpoint a window in time when NSCs can be manipulated by a particular environmental or intrinsic factor. For example, it has been shown in culture that NSCs are able to generate earlierborn cell types when the transcription factor Foxg1 is knocked down at E12 but they seem to be committed by E15 (Shen et al., 2006). This finding supports the idea that mammalian NSCs gradually become more committed and lose the ability to be respecified.

Finally, it may be possible to identify genes involved in regulating NSC potential by labeling NSCs in a particular region, microdissecting labeled cells at different time points, and comparing their gene expression profiles by gene chip analysis. The effect of candidate genes could then be determined by overexpression or knockdown in vivo, and lineage tracing of targeted NSCs.

The in vivo potential of an individual NSC

The potential of an individual NSC is not known. NSCs may produce astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and neurons *in vivo* (Fig. 2A) as they do in the presence of high levels of growth factors *in vitro*. However, these culture conditions can alter their potential such that they no longer resemble NSCs *in vivo* (Gabay et al., 2003). Alternatively, NSCs may be a heterogeneous population of restricted progenitors *in vivo* and only appear to be homogeneous because of their combined potential (Fig. 2B). Yet another possibility is that they are truly multipotent *in vivo*, but only produce certain cell types in response to physiologically relevant environmental stimuli (Fig. 2C).

To sort out these possibilities, individual NSCs and their progeny must be labeled and tracked *in vivo*. This has previously been accomplished by infecting progenitors with a library of viruses, where each virus carries a marker gene and a unique genetic tag (Cepko et al., 1995; Walsh and Cepko, 1992). Cells labeled by the marker gene were then dissected, and their DNA was extracted and purified to identify the genetic tag by PCR. However, this process is laborious and problematic since viral particles sometimes clump together, leading to multiple infection of individual clones.

A new tool has recently emerged that may facilitate *in vivo* clonal analysis: the Brainbow mouse, generated by Josh Sanes and Jeff Lichtman (personal communication with Jeff Lichtman). Brainbow transgenic mice carry multiple copies of a cassette containing four different colored fluorescent proteins, each flanked by a loxP site. Cre recombinase stochastically recombines

these sites, generating diverse combinations of fluorescent proteins. Up to 70 different colors can be reliably distinguished by the human eye (Jeff Lichtman, personal communication), so the recombination of a small number of progenitors would allow several unique NSCs and their progeny to be identified simultaneously. This would allow lineages of stem cells in different regions to be reconstructed and compared. The current strain of Brainbow mice express fluorescent proteins under the Thy1 promoter, which becomes active postnatally in only a subset of neurons. Therefore, another Brainbow strain that uses an embryonically expressed ubiquitous promoter must be developed in order to carry out the proposed lineage tracing experiments.

A model of postnatal NSC potential

Though specific labeling of NSCs in the neonatal and adult brain, it is now clear that different regions of the SVZ generate different types of OB interneurons. Since populations rather than individual labeled cells were examined, no conclusions can be drawn about the potential of individual NSCs except that they do not behave like a homogeneous population of multipotent stem cells (Fig. 3A). Therefore, NSCs are likely a diverse population of more restricted progenitors, although it remains unclear whether they are restricted to producing only one type (Fig. 3B) or several types (Fig. 3C) of OB interneuron.

After specific labeling of neonatal radial glia or adult GFAP+ progenitors, three domains can be appreciated: a rostral/septal (R) domain where CalR+ GCs and PGCs were produced, a dorsal (D) domain where superficial GC and TH+

PGCs were produced, and a ventral (V) domain where deep GCs and CalB+ PGCs were produced (see Chapter 4, Fig. 6). In each of these regions, both GCs and PGCs are produced. This suggests that each domain may contain progenitors capable of producing both GCs and PGCs. These progenitors will be referred to as type R, type D and type V progenitors, named for the SVZ domain they occupy (Fig. 3C). This interpretation is supported by evidence that superficial GCs express mRNA for TH (Baker et al., 2001; Saino-Saito et al., 2004), though the functional enzyme cannot be detected by immunohistochemistry. Thus, superficial GCs and TH+ PGCs - which are produced in the same domain - share a common set of genes and may be derived from a common (type D) progenitor.

This model, however, cannot explain why so many PGCs are produced in the medial wall (region iiM) or why so few, if any, PGCs are produced in caudal and ventral regions. It remains possible, though, that environmental factors encountered earlier in development biased progenitors in different regions to alter their production of PGCs. Environmental factors in the neonatal SVZ are unlikely to regulate the production of PGCs, since NSCs grafted from rostral regions continued to produce PGCs when grafted to the caudal SVZ, and caudal progenitors did not gain the ability to make PGCs when grafted to the rostral SVZ. To determine which model most accurately describes NSC potential in the postnatal brain, it will be necessary to label and trace the lineage of individual NSCs.

Conclusion

The data presented in this dissertation challenge the traditional view that neural stem cells are homogeneous, plastic, and multipotent progenitors. NSCs in different regions of the postnatal neurogenic niche appear to be restricted and committed to producing different neuron types. Although this finding narrows our view of NSC potential, it brings us a step closer to an accurate understanding of their *in vivo* capabilities. With this new insight, we may be able to design more effective therapeutic strategies based on the true in vivo capabilities of NSCs. Also, with the techniques introduced to label and genetically manipulate NSCs, we are now armed with new tools to examine the molecular mechanisms regulating stem cell potential and plasticity. Ultimately, this knowledge may lead to a more comprehensive understanding of neural stem cell biology and provide a foundation for future efforts to manipulate stem cells.



Figure 1. Schematic cell linage of cortical and adult neurogenic cortical progenitors.

(A) Schematic of the cell linage of NSCs (white circles) of the cerebral cortex. NSCs first divide symmetrically, then divide asymmetrically to generate neurons (N), then generate astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (oligos) and finally are removed from the stem cell pool by terminally differentiating into astrocytes. Adapted from (Temple, 2001). (B) Proposed cell linage of a cortical NSC that continues producing OB interneurons in the adult. Rather than differentiating into a parenchymal astrocyte, the NSC (white circles) remains neurogenic. The actual lineage of cortical NSCs remains to be determined.





Figure 2. Models of NSC potential in vivo.

(A) NSCs (white circle) may retain the potential to produce astrocytes (A, blue), neurons (N, red), and oligodendrocytes (O, green) under normal conditions in vivo. (B) NSCs may be a heterogeneous population of restricted progenitors in vivo, each of which produces only one cell type. Exposure to growth factors in vitro may induce these progenitors to become multipotent. (C) NSCs may produce restricted cell types under normal conditions in vivo, but retain the potential to produce astrocytes, neurons, and oligodendrocytes. Exposing NSCs to growth factors in vitro may reveal this latent potential. NSCs may be biased toward a particular lineage by endogenous factors.



Figure 3. Models of NSC potential to produce OB interneurons.

(A) It is widely thought that NSCs (white circle) are able to produce TH+ PGCs (red), CalR+ PGCs (orange), CalR+ GCs (yellow), superficial GCs (green), deep GCs (blue), and CalB+ PGCs (purple). (B) NSCs may be a heterogeneous population of restricted progenitors, each of which produces only one neuron type. (C) NSCs in rostral/septal (R), dorsal (D), and ventral (V) domains may have the potential to produce both GCs and PGCs. Chapter 7 References Aboody, K. S., Brown, A., Rainov, N. G., Bower, K. A., Liu, S., Yang, W., Small, J. E., Herrlinger, U., Ourednik, V., Black, P. M., *et al.* (2000). Neural stem cells display extensive tropism for pathology in adult brain: evidence from intracranial gliomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 12846-12851.

Ahn, S., and Joyner, A. L. (2005). In vivo analysis of quiescent adult neural stem cells responding to Sonic hedgehog. Nature *4*37, 894-897.

Alonso, J. R., Brinon, J. G., Crespo, C., Bravo, I. G., Arevalo, R., and Aijon, J. (2001). Chemical organization of the macaque monkey olfactory bulb: II. Calretinin, calbindin D-28k, parvalbumin, and neurocalcin immunoreactivity. J Comp Neurol *432*, 389-407.

Altman, J. (1962). Are new neurons formed in the brains of adult mammals? Science *135*, 1127-1128.

Altman, J. (1963). Autoradiographic investigation of cell proliferation in the brains of rats and cats. AnatRec *145*, 573-591.

Altman, J. (1967). Postnatal growth and differentiation of the mammalian brain, with implications for a morphological theory of memory, In The Neurosciences: first study program, N. R. Program, ed. (New York: Rockefeller University Press), pp. 763-743.

Altman, J. (1969). Autoradiographic and Histological Studies of Postnatal Neurogenesis. IV. Cell Proliferation and Migration in The Anterior Forebrain, With Special Reference to Persisting Neurogenesis in The Olfactory Bulb. JCompNeurol *137*, 433-458.

Altman, J., and Bayer, S. A. (1990). Mosaic organization of the hippocampal neuroepithelium and the multiple germinal sources of dentate granule cells. JCompNeurol *301*, 325-342.

Altman, J., and Das, G. D. (1965). Autoradiographic and histological evidence of postnatal hippocampal neurogenesis in rats. JCompNeurol *124*, 319-336.

Alvarez, I. S., and Schoenwolf, G. C. (1991). Patterns of neurepithelial cell rearrangement during avian neurulation are determined prior to notochordal inductive interactions. Developmental Biology *143*, 78-92.

Alvarez-Buylla, A., and Garcia-Verdugo, J. M. (2002). Neurogenesis in adult subventricular zone. J Neurosci 22, 629-634.

Alvarez-Buylla, A., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., and Tramontin, A. D. (2001). A unified hypothesis on the lineage of neural stem cells. Nat Rev Neurosci *2. 2*, 287-293.

Alvarez-Buylla, A., and Lim, D. A. (2004). For the long run: maintaining germinal niches in the adult brain. Neuron *41*, 683-686.

Alvarez-Buylla, A., and Lois, C. (1995). Neuronal stem cells in the brain of adult vertebrates. Stem Cells *13*, 263-272.

Alvarez-Buylla, A., and Temple, S. (1998). Stem cells in the developing and adult nervous system. JNeurobiol *36*, 105-110.

Alvarez-Buylla, A., Theelen, M., and Nottebohm, F. (1990). Proliferation "hot spots" in adult avian ventricular zone reveal radial cell division. Neuron *5*, 101-109.

Anderson, S. A., Eisenstat, D. D., Shi, L., and Rubenstein, J. L. R. (1997). Interneuron migration from basal forebrain to neocortex: dependence on *Dlx* genes. Science *278*, 474-476.

Anthony, T. E., Klein, C., Fishell, G., and Heintz, N. (2004). Radial glia serve as neuronal progenitors in all regions of the central nervous system. Neuron *41*, 881-890.

Anton, M., and Graham, F. L. (1995). Site-specific recombination mediated by an adenovirus vector expressing the Cre recombinase protein: a molecular switch for control of gene expression. J Virol *69*, 4600-4606.

Antonopoulos, J., Pappas, I. S., and Parnavelas, J. G. (1997). Activation of the GABA_A receptor inhibits the proliferative effects of bFGF in cortical progenitor cells. EurJNeurosci *9*, 291-298.

Aoki, C., and Siekevitz, P. (1988). Plasticity in brain development. SciAmer, 34-42.

Arenkiel, B. R., Peca, J., Davison, I. G., Feliciano, C., Deisseroth, K., Augustine, G. J., Ehlers, M. D., and Feng, G. (2007). In vivo light-induced activation of neural circuitry in transgenic mice expressing channelrhodopsin-2. Neuron *54*, 205-218.

Assanah, M., Lochhead, R., Ogden, A., Bruce, J., Goldman, J., and Canoll, P. (2006). Glial progenitors in adult white matter are driven to form malignant gliomas by platelet-derived growth factor-expressing retroviruses. J Neurosci *26*, 6781-6790.

Av-Ron, E., and Vibert, J. F. (1996). A model for temporal and intensity coding in insect olfaction by a network of inhibitory neurons. Biosystems *39*, 241-250.

Axel, R. (2005). Scents and sensibility: a molecular logic of olfactory perception (Nobel lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed Engl *44*, 6110-6127.

Backman, M., Machon, O., Mygland, L., van den Bout, C. J., Zhong, W., Taketo, M. M., and Krauss, S. (2005). Effects of canonical Wnt signaling on dorso-ventral specification of the mouse telencephalon. Dev Biol *279*, 155-168.

Baker, H., Liu, N., Chun, H. S., Saino, S., Berlin, R., Volpe, B., and Son, J. H. (2001). Phenotypic differentiation during migration of dopaminergic progenitor cells to the olfactory bulb. J Neurosci *21*, 8505-8513.

Baker, S. A., Baker, K. A., and Hagg, T. (2004). Dopaminergic nigrostriatal projections regulate neural precursor proliferation in the adult mouse subventricular zone. Eur J Neurosci *20*, 575.

Banasr, M., Hery, M., Printemps, R., and Daszuta, A. (2004). Serotonin-induced increases in adult cell proliferation and neurogenesis are mediated through different and common 5-HT receptor subtypes in the dentate gyrus and the subventricular zone. Neuropsychopharmacology *29*, 450-460.

Bass, T., Singer, G., Slusser, J., and Liuzzi, F. J. (1992). Radial glial interaction with cerebral germinal matrix capillaries in the fetal baboon. ExpNeurol *118*, 126-132.

Bayer, S. A. (1983). 3H-Thymidine-radigraphic studies of neurogenesis in the rat olfactory bulb. Exp Brain Res *50*, 329-340.

Bayer, S. A. (1985). Neuron production in the hippocampus and olfactory bulb of the adult rat brain: addition or replacement? Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences *457*, 163-172.

Bernardos, R. L., Barthel, L. K., Meyers, J. R., and Raymond, P. A. (2007). Latestage neuronal progenitors in the retina are radial Muller glia that function as retinal stem cells. J Neurosci *27*, 7028-7040.

Bhide, P. G. (1996). Cell cycle kinetics in the embryonic mouse corpus striatum. JCompNeurol *374*, 506-522.

Bonfanti, L., Peretto, P., Merighi, A., and Fasolo, A. (1997). Newly-generated cells from the rostral migratory stream in the accessory olfactory bulb of the adult rat. Neuroscience *81*, 489-502.

Buck, L., and Axel, R. (1991). A novel multigene family may encode odorant receptors: a molecular basis for odor recognition. Cell *65*, 175-187.

Bulfone, A., Wang, F., Hevner, R., Anderson, S., Cutforth, T., Chen, S., Meneses, J., Pedersen, R., Axel, R., and Rubenstein, J. L. (1998). An olfactory sensory map develops in the absence of normal projection neurons or GABAergic interneurons. Neuron *21*, 1273-1282.

Bull, N. D., and Bartlett, P. F. (2005). The adult mouse hippocampal progenitor is neurogenic but not a stem cell. J Neurosci *25*, 10815-10821.

Butt, S. J., Fuccillo, M., Nery, S., Noctor, S., Kriegstein, A., Corbin, J. G., and Fishell, G. (2005). The temporal and spatial origins of cortical interneurons predict their physiological subtype. Neuron *48*, 591-604.

Caille, I., Allinquant, B., Dupont, E., Bouillot, C., Langer, A., Muller, U., and Prochiantz, A. (2004). Soluble form of amyloid precursor protein regulates proliferation of progenitors in the adult subventricular zone. Development *131*, 2173-2181.

Calof, A. L., Hagiwara, N., Holcomb, J. D., Mumm, J. S., and Shou, J. Y. (1996). Neurogenesis and cell death in olfactory epithelium. JNeurobiol *30*, 67-81.

Campbell, K. (2003). Dorsal-ventral patterning in the mammalian telencephalon. Curr Opin Neurobiol *13*, 50-56.

Campbell, K., and Gotz, M. (2002). Radial glia: multi-purpose cells for vertebrate brain development. Trends Neurosci *25*, 235-238.

Capela, A., and Temple, S. (2002). LeX/ssea-1 is expressed by adult mouse CNS stem cells, identifying them as nonependymal. Neuron *35*, 865-875.

Carleton, A., Petreanu, L. T., Lansford, R., Alvarez-Buylla, A., and Lledo, P. M. (2003). Becoming a new neuron in the adult olfactory bulb. Nat Neurosci *6*, 507-518.

Caviness, V. S., Jr., Takahashi, T., and Nowakowski, R. S. (1995). Numbers, time and neocortical neuronogenesis: A general developmental and evolutionary model. Trends Neurosci *18*, 379-383.

Cayre, M., Malaterre, J., Scotto-Lomassese, S., Strambi, C., and Strambi, A. (2002). The common properties of neurogenesis in the adult brain: from invertebrates to vertebrates. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol *13*2, 1-15.

Cecchi, G. A., Petreanu, L. T., Alvarez-Buylla, A., and Magnasco, M. O. (2001). Unsupervised Learning and Adaptation in a Model of Adult Neurogenesis. J Comput Neurosci *11*, 175-182.

Cepko, C. L., Ryder, E. F., Austin, C. P., Walsh, C., and Fekete, D. M. (1995). Lineage analysis using retrovirus vectors. Methods Enzymol *254*, 387-419. Chambers, C. B., Peng, Y., Nguyen, H., Gaiano, N., Fishell, G., and Nye, J. S. (2001). Spatiotemporal selectivity of response to Notch1 signals in mammalian forebrain precursors. Development *128*, 689-702.

Chambers, J. J., Banghart, M. R., Trauner, D., and Kramer, R. H. (2006). Lightinduced depolarization of neurons using a modified Shaker K(+) channel and a molecular photoswitch. J Neurophysiol *96*, 2792-2796.

Cheng, A., Wang, S., Cai, J., Rao, M. S., and Mattson, M. P. (2003). Nitric oxide acts in a positive feedback loop with BDNF to regulate neural progenitor cell proliferation and differentiation in the mammalian brain. Dev Biol *258*, 319-333.

Chess, A., Simon, I., Cedar, H., and Axel, R. (1994). Allelic inactivation regulates olfactory receptor gene expression. Cell *78*, 823-834.

Chiasson, B. J., Tropepe, V., Morshead, C. M., and Van der Kooy, D. (1999). Adult Mammalian Forebrain Ependymal and Subependymal Cells Demonstrate Proliferative Potential, but only Subependymal Cells Have Neural Stem Cell Characteristics. JNeurosci *19*, 4462-4471.

Chklovskii, D. B., Mel, B. W., and Svoboda, K. (2004). Cortical rewiring and information storage. Nature *431*, 782-788.

Cinquanta, M., Rovescalli, A. C., Kozak, C. A., and Nirenberg, M. (2000). Mouse Sebox homeobox gene expression in skin, brain, oocytes, and two-cell embryos. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 8904-8909.

Cohen-Cory, S. (2002). The developing synapse: construction and modulation of synaptic structures and circuits. Science *298*, 770-776.

Corbin, J. G., Gaiano, N., Machold, R. P., Langston, A., and Fishell, G. (2000). The Gsh2 homeodomain gene controls multiple aspects of telencephalic development. Development *127*, 5007-5020.

De Carlos, J. A., Lopez-Mascaraque, L., and Valverde, F. (1996). Dynamics of cell migration from the lateral ganglionic eminence in the rat. JNeurosci *16*, 6146-6156.

De Marchis, S., Bovetti, S., Carletti, B., Hsieh, Y. C., Garzotto, D., Peretto, P., Fasolo, A., Puche, A. C., and Rossi, F. (2007). Generation of distinct types of periglomerular olfactory bulb interneurons during development and in adult mice: implication for intrinsic properties of the subventricular zone progenitor population. J Neurosci *27*, 657-664.

Dellovade, T. L., Pfaff, D. W., and Schwanzel-Fukuda, M. (1998). Olfactory bulb development is altered in small-eye (Sey) mice. J Comp Neurol *402*, 402-418.

Desai, A. R., and McConnell, S. K. (2000). Progressive restriction in fate potential by neural progenitors during cerebral cortical development. Development *127*, 2863-2872.

Di Giacomo, G., Koss, M., Capellini, T. D., Brendolan, A., Popperl, H., and Selleri, L. (2006). Spatio-temporal expression of Pbx3 during mouse organogenesis. Gene Expr Patterns *6*, 747-757.

Doetsch, F. (2003). The glial identity of neural stem cells. Nat Neurosci *6*, 1127-1134.

Doetsch, F., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (1996). Network of tangential pathways for neuronal migration in adult mammalian brain. ProcNatlAcadSciUSA *93*, 14895-14900.

Doetsch, F., Caille, I., Lim, D. A., García-Verdugo, J. M., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (1999a). Subventricular Zone Astrocytes Are Neural Stem Cells in the Adult mammalian Brain. Cell *97*, 1-20.

Doetsch, F., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (1997). Cellular composition and three-dimensional organization of the subventricular germinal zone in the adult mammalian brain. JNeurosci *17*, 5046-5061.

Doetsch, F., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (1999b). Regeneration of a germinal layer in the adult mammalian brain. ProcNatlAcadSciUSA *96*, 11619-11624.

Doetsch, F., and Hen, R. (2005). Young and excitable: the function of new neurons in the adult mammalian brain. Curr Opin Neurobiol *15*, 121-128.

Doetsch, F., Petreanu, L., Caille, I., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2002). EGF converts transit-amplifying neurogenic precursors in the adult brain into multipotent stem cells. Neuron *36*, 1021-1034.

Eckenhoff, M. F., and Rakic, P. (1984). Radial organization of the hippocampal dentate gyrus: a Golgi, ultrastructural, and immunocytochemical analysis in the developing rhesus monkey. J Comp Neurol *223. 223*, 1-21-21-21.

Edwards, M. A., Yamamoto, M., and Caviness, V. S., Jr. (1990). Organization of radial glia and related cells in the developing murine CNS. An analysis based upon a new monoclonal antibody marker. Neuroscience *36*, 121-144.

Emsley, J. G., and Hagg, T. (2003). Endogenous and exogenous ciliary neurotrophic factor enhances forebrain neurogenesis in adult mice. Exp Neurol *183*, 298-310.

Englund, C., Fink, A., Lau, C., Pham, D., Daza, R. A., Bulfone, A., Kowalczyk, T., and Hevner, R. F. (2005). Pax6, Tbr2, and Tbr1 are expressed sequentially by

radial glia, intermediate progenitor cells, and postmitotic neurons in developing neocortex. J Neurosci *25*, 247-251.

Enwere, E., Shingo, T., Gregg, C., Fujikawa, H., Ohta, S., and Weiss, S. (2004). Aging results in reduced epidermal growth factor receptor signaling, diminished olfactory neurogenesis, and deficits in fine olfactory discrimination. J Neurosci *24*, 8354.

Eves, E. M., Tucker, M. S., Roback, J. D., Downen, M., Rosner, M. R., and Wainer, B. H. (1992). Immortal rat hippocampal cell lines exhibit neuronal and glial lineages and neurotrophin gene expression. ProcNatlAcadSciUSA *89*, 4373-4377.

Faedo, A., Quinn, J. C., Stoney, P., Long, J. E., Dye, C., Zollo, M., Rubenstein, J. L., Price, D. J., and Bulfone, A. (2004). Identification and characterization of a novel transcript down-regulated in Dlx1/Dlx2 and up-regulated in Pax6 mutant telencephalon. Dev Dyn *231*, 614-620.

Feng, L., and Heintz, N. (1995). Differentiating neurons activate transcription of the brain lipid-binding protein gene in radial glia through a novel regulatory element. Development *121*, 1719-1730.

Ferland, R. J., Cherry, T. J., Preware, P. O., Morrisey, E. E., and Walsh, C. A. (2003). Characterization of Foxp2 and Foxp1 mRNA and protein in the developing and mature brain. J Comp Neurol *460*, 266-279.

Ferri, A. L., Cavallaro, M., Braida, D., Di Cristofano, A., Canta, A., Vezzani, A., Ottolenghi, S., Pandolfi, P. P., Sala, M., DeBiasi, S., and Nicolis, S. K. (2004). Sox2 deficiency causes neurodegeneration and impaired neurogenesis in the adult mouse brain. Development *131*, 3805-3819.

Filippov, V., Kronenberg, G., Pivneva, T., Reuter, K., Steiner, B., Wang, L. P., Yamaguchi, M., Kettenmann, H., and Kempermann, G. (2003). Subpopulation of nestin-expressing progenitor cells in the adult murine hippocampus shows electrophysiological and morphological characteristics of astrocytes. Mol Cell Neurosci *23*, 373-382.

Fischer, A. J., and Reh, T. A. (2001). Muller glia are a potential source of neural regeneration in the postnatal chicken retina. Nat Neurosci *4*, 247-252.

Flax, J. D., Aurora, S., Yang, C., Simonin, C., Wills, A. M., Billinghurst, L. L., Jendoubi, M., Sidman, R. L., Wolfe, J. A., Kim, S. U., and Snyder, E. Y. (1998). Engraftable human neural stem cells respond to developmental cues, replace neurons, and express foreign genes. Nature Biotechnology *16*, 1033-1039.

Frederiksen, K., and McKay, R. D. G. (1988). Proliferation and differentiation of rat neuroepithelial precursor cells in vivo. JNeurosci *8*, 1144-1151.

Fukuda, S., Kato, F., Tozuka, Y., Yamaguchi, M., Miyamoto, Y., and Hisatsune, T. (2003). Two distinct subpopulations of nestin-positive cells in adult mouse dentate gyrus. J Neurosci *23*, 9357-9366.

Fukushima, N., Yokouchi, K., Kawagishi, K., and Moriizumi, T. (2002). Differential neurogenesis and gliogenesis by local and migrating neural stem cells in the olfactory bulb. Neurosci Res *44*, 467-473.

Gabay, L., Lowell, S., Rubin, L. L., and Anderson, D. J. (2003). Deregulation of dorsoventral patterning by FGF confers trilineage differentiation capacity on CNS stem cells in vitro. Neuron *40*, 485-499.

Gage, F. H. (1998). Discussion point Stem cells of the central nervous system. CurrOpinNeurobiol *8*, 671-675.

Gage, F. H. (2000). Mammalian neural stem cells. Science 287, 1433-1438.

Gage, F. H., Kempermann, G., Palmer, T., Peterson, D. A., and Ray, J. (1998). Multipotent progenitor cells in the adult dentate gyrus. JNeurobiol *36*, 249-266.

Gage, F. H., Ray, J., and Fisher, L. J. (1995). Isolation, characterization, and use of stem cells from the CNS. AnnuRevNeurosci *18*, 159-192.

Gaiano, N., and Fishell, G. (2002). The role of notch in promoting glial and neural stem cell fates. Annu Rev Neurosci *25*, 471-490.

Gaiano, N., Nye, J. S., and Fishell, G. (2000). Radial glial identity is promoted by notch1 signaling in the murine forebrain. Neuron *26*, 395-404.

Gallera, J. (1971). Primary induction in birds. Adv Morphog 9, 149-180.

Gao, P.-P., Yue, Y., Cerretti, D. P., Dreyfus, C., and Zhou, R. (1999). Ephrindependent growth and pruning of hippocampal axons. procNatacadsci *96*, 4073-4077.

Garcia, A. D., Doan, N. B., Imura, T., Bush, T. G., and Sofroniew, M. V. (2004). GFAP-expressing progenitors are the principal source of constitutive neurogenesis in adult mouse forebrain. Nat Neurosci *7*, 1233-1241.

Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., Ferron, S., Flames, N., Collado, L., Desfilis, E., and Font, E. (2002). The proliferative ventricular zone in adult vertebrates: a comparative study using reptiles, birds, and mammals. Brain Res Bull *57*, 765-775.

Gargioli, C., and Slack, J. M. (2004). Cell lineage tracing during Xenopus tail regeneration. Development *131*, 2669-2679.

Geschwind, D. H., Ou, J., Easterday, M. C., Dougherty, J. D., Jackson, R. L., Chen, Z., Antoine, H., Terskikh, A., Weissman, I. L., Nelson, S. F., and Kornblum, H. I. (2001). A genetic analysis of neural progenitor differentiation. Neuron *29*, 325-339.

Gheusi, G., Cremer, H., McLean, H., Chazal, G., Vincent, J. D., and Lledo, P. M. (2000). Importance of newly generated neurons in the adult olfactory bulb for odor discrimination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 1823-1828.

Givogri, M. I., de Planell, M., Galbiati, F., Superchi, D., Gritti, A., Vescovi, A., de Vellis, J., and Bongarzone, E. R. (2006). Notch signaling in astrocytes and neuroblasts of the adult subventricular zone in health and after cortical injury. Dev Neurosci *28*, 81-91.

Golgi, C. (1989). On the structure of nerve cells. 1898. J Microsc 155, 3-7.

Gong, S., Zheng, C., Doughty, M. L., Losos, K., Didkovsky, N., Schambra, U. B., Nowak, N. J., Joyner, A., Leblanc, G., Hatten, M. E., and Heintz, N. (2003). A gene expression atlas of the central nervous system based on bacterial artificial chromosomes. Nature *425*, 917-925.

Gordon, N. (1995). Apoptosis (programmed cell death) and other reasons for elimination of neurons and axons. Brain Dev *17*, 73-77.

Gorostiza, P., Volgraf, M., Numano, R., Szobota, S., Trauner, D., and Isacoff, E. Y. (2007). Mechanisms of photoswitch conjugation and light activation of an ionotropic glutamate receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 10865-10870.

Gotz, M., and Barde, Y. A. (2005). Radial glial cells defined and major intermediates between embryonic stem cells and CNS neurons. Neuron *46*, 369-372.

Gotz, M., Hartfuss, E., and Malatesta, P. (2002). Radial glial cells as neuronal precursors: a new perspective on the correlation of morphology and lineage restriction in the developing cerebral cortex of mice. Brain Res Bull *57*, 777-788.

Gotz, M., and Huttner, W. B. (2005). The cell biology of neurogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *6*, 777-788.

Graham, V., Khudyakov, J., Ellis, P., and Pevny, L. (2003). SOX2 functions to maintain neural progenitor identity. Neuron *39*, 749-765.

Gregg, C., and Weiss, S. (2003). Generation of functional radial glial cells by embryonic and adult forebrain neural stem cells. J Neurosci 23, 11587-11601.

Gregg, C. T., Chojnacki, A. K., and Weiss, S. (2002). Radial glial cells as neuronal precursors: the next generation? J Neurosci Res *69*, 708-713.
Grimaldi, P., Carletti, B., Magrassi, L., and Rossi, F. (2005). Fate restriction and developmental potential of cerebellar progenitors. Transplantation studies in the developing CNS. Prog Brain Res *148*, 57-68.

Gritti, A., Bonfanti, L., Doetsch, F., Caille, I., Alvarez-Buylla, A., Lim, D. A., Galli, R., Verdugo, J. M., Herrera, D. G., and Vescovi, A. L. (2002). Multipotent neural stem cells reside into the rostral extension and olfactory bulb of adult rodents. J Neurosci *22*, 437-445.

Grosskortenhaus, R., Pearson, B. J., Marusich, A., and Doe, C. Q. (2005). Regulation of temporal identity transitions in Drosophila neuroblasts. Dev Cell *8*, 193-202.

Guillemot, F. (2005). Cellular and molecular control of neurogenesis in the mammalian telencephalon. Curr Opin Cell Biol *17*, 639-647.

Hack, M. A., Saghatelyan, A., de Chevigny, A., Pfeifer, A., Ashery-Padan, R., Lledo, P. M., and Gotz, M. (2005). Neuronal fate determinants of adult olfactory bulb neurogenesis. Nat Neurosci.

Hadjantonakis, A. K., Gertsenstein, M., Ikawa, M., Okabe, M., and Nagy, A. (1998). Generating green fluorescent mice by germline transmission of green fluorescent ES cells. Mech Dev *76*, 79-90.

Hagg, T. (2005). Molecular regulation of adult CNS neurogenesis: an integrated view. Trends Neurosci *28*, 589-595.

Hagg, T., and Oudega, M. (2006). Degenerative and spontaneous regenerative processes after spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma *23*, 264-280.

Hanashima, C., Li, S. C., Shen, L., Lai, E., and Fishell, G. (2004). Foxg1 suppresses early cortical cell fate. Science *303*, 56-59.

Hatten, M. E. (1999). Central nervous system neuronal migration. [Review] [124 refs]. Annual Review of Neuroscience *22*, 511-539.

Haubensak, W., Attardo, A., Denk, W., and Huttner, W. B. (2004). Neurons arise in the basal neuroepithelium of the early mammalian telencephalon: a major site of neurogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 3196-3201.

Heffron, D. S., and Golden, J. A. (2000). DM-GRASP is necessary for nonradial cell migration during chick diencephalic development. J Neurosci *20*, 2287-2294.

Heintz, N. (2004). Gene expression nervous system atlas (GENSAT). Nat Neurosci 7, 483.

Hendry, S. H., Schwark, H. D., Jones, E. G., and Yan, J. (1987). Numbers and proportions of GABA-immunoreactive neurons in different areas of monkey cerebral cortex. J Neurosci *7*, 1503-1519.

Hensch, T. K. (2005). Critical period plasticity in local cortical circuits. Nat Rev Neurosci *6*, 877-888.

Herrera, D. G., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (1999). Adult-Derived Neural Precursors Transplanted into Multiple Regions in the Adult Brain. AnnNeurol *46*, 867-877.

Hinds, J. W., and Ruffett, T. L. (1971). Cell proliferation in the neural tube: an electron microscopic and golgi analysis in the mouse cerebral vesicle. ZZellforsch *115*, 226-264.

Hitoshi, S., Alexson, T., Tropepe, V., Donoviel, D., Elia, A. J., Nye, J. S., Conlon, R. A., Mak, T. W., Bernstein, A., and van der Kooy, D. (2002). Notch pathway molecules are essential for the maintenance, but not the generation, of mammalian neural stem cells. Genes Dev *16*, 846-858.

Hockfield, S., and McKay, R. D. G. (1985). Identification of major cell classes in the developing mammalian nervous system. JNeurosci *5, no. 1*2, 3310-3328.

Hoglinger, G. U., Rizk, P., Muriel, M. P., Duyckaerts, C., and Oertel, W. H. (2004). Dopamine depletion impairs precursor cell proliferation in Parkinson disease. Nat Neurosci *7*, 726.

Holmberg, J., Armulik, A., Senti, K. A., Edoff, K., Spalding, K., Momma, S., Cassidy, R., Flanagan, J. G., and Frisen, J. (2005). Ephrin-A2 reverse signaling negatively regulates neural progenitor proliferation and neurogenesis. Genes Dev *19*, 462-471.

Huttner, W. B., and Brand, M. (1997). Asymmetric division and polarity of neuroepithelial cells. CurrOpinNeurobiol *7*, 29-39.

Huttner, W. B., and Kosodo, Y. (2005). Symmetric versus asymmetric cell division during neurogenesis in the developing vertebrate central nervous system. Curr Opin Cell Biol *17*, 648-657.

Ignacio, M. P. D., Kimm, E. J., Kageyama, G. H., Yu, J., and Robertson, R. T. (1995). Postnatal migration of neurons and formation of laminae in rat cerebral cortex. AnatEmbryol(Berl) *191*, 89-100.

Imura, T., Kornblum, H. I., and Sofroniew, M. V. (2003). The Predominant Neural Stem Cell Isolated from Postnatal and Adult Forebrain But Not Early Embryonic Forebrain Expresses GFAP. J Neurosci *23*, 2824-2832.

Inoue, T., Ota, M., Ogawa, M., Mikoshiba, K., and Aruga, J. (2007). Zic1 and Zic3 regulate medial forebrain development through expansion of neuronal progenitors. J Neurosci *27*, 5461-5473.

Irvin, D. K., Zurcher, S. D., Nguyen, T., Weinmaster, G., and Kornblum, H. I. (2001). Expression patterns of Notch1, Notch2, and Notch3 suggest multiple functional roles for the Notch-DSL signaling system during brain development. J Comp Neurol *436*, 167-181.

Isacson, O., and Deacon, T. (1997). Neural transplantation studies reveal the brain's capacity for continuous reconstruction. [Review] [38 refs]. Trends in Neurosciences *20*, 477-482.

Isshiki, T., Pearson, B., Holbrook, S., and Doe, C. Q. (2001). Drosophila neuroblasts sequentially express transcription factors which specify the temporal identity of their neuronal progeny. Cell *106*, 511-521.

Jackson, E. L., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., Gil-Perotin, S., Roy, M., Quinones-Hinojosa, A., Vandenberg, S., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2006). PDGFRalpha-Positive B Cells Are Neural Stem Cells in the Adult SVZ that Form Glioma-like Growths in Response to Increased PDGF Signaling. Neuron *51*, 187-199.

Jacobowitz, D. M., and Winsky, L. (1991). Immunocytochemical localization of calretinin in the forebrain of the rat. J Comp Neurol *304*, 198-218.

Jessell, T. M., and Sanes, J. R. (2000). Development. The decade of the developing brain. Curr Opin Neurobiol *10*, 599-611.

Jia, C., and Halpern, M. (2004). Calbindin D28k, parvalbumin, and calretinin immunoreactivity in the main and accessory olfactory bulbs of the gray short-tailed opossum, Monodelphis domestica. J Morphol *259*, 271-280.

Johansson, C. B., Momma, S., Clarke, D. L., Risling, M., Lendahl, U., and Frisén, J. (1999). Identification of a Neural Stem Cell in the Adult Mammalian Central Nervous System. Cell *96*, 25-34.

Kalil, R. E. (1989). Synapse formation in the developing brain. SciAmer, 38-46.

Kaplan, M. S., and Bell, D. H. (1983). Neuronal proliferation in the 9-month-old rodent-radioautographic study of granule cells in the hippocampus. Exp Brain Res *52*, 1.

Kaplan, M. S., and Hinds, J. W. (1977). Neurogenesis in the adult rat: Electron microscopic analysis of light radioautographs. Science *197*, 1092-1094.

Kaplan, M. S., McNelly, N. A., and Hinds, J. W. (1985). Population Dynamics of adult-formed granule neurons of the rat olfactory bulb. JCompNeurol *239*, 117-125.

Karfunkel, P. (1989). The Morphology of Neurulation, In The mechanisms of neural tube formation, pp. 246-271.

Kawauchi, T., Chihama, K., Nabeshima, Y., and Hoshino, M. (2003). The in vivo roles of STEF/Tiam1, Rac1 and JNK in cortical neuronal migration. Embo J *22*, 4190-4201.

Kehl, L. J., Fairbanks, C. A., Laughlin, T. M., and Wilcox, G. L. (1997). Neurogenesis in postnatal rat spinal cord: a study in primary culture. Science *276*, 586-589.

Kippin, T. E., Kapur, S., and van der Kooy, D. (2005). Dopamine specifically inhibits forebrain neural stem cell proliferation, suggesting a novel effect of antipsychotic drugs. J Neurosci *25*, 5815-5823.

Klein, C., Butt, S. J., Machold, R. P., Johnson, J. E., and Fishell, G. (2005). Cerebellum- and forebrain-derived stem cells possess intrinsic regional character. Development *132*, 4497-4508.

Kohtz, J. D., and Fishell, G. (2004). Developmental regulation of EVF-1, a novel non-coding RNA transcribed upstream of the mouse DIx6 gene. Gene Expr Patterns *4*, 407-412.

Kohwi, M., Osumi, N., Rubenstein, J. L., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2005). Pax6 is required for making specific subpopulations of granule and periglomerular neurons in the olfactory bulb. J Neurosci *25*, 6997-7003.

Kohwi, M., Petryniak, M. A., Long, J. E., Ekker, M., Obata, K., Yanagawa, Y., Rubenstein, J. L., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2007). A subpopulation of olfactory bulb GABAergic interneurons is derived from Emx1- and Dlx5/6-expressing progenitors. J Neurosci *27*, 6878-6891.

Kokoeva, M. V., Yin, H., and Flier, J. S. (2005). Neurogenesis in the hypothalamus of adult mice: potential role in energy balance. Science *310*, 679-683.

Komine, Y., Nakamura, K., Katsuki, M., and Yamamori, T. (2006). Novel transcription factor zfh-5 is negatively regulated by its own antisense RNA in mouse brain. Mol Cell Neurosci *31*, 273-283.

Kosaka, K., Aika, Y., Toida, K., Heizmann, C. W., Hunziker, W., Jacobowitz, D. M., Nagatsu, I., Streit, P., Visser, T. J., and Kosaka, T. (1995). Chemically defined neuron groups and their subpopulations in the glomerular layer of the rat main olfactory bulb. NeurosciRes *23*, 73-88.

Kosaka, K., and Kosaka, T. (2005). synaptic organization of the glomerulus in the main olfactory bulb: compartments of the glomerulus and heterogeneity of the periglomerular cells. Anat Sci Int *80*, 80-90.

Kosaka, K., Toida, K., Aika, Y., and Kosaka, T. (1998). How simple is the organization of the olfactory glomerulus? the heterogeneity of so-called periglomerular cells. Neuroscience Research *30*, 101-110.

Kosaka, T., Hataguchi, Y., Hama, K., Nagatsu, I., and Wu, J.-Y. (1985). Coexistence of immunoreactivities for glutamate decarboxylase and tyrosine hydroxylase in some neurons in the periglomerular region of the rat main olfactory bulb: possible coexistence of gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) and dopamine. BrainRes *343*, 166-171.

Kosaka, T., and Kosaka, K. (2007). Heterogeneity of nitric oxide synthasecontaining neurons in the mouse main olfactory bulb. Neurosci Res *57*, 165-178.

Kramer, R. H., Chambers, J. J., and Trauner, D. (2005). Photochemical tools for remote control of ion channels in excitable cells. Nat Chem Biol *1*, 360-365.

Kriegstein, A. R., and Gotz, M. (2003). Radial glia diversity: a matter of cell fate. Glia *43*, 37-43.

Kriegstein, A. R., and Noctor, S. C. (2004). Patterns of neuronal migration in the embryonic cortex. Trends Neurosci *27*, 392-399.

Kronenberg, G., Reuter, K., Steiner, B., Brandt, M. D., Jessberger, S., Yamaguchi, M., and Kempermann, G. (2003). Subpopulations of proliferating cells of the adult hippocampus respond differently to physiologic neurogenic stimuli. J Comp Neurol *467*, 455-463.

Krumlauf, R., Marshall, H., Studer, M., Nonchev, S., Sham, M. H., and Lumsden, A. (1993). Hox homeobox genes and regionalisation of the nervous system. [Review] [69 refs]. J Neurobiol *24*, 1328-1340.

Kuhn, H. G., Winkler, J., Kempermann, G., Thal, L. J., and Gage, F. H. (1997). Epidermal growth factor and fibroblast growth factor-2 have different effects on neural progenitors in the adult rat brain. JNeurosci *17*, 5820-5829.

Lacorazza, H. D., Flax, J. D., Snyder, E. Y., and Jendoubi, M. (1996). Expression of human beta-hexosaminidase alpha-subunit gene (the gene defect of Tay-Sachs disease) in mouse brains upon engraftment of transduced progenitor cells. Nat Med *2*, 424-429.

Laurent, G., and Davidowitz, H. (1994). Encoding of olfactory information with oscillating neural assemblies. Science *265*, 1872-1875.

Laurent, G., Wehr, M., and Davidowitz, H. (1996). Temporal representations of odors in an olfactory network. JNeurosci *16*, 3837-3847.

Lavdas, A. A., Grigoriou, M., Pachnis, V., and Parnavelas, J. G. (1999). The medial ganglionic eminence gives rise to a population of early neurons in the developing cerebral cortex. J Neurosci *19*, 7881-7888.

Laywell, E. D., Rakic, P., Kukekov, V. G., Holland, E. C., and Steindler, D. A. (2000). Identification of a multipotent astrocytic stem cell in the immature and adult mouse brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 13883-13888.

Leeuwen, F. N., Kain, H. E., Kammen, R. A., Michiels, F., Kranenburg, O. W., and Collard, J. G. (1997). The guanine nucleotide exchange factor Tiam1 affects neuronal morphology; opposing roles for the small GTPases Rac and Rho. J Cell Biol *139*, 797-807.

Lein, E. S., Hawrylycz, M. J., Ao, N., Ayres, M., Bensinger, A., Bernard, A., Boe, A. F., Boguski, M. S., Brockway, K. S., Byrnes, E. J., *et al.* (2007). Genome-wide atlas of gene expression in the adult mouse brain. Nature *445*, 168-176.

Lemkine, G. F., Raj, A., Alfama, G., Turque, N., Hassani, Z., Alegria-Prevot, O., Samarut, J., Levi, G., and Demeneix, B. A. (2005). Adult neural stem cell cycling in vivo requires thyroid hormone and its alpha receptor. Faseb J *19*, 863-865.

Lemon, W. C., and Getz, W. M. (2000). Rate code input produces temporal code output from cockroach antennal lobes. Biosystems *58*, 151-158.

Lennington, J. B., Yang, Z., and Conover, J. C. (2003). Neural stem cells and the regulation of adult neurogenesis. Reprod Biol Endocrinol *1*, 99.

Letinic, K., Zoncu, R., and Rakic, P. (2002). Origin of GABAergic neurons in the human neocortex. Nature *417*, 645-649.

Levison, S. W., and McCarthy, K. D. (1991). Characterization and partial purification of AIM: a plasma protein that induces rat cerebral type 2 astroglia from bipotential glial progenitors. J Neurochem *57*, 782-794.

Levitt, P., and Rakic, P. (1980). Immunoperoxidase localization of glial fibrillary acidic protein in radial glial cells and astrocytes of the developing rhesus monkey brain. JCompNeurol *193*, 815-840.

Lewandoski, M., Meyers, E. N., and Martin, G. R. (1997). Analysis of Fgf8 gene function in vertebrate development. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol *6*2, 159-168.

Li, H., Babiarz, J., Woodbury, J., Kane-Goldsmith, N., and Grumet, M. (2004a). Spatiotemporal heterogeneity of CNS radial glial cells and their transition to restricted precursors. Dev Biol *271*, 225-238.

Li, S., Weidenfeld, J., and Morrisey, E. E. (2004b). Transcriptional and DNA binding activity of the Foxp1/2/4 family is modulated by heterotypic and homotypic protein interactions. Mol Cell Biol *24*, 809-822.

Lim, D. A., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (1999). Interaction between astrocytes and adult subventricular zone precursors stimulates neurogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96. 96*, 7526-7531.

Lim, D. A., D., T. A., Trevejo, J. M., Herrera, D. G., García-Verdugo, J. M., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2000). Noggin Antagonizes BMP Signaling to Create a Niche for Adult Neurogenesis. Neuron *28*, 713-726.

Lim, D. A., Fishell, G. J., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (1997). Postnatal mouse subventricular zone neuronal precursors can migrate and differentiate within multiple levels of the developing neuraxis. ProcNatlAcadSciUSA *94*, 14832-14836.

Liu, X., Bolteus, A. J., Balkin, D. M., Henschel, O., and Bordey, A. (2006). GFAPexpressing cells in the postnatal subventricular zone display a unique glial phenotype intermediate between radial glia and astrocytes. Glia *54*, 394-410.

Liu, X., Wang, Q., Haydar, T. F., and Bordey, A. (2005). Nonsynaptic GABA signaling in postnatal subventricular zone controls proliferation of GFAP-expressing progenitors. Nat Neurosci *8*, 1179-1187.

Liu, Z., and Martin, L. J. (2003). Olfactory bulb core is a rich source of neural progenitor and stem cells in adult rodent and human. J Comp Neurol *459*, 368-391.

Lledo, P. M., Alonso, M., and Grubb, M. S. (2006). Adult neurogenesis and functional plasticity in neuronal circuits. Nature Reviews Neuroscience *7*, 179-193.

Lobe, C. G., Koop, K. E., Kreppner, W., Lomeli, H., Gertsenstein, M., and Nagy, A. (1999). Z/AP, a double reporter for cre-mediated recombination. Dev Biol *208*, 281-292.

Lois, C., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (1993). Proliferating subventricular zone cells in the adult mammalian forebrain can differentiate into neurons and glia. ProcNatlAcadSciUSA *90*, 2074-2077.

Lois, C., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (1994). Long-distance neuronal migration in the adult mammalian brain. Science *264*, 1145-1148.

Lu, Q. R., Park, J. K., Noll, E., Chan, J. A., Alberta, J., Yuk, D., Alzamora, M. G., Louis, D. N., Stiles, C. D., Rowitch, D. H., and Black, P. M. (2001). Oligodendrocyte lineage genes (OLIG) as molecular markers for human glial brain tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 10851-10856. Luskin, M. B. (1993). Restricted proliferation and migration of postnatally generated neurons derived from the forebrain subventricular zone. Neuron *11*, 173-189.

Luskin, M. B. (1998). Neuroblasts of the postnatal mammalian forebrain: their phenotype and fate. JNeurobiol *36*, 221-233.

Machold, R., Hayashi, S., Rutlin, M., Muzumdar, M. D., Nery, S., Corbin, J. G., Gritli-Linde, A., Dellovade, T., Porter, J. A., Rubin, L. L., *et al.* (2003). Sonic hedgehog is required for progenitor cell maintenance in telencephalic stem cell niches. Neuron *39*, 937-950.

Mahanthappa, N. K., and Schwarting, G. A. (1993). Peptide growth factor control of olfactory neurogenesis and neuron survival in vitro: Roles of EGF and TGF- β s. Neuron *10*, 293-305.

Malatesta, P., Hack, M. A., Hartfuss, E., Kettenmann, H., Klinkert, W., Kirchhoff, F., and Gotz, M. (2003). Neuronal or glial progeny: regional differences in radial glia fate. Neuron *37*, 751-764.

Malatesta, P., Hartfuss, E., and Gotz, M. (2000). Isolation of radial glial cells by fluorescent-activated cell sorting reveals a neuronal lineage. Development *127. 127*, 5253-5263-5253-5263.

Malnic, B., Hirono, J., Sato, T., and Buck, L. B. (1999). Combinatorial receptor codes for odors. Cell *96*, 713-723.

Manfroid, I., Caubit, X., Kerridge, S., and Fasano, L. (2004). Three putative murine Teashirt orthologues specify trunk structures in Drosophila in the same way as the Drosophila teashirt gene. Development *131*, 1065-1073.

Marin, O., and Rubenstein, J. L. (2003). Cell Migration in the Forebrain. Annu Rev Neurosci.

Markram, H., Toledo-Rodriguez, M., Wang, Y., Gupta, A., Silberberg, G., and Wu, C. (2004). Interneurons of the neocortical inhibitory system. Nat Rev Neurosci *5*, 793-807.

Martinez-Cerdeno, V., Noctor, S. C., and Kriegstein, A. R. (2006). The role of intermediate progenitor cells in the evolutionary expansion of the cerebral cortex. Cereb Cortex *16 Suppl 1*, i152-161.

Matsunaga, E., Araki, I., and Nakamura, H. (2000). Pax6 defines the dimesencephalic boundary by repressing En1 and Pax2. Development *127*, 2357-2365. Mattson, M. P., Maudsley, S., and Martin, B. (2004). BDNF and 5-HT: a dynamic duo in age-related neuronal plasticity and neurodegenerative disorders. Trends Neurosci *27*, 589-594.

McConnell, S. K. (1988). Fates of visual cortical neurons in the ferret after isochronic and heterochronic transplantation. JNeurosci *8*, 945-974.

McConnell, S. K. (1990). The specification of neuronal identity in the mammalian cerebral cortex. Experientia *46*, 922-929.

McConnell, S. K., and Kaznowski, C. E. (1991). Cell cycle dependence of laminar determination in developing neocortex. Science *254*, 282-285.

McKay, R. (1997). Stem cells in the central nervous system. Science 276, 66-71.

Meinecke, D. L., and Peters, A. (1987). GABA immunoreactive neurons in rat visual cortex. J Comp Neurol *261*, 388-404.

Menn, B., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., Yaschine, C., Gonzalez-Perez, O., Rowitch, D., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2006). Origin of oligodendrocytes in the subventricular zone of the adult brain. J Neurosci *26*, 7907-7918.

Merkle, F. T., Tramontin, A. D., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2004). Radial glia give rise to adult neural stem cells in the subventricular zone. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 17528-17532.

Mikkola, I., Bruun, J. A., Holm, T., and Johansen, T. (2001). Superactivation of Pax6-mediated transactivation from paired domain-binding sites by dnaindependent recruitment of different homeodomain proteins. J Biol Chem 276, 4109-4118.

Miles, G. B., Yohn, D. C., Wichterle, H., Jessell, T. M., Rafuse, V. F., and Brownstone, R. M. (2004). Functional properties of motoneurons derived from mouse embryonic stem cells. Journal of Neuroscience *24*, 7848-7858.

Miller, D. G., Adam, M. A., and Miller, A. D. (1990). Gene transfer by retrovirus vectors occurs only in cells that are actively replicating at the time of infection. Molecular and Cellular Biology *10*, 4239-4242.

Mission, J. P., Takahashi, T., and Caviness, V. S., Jr. (1991). Ontogeny of radial and other astroglial cells in murine cerebral cortex. Glia *4*, 138-148.

Misson, J. P., Edwards, M. A., Yamamoto, M., and Caviness, V. S., Jr. (1988). Identification of radial glial cells within the developing murine central nervous system: studies based upon a new immunohistochemical marker. Brain Res Dev Brain Res *44*, 95-108. Miyamoto, Y., Yamauchi, J., Tanoue, A., Wu, C., and Mobley, W. C. (2006). TrkB binds and tyrosine-phosphorylates Tiam1, leading to activation of Rac1 and induction of changes in cellular morphology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 10444-10449.

Miyata, T., Kawaguchi, A., Okano, H., and Ogawa, M. (2001). Asymmetric inheritance of radial glial fibers by cortical neurons. Neuron *31*, 727-741.

Miyata, T., Kawaguchi, A., Saito, K., Kawano, M., Muto, T., and Ogawa, M. (2004). Asymmetric production of surface-dividing and non-surface-dividing cortical progenitor cells. Development *131*, 3133-3145.

Molliver, M. E. (1987). Serotonergic neuronal systems: what their anatomic organization tells us about function. J Clin Psychopharmacol *7*, 3S-23S.

Mombaerts, P., Wang, F., Dulac, C., Chao, S. K., Nemes, A., Mendelsohn, M., Edmondson, J., and Axel, R. (1996). Visualizing an olfactory sensory map. Cell *87*, 675-686.

Monuki, E. S., and Walsh, C. A. (2001). Mechanisms of cerebral cortical patterning in mice and humans. Nat Neurosci *4 Suppl*, 1199-1206.

Mori, K., Ikeda, J., and Hayaishi, O. (1990). Monoclonal antibody R2D5 reveals midsagittal radial glial system in postnatally developing and adult brainstem. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *87*, 5489-5493.

Mori, K., Kishi, K., and Ojima, H. (1983). Distribution of Dendrites of Mitral, Displaced Mitral, Tufted, and Granule Cells in the Rabbit Olfactory-Bulb. Journal of Comparative Neurology *219*, 339-355.

Mori, K., Nagao, H., and Yoshihara, Y. (1999). The olfactory bulb: coding and processing of odor molecule information. Science *286*, 711-715.

Morrison, E. E., and Costanzo, R. M. (1992). Morphology of olfactory epithelium in humans and other vertebrates. JMicroscResTech *23*, 49-61.

Morrison, S. J., Shah, N. M., and Anderson, D. J. (1997). Regulatory mechanisms in stem cell biology. Cell *88*, 287-298.

Morriss-Kay, G., Wood, H., and Chen, W. H. (1994). Normal neurulation in mammals. Ciba Found Symp *181*, 51-63; discussion 63-59.

Morshead, C. M., Garcia, A. D., Sofroniew, M. V., and van Der Kooy, D. (2003). The ablation of glial fibrillary acidic protein-positive cells from the adult central nervous system results in the loss of forebrain neural stem cells but not retinal stem cells. Eur J Neurosci *18*, 76-84.

Morshead, C. M., Reynolds, B. A., Craig, C. G., McBurney, M. W., Staines, W. A., Morassutti, D., Weiss, S., and Van der Kooy, D. (1994). Neural stem cells in the adult mammalian forebrain: A relatively quiescent subpopulation of subependymal cells. Neuron *13*, 1071-1082.

Nadarajah, B. (2003). Radial glia and somal translocation of radial neurons in the developing cerebral cortex. Glia *43*, 33-36.

Nadarajah, B., Brunstrom, J. E., Grutzendler, J., Wong, R. O., and Pearlman, A. L. (2001). Two modes of radial migration in early development of the cerebral cortex. Nat Neurosci *4*, 143-150.

Nielsen, J. V., Nielsen, F. H., Ismail, R., Noraberg, J., and Jensen, N. A. (2007). Hippocampus-like corticoneurogenesis induced by two isoforms of the BTB-zinc finger gene Zbtb20 in mice. Development *134*, 1133-1140.

Noctor, S. C., Flint, A. C., Weissman, T. A., Dammerman, R. S., and Kriegstein, A. R. (2001). Neurons derived from radial glial cells establish radial units in neocortex. Nature *409*, 714-720.

Noctor, S. C., Flint, A. C., Weissman, T. A., Wong, W. S., Clinton, B. K., and Kriegstein, A. R. (2002). Dividing precursor cells of the embryonic cortical ventricular zone have morphological and molecular characteristics of radial glia. J Neurosci *22*, 3161-3173.

Noctor, S. C., Martinez-Cerdeno, V., Ivic, L., and Kriegstein, A. R. (2004). Cortical neurons arise in symmetric and asymmetric division zones and migrate through specific phases. Nat Neurosci *7*, 136-144.

Novak, A., Guo, C., Yang, W., Nagy, A., and Lobe, C. G. (2000). Z/EG, a double reporter mouse line that expresses enhanced green fluorescent protein upon Cre-mediated excision. Genesis *28*, 147-155.

Olsson, M., Campbell, K., and Turnbull, D. H. (1997). Specification of mouse telencephalic and mid-hindbrain progenitors following heterotopic ultrasound-guided embryonic transplantation. Neuron *19*, 761-772.

Orona, E., Scott, J. W., and Rainer, E. C. (1983). Different granule cell populations innervate superficial and deep regions of the external plexiform layer in rat olfactory bulb. J Comp Neurol *217*, 227-237.

Packer, M. A., Stasiv, Y., Benraiss, A., Chmielnicki, E., Grinberg, A., Westphal, H., Goldman, S. A., and Enikolopov, G. (2003). Nitric oxide negatively regulates mammalian adult neurogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 9566-9571.

Palma, V., Lim, D. A., Dahmane, N., Sanchez, P., Brionne, T. C., Herzberg, C. D., Gitton, Y., Carleton, A., Alvarez-Buylla, A., and Ruiz i Altaba, A. (2005). Sonic

hedgehog controls stem cell behavior in the postnatal and adult brain. Development *132*, 335-344.

Palmer, T. D., Willhoite, A. R., and Gage, F. H. (2000). Vascular Niche for Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis. Journal of Comparative Neurology *425*, 479-494.

Parnavelas, J. G., Lieberman, A. R., and Webster, K. E. (1977). Organization of neurons in the visual cortex, area 17, of the rat. J Anat *124*, 305-322.

Parras, C. M., Galli, R., Britz, O., Soares, S., Galichet, C., Battiste, J., Johnson, J. E., Nakafuku, M., Vescovi, A., and Guillemot, F. (2004). Mash1 specifies neurons and oligodendrocytes in the postnatal brain. Embo J *23*, 4495-4505.

Paton, J. A., and Nottebohm, F. (1984). Neurons generated in the adult brain are recruited into functional circuits. Science *225*, 1046-1048.

Pearson, B. J., and Doe, C. Q. (2003). Regulation of neuroblast competence in Drosophila. Nature *425*, 624-628.

Pearson, B. J., and Doe, C. Q. (2004). Specification of temporal identity in the developing nervous system. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol *20*, 619-647.

Peltekian, E., Parrish, E., Bouchard, C., Peschanski, M., and Lisovoski, F. (1997). Adenovirus-mediated gene transfer to the brain: methodological assessment. J Neurosci Methods *71*, 77-84.

Pencea, V., Bingaman, K. D., Freedman, L. J., and Luskin, M. B. (2001). Neurogenesis in the subventricular zone and rostral migratory stream of the neonatal and adult primate forebrain. Exp Neurol *17*2, 1-16.

Peretto, P., Giachino, C., Aimar, P., Fasolo, A., and Bonfanti, L. (2005). Chain formation and glial tube assembly in the shift from neonatal to adult subventricular zone of the rodent forebrain. J Comp Neurol *487*, 407-427.

Petreanu, L., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2002). Maturation and death of adult-born olfactory bulb granule neurons: role of olfaction. J Neurosci.

Pixley, S. K. R., and De Vellis, J. (1984). Transition between immature radial glia and mature astrocytes studied with a monoclonal antibody to vimentin. DevBrain Res *15*, 201-209.

Pleasure, S. J., Anderson, S., Hevner, R., Bagri, A., Marin, O., Lowenstein, D. H., and Rubenstein, J. L. (2000a). Cell migration from the ganglionic eminences is required for the development of hippocampal GABAergic interneurons. Neuron *28*, 727-740.

Pleasure, S. J., Collins, A. E., and Lowenstein, D. H. (2000b). Unique expression patterns of cell fate molecules delineate sequential stages of dentate gyrus development. J Neurosci *20*, 6095-6105.

Polito, A., and Reynolds, R. (2005). NG2-expressing cells as oligodendrocyte progenitors in the normal and demyelinated adult central nervous system. J Anat *207*, 707-716.

Porteros, A., Gomez, C., Valero, J., Calvo-Baltanas, F., and Alonso, J. R. (2007). Chemical organization of the macaque monkey olfactory bulb: III. Distribution of cholinergic markers. J Comp Neurol *501*, 854-865.

Price, J. L., and Powell, T. P. S. (1970). The morphology of the granule cells of the olfactory bulb. J Cell Sci *7*, 125-155.

Prieto, M., Chauvet, N., and Alonso, G. (2000). Tanycytes transplanted into the adult rat spinal cord support the regeneration of lesioned axons. Exp Neurol *161*, 27-37.

Puelles, L., Kuwana, E., Puelles, E., Bulfone, A., Shimamura, K., Keleher, J., Smiga, S., and Rubenstein, J. L. (2000). Pallial and subpallial derivatives in the embryonic chick and mouse telencephalon, traced by the expression of the genes dlx-2, emx-1, nkx-2.1, Pax-6, and tbr-1. Journal of Comparative Neurology *424*, 409-438.

Rafols, J. A., and Goshgarian, H. G. (1985). Spinal Tanycytes in the adult rat: A correlative golgi gold-toning study. The Anatomical Record *211*, 75-86.

Rakic, P. (1972). Mode of cell migration to the superficial layers of fetal monkey neocortex. JCompNeurol *145*, 61-84.

Rakic, P. (1985). Mechanisms of neuronal migration in developing cerebellar cortex., In Molecular basis of neuronal development., G. M. Edelman, W. E. Gall, and W. M. Cowan, eds. (New York: Wiley), pp. 139-159.

Rakic, P. (1995). Radial versus tangential migration of neuronal clones in the developing cerebral cortex. ProcNatlAcadSciUSA *92*, 11323-11327.

Rakic, P. (2003). Developmental and evolutionary adaptations of cortical radial glia. Cereb Cortex *13*, 541-549.

Ramón y Cajal, S. (1995). Histology of the Nervous System of Man and Vertebrates.: Oxford University Press).

Reddien, P. W., and Sanchez Alvarado, A. (2004). Fundamentals of planarian regeneration. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol *20*, 725-757.

Reynolds, B., and Weiss, S. (1992a). Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science *255*, 1707-1710.

Reynolds, B. A., and Weiss, S. (1992b). Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science *255*, 1707.

Rowitch, D. H. (2004). Glial specification in the vertebrate neural tube. Nat Rev Neurosci *5*, 409-419.

Rubenstein, J. L. R., and Beachy, P. A. (1998). Patterning of the embryonic forebrain. Current Opinion in Neurobiology *8*, 18-26.

Ruiz i Altaba, A., Nguyen, V., and Palma, V. (2003). The emergent design of the neural tube: prepattern, SHH morphogen and GLI code. Curr Opin Genet Dev *13*, 513-521.

Russo, R. E., Fernandez, A., Reali, C., Radmilovich, M., and Trujillo-Cenoz, O. (2004). Functional and molecular clues reveal precursor-like cells and immature neurones in the turtle spinal cord. J Physiol *560*, 831-838.

Ryder, E. F., Snyder, E. Y., and Cepko, C. L. (1989). Establishment and characterization of multipotent neural cell lines using retrovirus vector-mediated oncogene transfer. JNeurobiol *21*, 356-375.

Saino-Saito, S., Berlin, R., and Baker, H. (2003). Dlx-1 and Dlx-2 expression in the adult mouse brain: relationship to dopaminergic phenotypic regulation. J Comp Neurol *461*, 18-30.

Saino-Saito, S., Cave, J. W., Akiba, Y., Sasaki, H., Goto, K., Kobayashi, K., Berlin, R., and Baker, H. (2007). ER81 and CaMKIV identify anatomically and phenotypically defined subsets of mouse olfactory bulb interneurons. J Comp Neurol *502*, 485-496.

Saino-Saito, S., Sasaki, H., Volpe, B. T., Kobayashi, K., Berlin, R., and Baker, H. (2004). Differentiation of the dopaminergic phenotype in the olfactory system of neonatal and adult mice. J Comp Neurol *479*, 389-398.

Sanai, N., Alvarez-Buylla, A., and Berger, M. S. (2005). Neural stem cells and the origin of gliomas. N Engl J Med *353*, 811-822.

Sanai, N., Tramontin, A. D., Quinones-Hinojosa, A., Barbaro, N. M., Gupta, N., Kunwar, S., Lawton, M. T., McDermott, M. W., Parsa, A. T., Manuel-Garcia Verdugo, J., *et al.* (2004). Unique astrocyte ribbon in adult human brain contains neural stem cells but lacks chain migration. Nature *427*, 740-744. Schacher, S. (1992). Culturing Nerve-Cells - Banker,G, Goslin,K. Biological Psychology *33*, 266-268.

Scheffler, B., Walton, N. M., Lin, D. D., Goetz, A. K., Enikolopov, G., Roper, S. N., and Steindler, D. A. (2005). Phenotypic and functional characterization of adult brain neuropoiesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 9353-9358.

Schmechel, D. E., and Rakic, P. (1979). A Golgi study of radial glia cells in developing monkey telencephalon: Morphogenesis and transformation into astrocytes. AnatEmbryol *156*, 115-152.

Schoenwolf, G. C. (1991). Cell movements driving neurulation in avian embryos. Development *Suppl 2*, 157-168.

Schoenwolf, G. C., and Alvarez, I. S. (1991). Specification of neurepithelium and surface epithelium in avian transplantation chimeras. Development *112*, 713-722.

Schuurmans, C., and Guillemot, F. (2002). Molecular mechanisms underlying cell fate specification in the developing telencephalon. Curr Opin Neurobiol *12*, 26-34.

Scott, J. W. (1986). Organization of Olfactory-Bulb Output Cells and Their Local Circuit Relationships. Chemical Senses *11*, 570-571.

Seaberg, R. M., and van der Kooy, D. (2002). Adult rodent neurogenic regions: the ventricular subependyma contains neural stem cells, but the dentate gyrus contains restricted progenitors. J Neurosci *22*, 1784-1793.

Seri, B., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2002). Neural stem cells and the regulation of neurogenesis in the adult hippocampus. Clin Neurosci Res *2*, 11-16.

Seri, B., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., Collado-Morente, L., McEwen, B. S., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2004). Cell types, lineage, and architecture of the germinal zone in the adult dentate gyrus. J Comp Neurol *478*, 359-378.

Seri, B., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., McEwen, B. S., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2001). Astrocytes give rise to new neurons in the adult mammalian hippocampus. J Neurosci *21*, 7153-7160.

Seri, B., Herrera, D. G., Gritti, A., Ferron, S., Collado, L., Vescovi, A., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2006). Composition and organization of the SCZ: a large germinal layer containing neural stem cells in the adult mammalian brain. Cereb Cortex *16 Suppl 1*, i103-111.

Shen, Q., Goderie, S. K., Jin, L., Karanth, N., Sun, Y., Abramova, N., Vincent, P., Pumiglia, K., and Temple, S. (2004). Endothelial cells stimulate self-renewal and expand neurogenesis of neural stem cells. Science *304*, 1338-1340.

Shen, Q., Wang, Y., Dimos, J. T., Fasano, C. A., Phoenix, T. N., Lemischka, I. R., Ivanova, N. B., Stifani, S., Morrisey, E. E., and Temple, S. (2006). The timing of cortical neurogenesis is encoded within lineages of individual progenitor cells. Nat Neurosci *9*, 743-751.

Shepherd, G. M. (1972). Synaptic organization of the mammalian olfactory bulb. Physiol Rev *52*, 864-917.

Shepherd, G. M., and Greer, C. A. (1998). Olfactory Bulb, In The synaptic organization of the brain, G. M. Shepherd, ed. (New York: Oxford University Press, Inc.).

Sheth, A. N., and Bhide, P. G. (1997). Concurrent cellular output from two proliferative populations in the early embryonic mouse corpus striatum. JCompNeurol *383*, 220-230.

Shibata, T., Yamada, K., Watanabe, M., Ikenaka, K., Wada, K., Tanaka, K., and Inoue, Y. (1997). Glutamate transporter GLAST is expressed in the radial gliaastrocyte lineage of developing mouse spinal cord. J Neurosci *17*, 9212-9219.

Shihabuddin, L. S., Horner, P. J., Ray, J., and Gage, F. H. (2000). Adult spinal cord stem cells generate neurons after transplantation in the adult dentate gyrus. J Neurosci *20*, 8727-8735.

Shihabuddin, L. S., Ray, J., and Gage, F. H. (1997). FGF-2 is sufficient to isolate progenitors found in the adult mammalian spinal cord. ExpNeurol *148*, 577-586.

Shimamura, K., Martinez, S., Puelles, L., and Rubenstein, J. L. (1997). Patterns of gene expression in the neural plate and neural tube subdivide the embryonic forebrain into transverse and longitudinal domains. [Review] [64 refs]. Dev Neurosci *19*, 88-96.

Shimazaki, T., Shingo, T., and Weiss, S. (2001). The ciliary neurotrophic factor/leukemia inhibitory factor/gp130 receptor complex operates in the maintenance of mammalian forebrain neural stem cells. J Neurosci *21*, 7642-7653.

Shingo, T., Gregg, C., Enwere, E., Fujikawa, H., Hassam, R., Geary, C., Cross, J. C., and Weiss, S. (2003). Pregnancy-stimulated neurogenesis in the adult female forebrain mediated by prolactin. Science *299*, 117-120.

Siegrist, S. E., and Doe, C. Q. (2006). Extrinsic cues orient the cell division axis in Drosophila embryonic neuroblasts. Development *133*, 529-536.

Singh, S. K., Hawkins, C., Clarke, I. D., Squire, J. A., Bayani, J., Hide, T., Henkelman, R. M., Cusimano, M. D., and Dirks, P. B. (2004). Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature *432*, 396-401.

Skogh, C., Eriksson, C., Kokaia, M., Meijer, X. C., Wahlberg, L. U., Wictorin, K., and Campbell, K. (2001). Generation of regionally specified neurons in expanded glial cultures derived from the mouse and human lateral ganglionic eminence. Mol Cell Neurosci *17*, 811-820.

Smart, I. (1961). The subependymal layer of the mouse brain and its cell production as shown by autography after [H3]-thymidine injection. J Comp Neurol *116*, 325.

Smart, I. H. M. (1976). A pilot study of cell production by the ganglionic eminences of the developing mouse brain. JAnat *121*, 71-84.

Smart, I. H. M., and Sturrock, R. R. (1979). Ontogeny of the neostriatum, In The neostriatum, I. Divak, and R. G. E. Oberg, eds. (New York: Pergamon), pp. 127-146.

Snyder, E. Y., Taylor, R. M., and Wolfe, J. H. (1995). Neural progenitor cell engraftment corrects lysosomal storage throughout the MPS VII mouse brain. Nature *374*, 367-370.

Snyder, E. Y., Yoon, C., Flax, J. D., and Macklis, J. D. (1997). Multipotent neural precursors can differentiate toward replacement of neurons undergoing targeted apoptotic degeneration in adult mouse neocortex. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *94*, 11663-11668.

Sofroniew, M. V. (2005). Reactive astrocytes in neural repair and protection. Neuroscientist *11*, 400-407.

Soria, J. M., Taglialatela, P., Gil-Perotin, S., Galli, R., Gritti, A., Verdugo, J. M., and Bertuzzi, S. (2004). Defective postnatal neurogenesis and disorganization of the rostral migratory stream in absence of the Vax1 homeobox gene. J Neurosci *24*, 11171-11181.

Soriano, P. (1999). Generalized lacZ expression with the ROSA26 Cre reporter strain. Nat Genet *21*, 70-71.

Spassky, N., Merkle, F. T., Flames, N., Tramontin, A. D., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2005). Adult ependymal cells are postmitotic and are derived from radial glial cells during embryogenesis. J Neurosci *25*, 10-18.

Stanfield, B. B., and Trice, J. E. (1988). Evidence that granule cells generated in the dentate gyrus of adult rats extend axonal projections. Exp Brain Res *7*2, 399.

Stenman, J., Toresson, H., and Campbell, K. (2003). Identification of two distinct progenitor populations in the lateral ganglionic eminence: implications for striatal and olfactory bulb neurogenesis. J Neurosci *23*, 167-174.

Stopfer, M., Bhagavan, S., Smith, B. H., and Laurent, G. (1997). Impaired odour discrimination on desynchronization of odour-encoding neural assemblies. Nature *390*, 70-74.

Stump, G., Durrer, A., Klein, A. L., Lutolf, S., Suter, U., and Taylor, V. (2002). Notch1 and its ligands Delta-like and Jagged are expressed and active in distinct cell populations in the postnatal mouse brain. Mech Dev *114*, 153-159.

Suhonen, J. O., Peterson, D. A., Ray, J., and Gage, F. H. (1996). Differentiation of adult hippocampus-derived progenitors into olfactory neurons *in vivo*. Nature *383*, 624-627.

Sun, Y., Goderie, S. K., and Temple, S. (2005). Asymmetric distribution of EGFR receptor during mitosis generates diverse CNS progenitor cells. Neuron *45*, 873-886.

Sundholm-Peters, N. L., Yang, H. K., Goings, G. E., Walker, A. S., and Szele, F. G. (2004). Radial glia-like cells at the base of the lateral ventricles in adult mice. J Neurocytol *33*, 153-164.

Sussel, L., Marin, O., Kimura, S., and Rubenstein, J. L. (1999). Loss of Nkx2.1 homeobox gene function results in a ventral to dorsal molecular respecification within the basal telencephalon: evidence for a transformation of the pallidum into the striatum. Development *126*, 3359-3370.

Szobota, S., Gorostiza, P., Del Bene, F., Wyart, C., Fortin, D. L., Kolstad, K. D., Tulyathan, O., Volgraf, M., Numano, R., Aaron, H. L., *et al.* (2007). Remote control of neuronal activity with a light-gated glutamate receptor. Neuron *54*, 535-545.

Tabata, Y., Ouchi, Y., Kamiya, H., Manabe, T., Arai, K., and Watanabe, S. (2004). Specification of the retinal fate of mouse embryonic stem cells by ectopic expression of Rx/rax, a homeobox gene. Mol Cell Biol *24*, 4513-4521.

Takahashi, T., Misson, J.-P., and Caviness, V. S., Jr. (1990). Glial process elongation and branching in the developing murine neocortex: A qualitative and quantitative immunohistochemical analysis. JCompNeurol *302*, 15-28.

Takei, D., Ishihara, H., Yamaguchi, S., Yamada, T., Tamura, A., Katagiri, H., Maruyama, Y., and Oka, Y. (2006). WFS1 protein modulates the free Ca(2+) concentration in the endoplasmic reticulum. FEBS Lett *580*, 5635-5640.

Tamamaki, N., Nakamura, K., Okamoto, K., and Kaneko, T. (2001). Radial glia is a progenitor of neocortical neurons in the developing cerebral cortex. Neurosci Res *41*, 51-60.

Temple, S. (2001). The development of neural stem cells. Nature 414, 112-117.

Tokunaga, A., Kohyama, J., Yoshida, T., Nakao, K., Sawamoto, K., and Okano, H. (2004). Mapping spatio-temporal activation of Notch signaling during neurogenesis and gliogenesis in the developing mouse brain. J Neurochem *90*, 142-154.

Tolias, K. F., Bikoff, J. B., Kane, C. G., Tolias, C. S., Hu, L., and Greenberg, M. E. (2007). The Rac1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor Tiam1 mediates EphB receptor-dependent dendritic spine development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 7265-7270.

Toresson, H., and Campbell, K. (2001). A role for Gsh1 in the developing striatum and olfactory bulb of Gsh2 mutant mice. Development *128*, 4769-4780.

Toresson, H., Potter, S. S., and Campbell, K. (2000). Genetic control of dorsalventral identity in the telencephalon: opposing roles for Pax6 and Gsh2. Development *127*, 4361-4371.

Tramontin, A. D., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., Lim, D. A., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2003). Postnatal development of radial glia and the ventricular zone (VZ): a continuum of the neural stem cell compartment. Cereb Cortex *13*, 580-587.

Tropepe, V., Sibilia, M., Ciruna, B. G., Rossant, J., Wagner, E. F., and van der Kooy, D. (1999). Distinct neural stem cells proliferate in response to EGF and FGF in the developing mouse telencephalon. Dev Biol *208*, 166-188.

Turnbull, D. H., Bloomfield, T. S., Baldwin, H. S., Foster, F. S., and Joyner, A. L. (1995). Ultrasound backscatter microscope analysis of early mouse embryonic brain development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92*, 2239-2243.

van Praag, H., Schinder, A. F., Christie, B. R., Toni, N., Palmer, T. D., and Gage, F. H. (2002). Functional neurogenesis in the adult hippocampus. Nature *415*, 1030-1034.

Vega, C. J., and Peterson, D. A. (2005). Stem cell proliferative history in tissue revealed by temporal halogenated thymidine analog discrimination. Nat Methods *2*, 167-169.

Ventura, R. E., and Goldman, J. E. (2007). Dorsal radial glia generate olfactory bulb interneurons in the postnatal murine brain. J Neurosci *27*, 4297-4302.

Vetter, R. S., Sage, A. E., Justus, K. A., Carde, R. T., and Galizia, C. G. (2006). Temporal integrity of an airborne odor stimulus is greatly affected by physical aspects of the odor delivery system. Chem Senses *31*, 359-369.

Voigt, T. (1989). Development of glial cells in the cerebral wall of ferrets: Direct tracing of their transformation from radial glia into astrocytes. JCompNeurol *289*, 74-88.

Waclaw, R. R., Allen, Z. J., 2nd, Bell, S. M., Erdelyi, F., Szabo, G., Potter, S. S., and Campbell, K. (2006). The zinc finger transcription factor Sp8 regulates the generation and diversity of olfactory bulb interneurons. Neuron *49*, 503-516.

Walsh, C., and Cepko, C. L. (1992). Widespread dispersion of neuronal clones across functional regions of the cerebral cortex. Science *255*, 434-440.

Wegner, M., and Stolt, C. C. (2005). From stem cells to neurons and glia: a Soxist's view of neural development. Trends Neurosci *28*, 583-588.

Weiss, S., Dunne, C., Hewson, J., Wohl, C., Wheatley, M., Peterson, A. C., and Reynolds, B. A. (1996a). Multipotent CNS stem cells are present in the adult mammalian spinal cord and ventricular neuroaxis. JNeurosci *16*, 7599-7609.

Weiss, S., Reynolds, B. A., Vescovi, A. L., Morshead, C., Craig, C. G., and Van der Kooy, D. (1996b). Is there a neural stem cell in the mammalian forebrain? Trends Neurosci *19*, 387-393.

Wichterle, H., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., Herrera, D. G., and A., A.-B. (1999). Young neurons from medial ganglionic eminence disperse in adult and embryonic brain. Nature Neuroscience *2*, 461-466.

Wichterle, H., Lieberam, I., Porter, J. A., and Jessell, T. M. (2002). Directed differentiation of embryonic stem cells into motor neurons. Cell *110*, 385-397.

Wichterle, H., Turnbull, D. H., Nery, S., Fishell, G., and Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2001). In utero fate mapping reveals distinct migratory pathways and fates of neurons born in the mammalian basal forebrain. Development *128*, 3759-3771.

Wildner, H., Muller, T., Cho, S. H., Brohl, D., Cepko, C. L., Guillemot, F., and Birchmeier, C. (2006). dILA neurons in the dorsal spinal cord are the product of terminal and non-terminal asymmetric progenitor cell divisions, and require Mash1 for their development. Development *133*, 2105-2113.

Willaime-Morawek, S., Seaberg, R. M., Batista, C., Labbe, E., Attisano, L., Gorski, J. A., Jones, K. R., Kam, A., Morshead, C. M., and van der Kooy, D. (2006). Embryonic cortical neural stem cells migrate ventrally and persist as postnatal striatal stem cells. J Cell Biol *175*, 159-168.

Wilson, S. W., and Rubenstein, J. L. (2000). Induction and dorsoventral patterning of the telencephalon. Neuron *28*, 641-651.

Winner, B., Cooper-Kuhn, C. M., Aigner, R., Winkler, J., and Kuhn, H. G. (2002). Long-term survival and cell death of newly generated neurons in the adult rat olfactory bulb. Eur J Neurosci *16*, 1681-1689.

Xu, Q., Cobos, I., De la Cruz, E., Rubenstein, J. L., and Anderson, S. A. (2004). Origins of cortical interneuron subtypes. Journal of Neuroscience *24*, 2612-2622. Yamaguchi, S., Ishihara, H., Tamura, A., Yamada, T., Takahashi, R., Takei, D., Katagiri, H., and Oka, Y. (2004). Endoplasmic reticulum stress and N-glycosylation modulate expression of WFS1 protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *325*, 250-256.

Yandava, B. D., Billinghurst, L. L., and Snyder, E. Y. (1999). "Global" cell replacement is feasible via neural stem cell transplantation: evidence from the dysmyelinated shiverer mouse brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 7029-7034.

Yang, P., Baker, K. A., and Hagg, T. (2005). A disintegrin and metalloprotease 21 (ADAM21) is associated with neurogenesis and axonal growth in developing and adult rodent CNS. J Comp Neurol *490*, 163-179.

Yokoi, M., Mori, K., and Nakanishi, S. (1995). Refinement of odor molecule tuning by dendrodendritic synaptic inhibition in the olfactory bulb. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *92. 92*, 3371-3375.

Yun, K., Garel, S., Fischman, S., and Rubenstein, J. L. (2003). Patterning of the lateral ganglionic eminence by the Gsh1 and Gsh2 homeobox genes regulates striatal and olfactory bulb histogenesis and the growth of axons through the basal ganglia. J Comp Neurol *461*, 151-165.

Yun, K., Potter, S., and Rubenstein, J. L. (2001). Gsh2 and Pax6 play complementary roles in dorsoventral patterning of the mammalian telencephalon. Development *128*, 193-205.

Zappone, M. V., Galli, R., Catena, R., Meani, N., De Biasi, S., Mattei, E., Tiveron, C., Vescovi, A. L., Lovell-Badge, R., Ottolenghi, S., and Nicolis, S. K. (2000). Sox2 regulatory sequences direct expression of a (beta)-geo transgene to telencephalic neural stem cells and precursors of the mouse embryo, revealing regionalization of gene expression in CNS stem cells. Development *127*, 2367-2382.

Zhang, H., and Macara, I. G. (2006). The polarity protein PAR-3 and TIAM1 cooperate in dendritic spine morphogenesis. Nat Cell Biol *8*, 227-237.

Zheng, W., Nowakowski, R. S., and Vaccarino, F. M. (2004). Fibroblast growth factor 2 is required for maintaining the neural stem cell pool in the mouse brain subventricular zone. Dev Neurosci *26*, 181-196.

Zhong, W. M., Feder, J. N., Jiang, M. M., Jan, L. Y., and Jan, Y. N. (1996). Asymmetric localization of a mammalian numb homolog during mouse cortical neurogenesis. Neuron *17*, 43-53.

Zupanc, G. K. (2006). Neurogenesis and neuronal regeneration in the adult fish brain. J Comp Physiol A Neuroethol Sens Neural Behav Physiol *192*, 649-670.

UCSF Library Release

Publishing Agreement

It is the policy of the University to encourage the distribution of all theses and dissertations. Copies of all UCSF theses and dissertations will be routed to the library via the Graduate Division. The library will make all theses and dissertations accessible to the public and will preserve these, to the best of their ability, in perpetuity.

I hereby grant permission to the Graduate Division of the University of California, San Francisco to release copies of my thesis or dissertation to the Campus Library to provide access and preservation, in whole or in part, in perpetuity.

Author Signature July 27, 2007 Date